
MEETING

ADULTS AND SAFEGUARDING COMMITTEE

DATE AND TIME

THURSDAY 19TH SEPTEMBER, 2019

AT 7.00 PM

VENUE

HENDON TOWN HALL, THE BURROUGHS, LONDON NW4 4BG

TO: MEMBERS OF ADULTS AND SAFEGUARDING COMMITTEE (Quorum 3)

Chairman: Councillor Sachin Rajput
Vice Chairman: Councillor Lisa Rutter

Councillors

Paul Edwards
Golnar Bokaei
Caroline Stock

Jo Cooper
Reema Patel 
Anne Hutton

Saira Don
Felix Byers

Substitute Members

Councillor Brian Gordon 
Councillor Claire Farrier

Councillor Anthony Finn 
Councillor Daniel Thomas 

Councillor Alison Moore 
Councillor Gill Sargeant 

In line with the Constitution’s Public Participation and Engagement Rules, requests to submit 
public questions or comments must be submitted by 10AM on the third working day before 
the date of the committee meeting. Therefore, the deadline for this meeting is Monday 16 
September at 10AM. Requests must be submitted to Salar Rida, Salar.Rida@Barnet.gov.uk, 
0208 359 7113

You are requested to attend the above meeting for which an agenda is attached.

Andrew Charlwood – Head of Governance

Governance Service contact: Salar Rida, Salar.Rida@Barnet.gov.uk, 0208 359 7113

Media Relations Contact: Gareth Greene 020 8359 7039

ASSURANCE GROUP

Please consider the environment before printing. The average Print Cost for this Agenda is 
£6.48 per copy.



ORDER OF BUSINESS

Item No Title of Report Pages

1.  Minutes 5 - 8

2.  Absence of Members 

3.  Declarations of Members Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and 
Non-Pecuinary Interests 

4.  Report of the Monitoring Officer (if any) 

5.  Members' Items (if any) 

6.  Public Questions and Comments (if any) 

7.  Community Support update 9 - 20

8.  Q1 2019/20 Delivery Plan Performance Report 21 - 40

9.  Fit and Active Barnet (FAB) Framework Update 41 - 56

10.  Update report New Delivery Model for Care Home and Day Care 
Services 

57 - 62

11.  Adults Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) Update 63 - 70

12.  Barnet Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 
2018-19 

71 - 132

13.  Committee Forward Work Programme 133 - 136

14.  Any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent 

FACILITIES FOR PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

Hendon Town Hall has access for wheelchair users including lifts and toilets.  If you wish to let 
us know in advance that you will be attending the meeting, please telephone Salar Rida, 
Salar.Rida@Barnet.gov.uk, 0208 359 7113.  People with hearing difficulties who have a text 
phone, may telephone our minicom number on 020 8203 8942.  All of our Committee Rooms 
also have induction loops.



FIRE/EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the 
building by the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the nearest exit by uniformed 
custodians.  It is vital you follow their instructions.

You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts.

Do not stop to collect personal belongings

Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but move some 
distance away and await further instructions.

Do not re-enter the building until told to do so.



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Decisions of the Adults and Safeguarding Committee

5 June 2019

Members Present:-

Councillor Sachin Rajput (Chairman)
Councillor Lisa Rutter (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Paul Edwards
Councillor Bokaei
Councillor Jo Cooper
Councillor Reema Patel

Councillor Saira Don
Councillor Anne Hutton
Councillor Felix Byers

Apologies for Absence

Councillor Caroline Stock

1.   MINUTES 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on the 18th March 2019 were agreed as 
a correct record. 

2.   ABSENCE OF MEMBERS 

Councillor Stock sent her apologies as she was on Mayoral duty. She was substituted by 
Councillor Finn. 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND 
NON-PECUINARY INTERESTS 

Cllr Hutton declared a non-pecuniary interest in that she is a Trustee of Barnet Carers 
Centre.

Cllr Cooper declared a non-pecuniary interest in that she is employed by the Royal Free 
London NHS Foundation Trust.  

4.   REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER (IF ANY) 

None.

5.   MEMBERS' ITEMS (IF ANY) 

Cllr Patel introduced her Members items on the Right to Independent Living. The 
members item requested the Committee to invite local advocacy and charitable 
organisations such as Inclusion Barnet and Barnet Alliance for Public Services to 
address the committee and reverse the planned MTFS savings. The item asked that 
residents continued to have the option of a community placement.

The request asked for officers to provide the Committee with an update on the 
implementation of the proposal, including the number of individuals that have been 

5

AGENDA ITEM 1



2

placed in residential care without being given the option to remain in the community by 
default, if any.

The Chairman confirmed that the Council’s policy on community based care placements 
would continue to promote the needs and wishes of the individual in the most favourable 
way possible.

The Committee agreed to the request for a report on the matter to be brought to the next 
meeting of the Adults and Safeguarding Committee, which would include an update on 
the implementation of the proposal and information on the numbers of individuals that 
have been placed in residential care. 

6.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

7.   END OF YEAR PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018/19 

The Chairman introduced the report on the End of Year Performance for 2018/19 which 
included the Committee priorities in the corporate plan 2018/19, including budget 
outturns and performance on activities and key indicators, as well as any high level 
(scoring 15+) risks.

The Assistant Director for Ongoing Support confirmed that difficulties experienced with 
the Mosaic system had been addressed and that moving forward the reporting would be 
significantly improved in relation to the indicators that could be provided. 

Officers agreed to investigate the reasons behind the drop in percentage of adults with 
mental health needs in employment and flag anything of concern to Members outside of 
the meeting, as information about individuals could not be disclosed. 

Following consideration of the report, the Chairman moved to vote on the 
recommendation as set out in the report.

The Committee unanimously RESOLVED to:
Review the financial, performance and risk information for EOY 2018/19 and make 
any referrals to Policy and Resources Committee or Financial Performance and 
Contracts Committee in accordance with the terms of reference of these 
Committees.

8.   DIRECT PAYMENTS 

The Chairman introduced the report on the Council’s implementation of changes to the 
way in which direct payments are managed and monitored by Pre-Paid Cards. 

The report provided an update on how the changes would improve the experience for 
people with care and support needs, as well as making it easier for the Council to 
monitor and audit the use of Direct Payment funds. The implementation would reduce 
the administrative burden on people with care need and significantly improve the 
Council’s ability to identify and recoup surplus or misused funds and combat fraudulent 

6



3

activity, as well as forming part of the Committees medium term financial strategy 
(MTFS) with a savings target of £250,000 for 2019/20.

Officers confirmed that the implementation of the new system would continue to be 
monitored regularly. The Executive Director for Adults and Health agreed that an update 
on the implementation could be provided to the Committee at a future meeting.

Following consideration of the report, the Chairman moved to vote on the 
recommendations as set out in the report.

The Committee unanimously RESOLVED to:
1. Note the contents of the report, which supports the achievement of the council’s 
medium term financial strategy.

2. Support the implementation of the pre-paid card solution in Barnet adult social 
care services.

9.   INTEGRATED CARE SYSTEMS 

The Chairman introduced the report on the update of the NHS Long Term and Integrated 
Care Systems. The report provided an overview of the long-term plan to set out 
organisational change for the NHS through the development of integrated care systems, 
based on geographical areas such as Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships 
(STP). The report also updated the Committee on the way in which health services in 
North Central London (NCL) STP are responding to the long-term plan and key 
considerations for Barnet Council. 

The Executive Director for Adults and Health explained that the organisational changes 
would have a significant impact on how local NHS services are configured and the report 
provided the Committee with the opportunity to think about and input into what adult 
social care and integrated care should look like in Barnet. The Executive Director for 
Adults and Health explained that this was a five-borough piece of work at the STP level 
and all boroughs needed to consider the nature of the partnerships, public accountability 
and local democracy. Formal submissions and concerns raised by this Committee, 
Health Overview and Scrutiny and the Health and Wellbeing Board would be feedback to 
the STP leadership. 

The Committee discussed the need for the right type of incentives and shared leadership 
of roles within the model. The Committee also stressed the requirement for greater public 
engagement to be implemented into the model.
The Committee agreed that any changes around the system of adult social care in 
Barnet would be a decision for this committee and that any updates on the matter be 
brought back to Committee. 

 The Committee also requested information be provided on the approach being taken by 
other neighbouring boroughs. The Executive Director for Adults and Health confirmed 
that the other four borough Councils operated through a cabinet system of decision 
making and therefore were working with the cabinet member for adult social care and at 
various Health and Wellbeing Board and Scrutiny committees.

Following discussion of the item, the Committee requested an update report on the 
integrated care systems be brought back to a future meeting. 

7



4

The Chairman then moved to vote on the recommendations as set out in the report.

The Committee unanimously RESOLVED to:
To note and comment on the content of the report.

10.   LOCAL SHARED LIVES SCHEME 

The Chairman introduced the report on the local shared lives scheme, which informed 
the Committee of plans to establish a dedicated Barnet Scheme. The report outlined the 
significant benefits for residents, as well as financial benefits to setting up a dedicated 
scheme in Barnet. If approved officers would commence mobilising the scheme, with 
initial focus on recruiting a scheme manager, registering with the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) and promoting the scheme in the community to recruit carers. 

The Committee commended officers on the creative idea and approach to this scheme. 

Following consideration of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the 
recommendations as set out in the report.

The Committee unanimously RESOLVED to:
Agree to establish a dedicated Barnet Shared Lives scheme.

11.   COMMITTEE FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 

The Committee requested the following to be added to the work programme:
- Update report on the implementation of the community based care placements 

policy for the September 2019 meeting.
- Update on the Integrated Care System to a future meeting.
- Update on the implementation of direct payments to a future meeting.

Officers would amend the items on the work programme accordingly to ensure reports 
are flagged correctly as either key or non-key decisions.

12.   ANY OTHER ITEMS THAT THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT 

None.

Meeting closed at 20.51

8



Summary
Following the member’s item on the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) savings line 
on community based care at the committee meeting of 5 June 2019, this report presents the 
information on implementation of this MTFS item.

Officers Recommendations 
1. The Adults and Safeguarding Committee is asked to note the contents of the 

report.

Adults and Safeguarding Committee

19 September 2019

 

Title Community support update

Report of Chairman of the Adults and Safeguarding Committe

Wards All

Status Public

Urgent No

Key No

Enclosures                         None

Officer Contact Details 
James Mass, Assistant Director

james.mass@barnet.gov.uk 

9

AGENDA ITEM 7

mailto:james.mass@barnet.gov.uk


2

1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED 

1.1 At the meeting of 5 June 2019, the Committee considered a member’s item on the MTFS 
item in relation to community based care and requested that officers bring a report on the 
matter to the next meeting of the Adults and Safeguarding Committee, to include an 
update on the implementation of the proposal, including the number of individuals that 
have been placed in residential care without being given the option to remain in the 
community. This report provides this information.

1.2 It has become clear following representations to officers and committee members that 
the wording of the original proposal could have been improved. It is regrettable that the 
original wording has caused some misunderstanding about the intended proposal. 

2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 The purpose of this report is to give an accurate and clear picture of how individuals are 
assessed, care and support plans are formulated, and to confirm that no resident has 
been denied a choice of community based care to meet assessed eligible care needs.

2.2 The member’s item asked that officers provide the Committee with an update on 
implementation of the proposal, including the number of individuals who have been 
placed in residential care without being given the option to remain in the community by 
default.

Overview

2.3 Barnet achieves good outcomes for people who access care and support from the 
council and has a strong record on measures of independent living and satisfaction. For 
example, the most recently available national survey and performance data1 show that:

 75.8% of people feel in control of their lives, compared with 71.2% in our nearest 
neighbour councils and 70.1% in London. 

 63.6% of people who use adult social care in Barnet are extremely or very satisfied 
with their care and support, compared with 60.7% for our nearest neighbours and 
59.3% in London. 

 83.7% of Barnet people say those services made them feel safe and secure, which is 
equal to our nearest neighbours and better than the London average of 82.2%. 

 80.9% of adults with mental health needs live independently, considerably better than 
our nearest neighbours (67.1%), the London average (61%) and the England average 
(57%). 

 78% of people with learning disabilities live independently, again better than our 
nearest neighbours (70.9%), London (73.3%), and England 77.2%. 

1  17/18 ASCOF data used as final 18/19 dataset not available until autumn 2019

10



3

 The council also achieves high levels of direct payments (37%, compared to 28% for 
London and England) 

 The council has received national recognition for its strengths-based social work 
practice and use of telecare. 25% of people who access care and support from the 
council use telecare. 

2.4 The Local Government Association’s (LGA) benchmarking data for value for money in 
adult social care framework2 published earlier this year to councils shows that Barnet has 
very low levels of residential care admissions. In the LGA report, Barnet is in the top 
decile of performance in England, with:

 The 4th lowest level of residential care admissions in England for people over 65. 
 The 15th lowest level of residential care admissions in England for people of working 

age. 

2.5 As can be seen from the performance set out above, the council is a strong proponent of 
independent living and has developed and commissioned numerous alternatives to 
residential care. For example, the council is investing over £51m in the development and 
construction of three new extra-care schemes for the borough, which will create an 
additional 155 extra-care flats, including 2-bedroom apartments so that families can stay 
together. This is in addition to the 100 extra-care units already in the borough. The first of 
these new schemes, Ansell Court, opened in the spring of this year and has been 
designed especially for people with dementia. 

2.6 The council is also expanding its Shared Lives offer by establishing a new dedicated 
scheme and has in place a comprehensive supported living framework.  

2.7 The council has invested in a specialist support team for the carers of people with 
dementia. This is an evidence-based model originally developed in Australia; where 
training, advice, intensive support and practical help are given to family carers living with 
people with dementia, to enable the cared-for person to remain at home. This scheme 
has been successful in preventing residential care admissions of Barnet residents. 

2.8 The Business Planning 2019-2024 report included a proposal as follows: “Meeting 
eligible needs in the most cost-effective settings, rather than prioritising community-
based placements, with an expected impact of £425k.”  The appendix to that report 
provided further detail, stating that “the council will have due regard for use of resources 
when support planning to create more cost-effective support plans. This will mean 
considering the full range of care options to meet eligible needs (e.g. residential care), 
rather than offering community-based placements (e.g. supported living) by default. The 
saving level assumes that new clients are placed in cheaper accommodation settings 
where appropriate, and is calculated by assuming 50% of the current differential between 

2 https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=4282&mod-period=1&mod-area=E09000003&mod-
group=AllLaInCountry&mod-type=comparisonGroupType

11

https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=4282&mod-period=1&mod-area=E09000003&mod-group=AllLaInCountry&mod-type=comparisonGroupType
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=4282&mod-period=1&mod-area=E09000003&mod-group=AllLaInCountry&mod-type=comparisonGroupType


4

high cost community placements and the maximum usual price for a residential 
placement is saved.”

2.9 In 2018-19 Barnet Council supported 1,711 individuals aged 18-64 and 3,553 individuals 
aged 65+ in the community at a cost of £46.3m; and 322 individuals aged 18-64 and 927 
individuals aged 65+ in a residential or nursing home setting at a cost of £30.5m.

Implementation 

2.10 The Care Act 2014 sets out obligations that the Council will always follow when agreeing 
a care and support plan with a person; and there is no change to Barnet’s commitment to 
considering personal circumstances, views and preferences in each and every case. The 
council continues to comply with all its duties under the Care Act (2014), meeting eligible 
needs through a wide range of care and support options, including commissioned 
voluntary sector prevention services, enablement, home care, telecare, supported living, 
extra care, equipment, adaptations, direct payments, carer support, along with residential 
and nursing care where appropriate.

2.11 Barnet Council maintains standard operational procedures to guide social work 
practitioners in their work with residents. The procedures are designed to ensure that 
practitioners follow Care Act requirements and Barnet’s strengths-based approach to 
adult social care. The procedures in place in the council’s adult social care service state 
that if a practitioner wishes to recommend a residential placement, they have to evidence 
that they have “considered other options first: a DFG (disabled facilities grant), Telecare, 
Supported Living, Extra Care, Shared Lives, Homeshare, or adaptations to general 
purpose housing”. They must also set out “a clear rationale for why the person needs a 
change of accommodation setting now”. The standard operating procedures also set out 
that practitioners should “consider carefully whether the options being considered will 
affect the person's relationships with their friends and family. For example, one member 
of a marriage or established partnership may be assessed as requiring residential care, 
but the other member will remain in the community. You need to comply with the Human 
Rights Act 1998 and respect the person's right to privacy and family life under Article 8 of 
the European Convention on Human Rights.”   

2.12 The change agreed by Committee as part of the MTFS proposals was put in place to 
ensure that, when costs to support an individual in their home were likely to exceed the 
costs in a residential home, the worker undertaking the support planning with the 
individual considers residential care as well as community options. It should be noted that 
the final care and support plan is agreed between the person and the council, and would 
be based on meeting the individual’s eligible needs and the agreed outcomes in the 
support plan. It remains the case that residential care would be the proposed option only 
if the person was exercising choice and in agreement with this approach. The council’s 
assessment and eligibility policy, agreed by this Committee in March 2015, remains in 
place. 

12



5

2.13 Legally, a local authority cannot take resources into account in assessing eligible needs; 
however, resources can be considered when considering the provision necessary to 
meet that identified eligible need. There is also a duty to involve the individual concerned 
in the care planning process, which has to be person centred. All reasonable steps have 
to be taken to reach agreement on provision, but the care plan does not have to only 
reflect the individual’s choices. From time to time, there can be differences of opinion in 
respect of the support options to meet eligible needs between councils, individuals and 
families. This is a factor that pre-dates the development of this MTFS line. Where this 
happens the council’s approach, like that of other local authorities, is to work through the 
issues in dialogue with the person (and their family if relevant and with the person’s 
consent), through the continuing support planning process, to achieve a jointly agreed 
support plan. 

2.14 In the three months of 1 April – 30 June 2019, 11 people have been supported with 
community based care and support plans with a cost higher than residential care, ranging 
from £622 - £1,459 per week, with an average of £857 per week. This compares to a 
quarterly average of 14 people placed in high cost packages in 2018/19. It should be 
noted that this latter figure is the quarterly average and it is to be expected that there will 
be fluctuations in numbers between individual quarters.

2.15 In the three months of 1 April – 30 June 2019, only 5 adults aged 18-64 and 47 adults 
aged 65 and over have moved permanently into a residential or nursing setting. The 
quarterly average for 2018/19 was 6 adults aged 18-64 and 47 adults aged 65 and over.

2.16 The Council recognises that a change in accommodation has a profound impact on the 
life of an individual and any move is considered very carefully before being 
recommended. No individuals with the mental capacity to make a decision as to where 
they should reside have been placed in residential care against their wishes. For those 
lacking mental capacity to make this decision, a best interest process is always followed 
as prescribed by the Mental Capacity Act 2005, normally involving family members and if 
needed, the Court of Protection. No one has been placed in residential care against the 
recommendation of a best interest process.  For those individuals with mental capacity to 
make decisions but who may not strongly express their feelings about their preferred 
support, it is established good practice for social care practitioners to work to ensure that 
the voice of the individual is clearly heard in the support plan. The standard operating 
procedures require practitioners to gather the wishes and feelings of people and record 
these in the case management system as part of the assessment and care planning 
process. This is something that would be scrutinised as part of sign-off by management 
when the practitioner has completed their recording of the support plan.  It should be 
noted that the council does not have any legal power under the Care Act to require any 
person to enter residential care or indeed to accept a community based support plan.

2.17 The Care Act statutory guidance refers to dealing with disputes about care and support 
plans as follows:

13



6

In the event that the plan cannot be agreed with the person, or any other person 
involved, the local authority should state the reasons for this and the steps which 
must be taken to ensure that the plan is signed-off. This may require going back to 
earlier elements of the planning process. People must not be left without support 
while a dispute is resolved. If a dispute still remains, and the local authority feels 
that it has taken all reasonable steps to address the situation, it should direct the 
person to the local complaints procedure. However, by conducting person-centred 
planning and ensuring genuine involvement throughout, this situation should be 
avoided.

2.18 The council adheres to this guidance. There have been no such disputes this year (from 
April 2019) regarding disagreement with a residential or nursing home placement. There 
have been no complaints regarding disagreement with a recommendation of a residential 
or nursing home placement. There have been three complaints from family members 
who wish for their relative to move into a residential or nursing home where the council’s 
recommended option has been the individual remaining in their home to stay better 
connected to their local community.

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED

3.1 N/A

4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION

4.1 N/A

5. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION 

5.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance

5.1.1 Barnet Council’s corporate plan 2019-2024 sets out a commitment to supporting 
residents to live ‘happy, healthy, independent lives with the most vulnerable protected’.  It 
also sets out as an objective “supporting our residents who are older, vulnerable or who 
have disabilities, to remain independent and have a good quality of life”.  The plan goes 
on to set out that this will be delivered through:
 “Opening new Extra Care schemes for people that need additional support to remain 

living independently
 Providing enablement services that help people regain or increase their 

independence
 Using technology to enhance independence and assist with care
 Offering support for carers of people with dementia
 Providing equipment that allows people to stay more independent at home”

5.1.2 The approach taken to assessment and support planning is in support of this objective.

14



7

5.1.3 The priorities of the council are aligned to the delivery of the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy.

5.2 Resources (Finance and Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability)

5.2.1 The total adult social care net budget for 2019/20 is £97.6m of which £79.2m is the 
budget for the purchasing of care. The Adults and Safeguarding Committee savings 
programme will enable the council to meet its savings target as set out in the MTFS, to 
deliver £6m of savings in 19/20 across the total budget. The saving for this particular 
savings line will be tracked by comparing the differential of cost for individuals that have 
been supported with community based care and support plans with a cost higher than 
residential care compared to previous years. 

5.3 Social Value 

5.3.1  N/A

5.4 Legal and Constitutional References
5.4.1 Whilst a local authority cannot take resources into account in assessing eligible needs, it 

is settled law that resources can be considered when considering the provision 
necessary to meet that identified eligible need (Regina v Gloucestershire County Council 
and Another, Ex Parte Barry: HL 21 Mar 1997).

5.4.2 Following the Implementation of the Care Act 2014 and the Care and Support Statutory 
Guidance, there is a clear duty to involve the person in the care planning process, which 
has to be person centred.  All reasonable steps have to be taken to reach agreement on 
provision, but the care plan does not have to only reflect the subject’s choices.

5.4.3 The statutory guidance (Care and Support Statutory Guidance) refers to keeping the 
person at the centre of any assessment, as follows:

6.30 Putting the person at the heart of the assessment process is crucial to 
understanding the person’s needs, outcomes and wellbeing, and delivering better care 
and support. The local authority must involve the person being assessed in the process 
as they are best placed to judge their own wellbeing. In the case of an adult with care 
and support needs, the local authority must also involve any carer the person has (which 
may be more than one carer), and in all cases, the authority must also involve any other 
person requested. The local authority should have processes in place, and suitably 
trained staff, to ensure the involvement of these parties, so that their perspective and 
experience supports a better understanding of the needs, outcomes and wellbeing.

5.4.4 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 states that: “without prejudice to section 
111, every local authority shall make arrangements for the proper administration of their 

15



8

financial affairs and shall secure that one of their officers has responsibility for the 
administration of those affairs”. Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972, relates to 
the subsidiary powers of local authorities. 

5.4.5 Local authorities owe a fiduciary duty to council tax payers, which means it must consider 
the prudent use of resources, including control of expenditure, financial prudence in the 
short and long term, the need to strike a fair balance between the interests of council tax 
payers and ratepayers and the community’s interest in adequate and efficient services 
and the need to act in good faith in relation to compliance with statutory duties and 
exercising statutory powers.

5.4.6 The Council’s Constitution (Article 7, Article 7 – Committees, Forums, Working Groups 
and Partnerships) sets out the responsibilities of all council Committees. 

5.4.7 The responsibilities of the Adults and Safeguarding Committee can be found here: 
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s47983/08Article7CommitteesForumsWorking
GroupsandPartnerships.doc.pdf. Responsibilities include: 
(1) Responsibility for all matters relating to vulnerable adults, adult social care and leisure 
services. 
(2) Work with partners on the Health and Well Being Board to ensure that social care 
interventions are effectively and seamlessly joined up with public health and healthcare 
and promote the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and its associated sub strategies. 
(3) To submit to the Policy and Resources Committee proposals relating to the 
Committee’s budget for the following year in accordance with the budget timetable. 
(4) To make recommendations to Policy and Resources Committee on issues relating to 
the budget for the Committee, including virements or underspends and overspends on 
the budget. No decisions which result in amendments to the agreed budget may be made 
by the Committee unless and until the amendment has been agreed by Policy and 
Resources Committee. 
(5) To receive reports on relevant performance information and risk on the services under 
the remit of the Committee. 

5.4.8 The council’s Financial Regulations can be found at: 
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s46515/17FinancialRegulations.doc.pdf

5.4.9 Proposals that relate to savings resulting from operational decisions being made in a 
different way are by their nature only ever estimated savings during the business 
planning process. Decisions on care packages will continue to be made on a case by 
case basis, within the legal framework. The saving is therefore an indicative saving and 
its deliverability will be dependent on a number of factors. 

5.5 Risk Management

5.5.1 All high cost packages, whether for support in the community or in a residential setting, 

16

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s47983/08Article7CommitteesForumsWorkingGroupsandPartnerships.doc.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s47983/08Article7CommitteesForumsWorkingGroupsandPartnerships.doc.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s46515/17FinancialRegulations.doc.pdf


9

are approved by an assistant director. This helps provide assurance that appropriate 
decisions are being taken that are fully compliant with the responsibilities set out in the 
Care Act.

5.5.2 The council has an established approach to risk management, which is set out in the 
Risk Management Framework. Risks associated with the saving proposals will be 
outlined within the theme committee reports as each proposal is brought forward for the 
Committee to consider.

5.6 Equalities and Diversity 

5.6.1 Equality and diversity issues are a mandatory consideration in the decision-making of the 
council. The Equality Act 2010 and the Public-Sector Equality Duty require elected 
Members to satisfy themselves that equality considerations are integrated into day-to-day 
business and that all proposals emerging from the business planning process have taken 
into consideration the impact, if any, on any protected group and what mitigating factors 
can be put in place.

5.6.2 The public-sector equality duty is set out in s149 of the Equality Act 2010. A public 
authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to:
a)   Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 

prohibited by or under this Act; 
b) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 
c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

5.6.3 Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to: 
a) Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; 
b) Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it; and 
c) Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 

public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionately low. 

5.6.4 The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from the 
needs of persons who are not disabled include steps to take account of disabled persons' 
disabilities. 

5.6.5 Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having due 
regard, in particular, the need to: 
a) Tackle prejudice; and 
b) Promote understanding. 

5.6.6 The relevant protected characteristics are: 
 Age; 

17



10

 Disability;
 Gender reassignment;
 Pregnancy and maternity;
 Race;
 Religion or belief;
 Sex; and
 Sexual orientation.

5.6.7 The equalities impact for meeting eligible needs in more cost-effective settings was 
carried out in accordance with the council’s framework and included an analysis of new 
clients who received a home-care package at a higher cost than residential care in 
2017/18 (this was used as an equivalent of the cohort that would be affected by the 
change in 2019/20). This showed a potential negative impact where a council-funded 
community placement is the individual/family preference. However, the scale of the 
impact was assessed as minimal as the following mitigations and considerations were 
made clear:

 The views of the client, family and carers will continue to be considered throughout 
assessment and support planning. The approach outlined in detail in this report 
shows how this is carried out in practice and how steps are taken to ensure choice is 
exercised and agreement reached.

 The groups identified as potentially being disproportionately impacted are not more 
likely to be affected directly because of the specified characteristic, but because they 
are over-represented in social care cohorts due to the interrelation between these 
characteristics and social care need. 

 Eligible needs (under the Care Act), and therefore statutory duties, will continue to be 
met. Eligible needs include ‘developing and maintaining family or other personal 
relationships’ and ‘accessing and engaging in work, training, education or 
volunteering’. This protects against the practice change isolating clients from their 
families / carers or the community. In continuing to apply a strengths-based approach 
and in development of alternatives to residential care, the service will also continue to 
focus on achieving positive outcomes for all clients, regardless of accommodation 
setting. 

 Carers assessments and support plans are offered through LBB and the 
commissioned Barnet Carers Centre service. 

 Potential gaps in provision for various equality strands will be monitored and 
addressed by our Commissioning and Care Quality functions.

5.6.8 Any shift in provision from high cost community to residential placements will be 
monitored again at the end of quarter two which will allow for 6 months of data. As part of 
this review the equality impact assessment will be refreshed. In addition, all existing 
surveys and other feedback mechanisms which capture client and carer concerns and 
satisfaction with the service they receive will be factored into this review.

18



11

5.7 Corporate Parenting

5.7.1 In line with Children and Social Work Act 2017, the council has a duty to consider 
Corporate Parenting Principles in decision-making across the council. The outcomes and 
priorities in the refreshed Corporate Plan, Barnet 2024, reflect the council’s commitment 
to the Corporate Parenting duty to ensure the most vulnerable are protected and the 
needs of children are considered in everything that the council does. Young people in 
care, and care leavers, who, when aged 18, meet eligibility criteria for adult social care, 
will be affected by these proposals in the same way as other adults who require support 
under Care Act (2014) criteria. 

5.8 Consultation and Engagement

5.8.1 Consultation was undertaken on the medium term financial strategy which included this 
proposal.

5.8 Insight

5.8.1 N/A

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 Member’s item – the Right to Independent Living 
Adults and Safeguarding Committee, 5 June 2019 
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=9924&Ver=4

6.2 Assessment and Eligibility policy for adults in need 
Adults and Safeguarding Committee, 19 March 2015 
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=7933&Ver=4

6.3 Business Planning 2019-2024
Adults and Safeguarding Committee, 26 November 2018
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s49810/Business%20Planning%202019-
2024.pdf 

6.4 Adults and Safeguarding Committee’s annual delivery plan
Adults and Safeguarding Committee, 18 March 2019
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=9475&Ver=4

19

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=9924&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=7933&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s49810/Business%20Planning%202019-2024.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s49810/Business%20Planning%202019-2024.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=9475&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



Summary
This report provides a thematic overview of performance for Q1 2019/20 focusing on the 
activities to deliver both the corporate and committee priorities in the Adults & Safeguarding 
Committee Annual Delivery Plan. The report also provides the budget forecast for the 
committee. 

Officer Recommendations
1. The Committee is asked to review the performance, budget and risk information for 

Q1 2019/20 and make any referrals to Policy and Resources Committee or Financial 
Performance and Contracts Committee in accordance with the terms of reference of 
these Committees, as it decides appropriate. 

Adults and Safeguarding Committee

19 September 2019

Title Quarter 1 (Q1) 2019/20 
Delivery Plan Performance Report

Report of Chairman of the Adults and Safeguarding Committee

Wards All

Status Public

Urgent No

Key No

Enclosures                         None

Officer Contact Details 

Altin Bozhani, Finance Business Partner for Adults, Public 
Health and Leisure
altin.bozhani@barnet.gov.uk 

Alaine Clarke, Head of Programmes, Performance and Risk
alaine.clarke@barnet.gov.uk

21

AGENDA ITEM 8

mailto:altin.bozhani@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:alaine.clarke@barnet.gov.uk


1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Adults and Safeguarding (A&S) Committee has responsibility for all matters relating 
to vulnerable adults, adult social care and leisure services; and works with partners on the 
Health and Wellbeing Board to ensure that social care interventions are effectively and 
seamlessly joined up with Public Health and healthcare.  

1.2 This report provides a thematic overview of performance for Q1 2019/20 focusing on 
the budget forecast and activities to deliver the priorities in the A&S Committee Annual 
Delivery Plan, which can be found online at:
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=9475&Ver=4 

2. BUDGET FORECASTS 

2.1 The Revenue Forecast (after reserve movements) for the Adults and Safeguarding 
Committee’s service areas of adult social care and leisure is £96.805m (see table 1).

Table 1: Revenue Forecast (Q1 2019/20)
Variance 

after 
Reserve 
Move-
ments

Revised 
Budget

Q1 19/20 
Forecast

Variance 
from 

Revised 
Budget

Reserve 
Move-
ments

Q1 19/20 
Forecast 

after 
Reserve 
Move-
ments Adv/(fav)

Service

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Integrated Care – 
Learning Disabilities 29,721 29,629 -92 0 29,629 (92)

Integrated care – Mental 
Health 8,689 9,152 464 0 9,152 464

Integrated Care – Older 
Adults 29,240 29,992 752 0 29,992 752

Integrated Care – 
Physical Disabilities 8,361 8,644 283 0 8,644 283

Workforce 14,987 15,659 672 0 15,659 672
Prevention Services 3,570 3,208 -362 0 3,208 (362)
Leisure, Sports and 
Physical Activity 521 521 0 0 521 0

Total 95,088 96,805 1,717 0 96,805 1,717

2.2 Barnet ASC is a low-cost service that achieves outcomes better than or equal to 
comparator local authorities (LAs). This is evidenced by ASC-FR national benchmarking 
data that shows:

 Barnet’s level of admissions to care homes per 100,000 people, both for working-age (6.2) 
and older adults (261.6) was much lower than the London (9.6 and 406.2) and England 
(14.0 and 585.6) averages. This was the 4th lowest level of admissions in England (Older 
Adults)1. 

1 Source: SALT (Short and Long-Term Support), NHS Digital.,  LGA Inform ASC benchmarking tool 

22

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=9475&Ver=4


 On 2017/18 data, Barnet spent £344 per head of adult population in the borough.  This 
was the 126th lowest in the country (out of 152 LAs). The London average was £386 per 
head and the England average was £4102. 

 Barnet spent an average of £26.6k on long-term support per client aged 18-64 (compared 
to the England average of £24.1k) and an average of £9.7k per client aged 65+ (compared 
to the England average of £13.3k)3

2.3 The service has achieved £27.5m of savings over the last four years.

2.4 In Q1, the non-placements budgets underspent by £0.310m, which is the net effect of 
£0.672m overspend on staffing budget; £0.362m underspend on prevention services 
mostly due to less demand on equipment and adaptations; and management recovery 
plans to reduce budget pressures.  This includes holding 33 FTE posts vacant. Despite 
these actions, an overspend is forecast because of a range of unfunded pressures.

2.5 The placements budget has forecast an overspend of £1.407m because of unfunded   
pressures, as the complexity of need increases, individuals need this more intensive 
support for longer and there are some market challenges – particularly sufficient capacity 
for nursing care.

2.6 Given the unfunded pressures described above, the service has developed a recovery 
plan in addition to its planned 2019-20 medium term financial savings (MTFS). The 
recovery plan is currently forecast to deliver in-year savings of £1,495k.  As a result, the 
total forecast overspend has been reduced to £1,715k.

2.7 Leisure, Sports and Physical Activity budget is forecast to spend on budget. 

2.8 There are several significant debtors (such as the Barnet Clinical Commissioning Group 
or BCCG) for the service which could result in debt write offs being written back to the 
service.  The service management are working hard to resolve the debt issue and the 
council has put in place a Debt Board to look at how debt is managed and pursued.

2.9 The Capital Forecast for areas within the committee’s remit is £14.693m.  

Table 2: Capital Forecast (Q1 2019/20)

19/20 
Revised 
Budget

Additions/
(Deletions)

(Slippage)/ 
Accelerated 

Spend

Q1 19/20 
Forecast

Forecast 
variance 

from 
Approved 

Budget
Service

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Investing in IT 2,180 0 (128) 2,052 0
Sports and Physical Activities 12,791 0 0 12,791 0
Total 14,671 0 0 14,693 22

2.10 Slippage in Investing in IT is due to Phase 2 of the project which is likely to run into 2020/21. 

2 Source: ASC-FR report, CIPFA.
3 Source: ASC-FR report, CIPFA.

23



3. SAVINGS 

3.1 The total amount of savings identified for A&S Committee in 2019/20 is £6.081m. These 
are shown in table 3.  At Q1 all savings are forecast as achievable.  Savings achievement 
is being monitored monthly and potential risks identified and mitigated early.

Table 3: Savings forecast delivery (Q1 2019/20)

Ref Description of Savings
Savings 

for 
19/20

Q1 
19/20

Forecast
Comment

E2 Staffing reductions (682) (682) Already achieved

E3 Transformation of Your Choice 
Barnet (227) (227) Achievement is being monitored 

monthly

E4 Rescoping and targeting of 
prevention contracts (370) (370) Achievement is being monitored 

monthly

E6 Meeting eligible needs in more 
cost-effective settings (424) (424) Achievement is being monitored 

monthly
E7 Reduction of printing (25) (25) Already achieved
I1 BCF (647) (647) Already achieved
I2 iBCF (1,391) (1,391) Already achieved

I3 Maintaining affordable levels of 
inflation on existing care packages (1,000) (1,000) Already achieved

I4 Prepaid card solution (250) (250) Achievement is being monitored 
monthly

I5 Reduction of bad debt (100) (100) Achievement is being monitored 
monthly

R1 Increasing the independence of 
OA / PD (192) (192) Achievement is being monitored 

monthly

R5 Assistive Technology (300) (300) Achievement is being monitored 
monthly

R8 Support for working age adults (285) (285) Achievement is being monitored 
monthly

R9 Mental Health service user 
independence (188) (188) Achievement is being monitored 

monthly
Total Savings (6,081) (6,081)

24



4. PRIORITIES 

4.1 This section provides an update on the Committee’s priorities as follows:
 A summary of progress on Actions4 to deliver the priority
 Performance of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)5

 Risks to delivering the actions and priority
 High (15 to 25) level risks from the Corporate Risk Register6

4.2 The Q1 performance for each of the Committee’s priorities is shown in table 4.  This reflects 
the overall performance on actions, KPIs and risks for each priority

Table 4: Priorities for A&S Committee

Section Priority Q1 
Performance

5. Integrating health and social care and providing support for those 
with mental health problems and complex needs Satisfactory

6. Supporting older and vulnerable residents and those with 
disabilities to remain independent Satisfactory

7. Encouraging residents to lead active and healthy lifestyles and 
maintain mental wellbeing Good

8. Safeguarding adults at risk of abuse and neglect Satisfactory
9. Efficient delivery of statutory duties Good

Q1 
Performance5. Integrating local health and social care and providing support for those 

with mental health problems and complex needs Satisfactory

5.1 Summary of Actions Good progress
5.1.1 This priority incorporates joint work with NHS Barnet Clinical Commissioning Group 

(BCCG) on the Care Closer to Home Programme (CC2H).  The programme aims to 
transform how primary and community health care and support is delivered, so that people 
receive care and support closer to their homes, and is intended to act as a foundation for 
the development of a local integrated care system (ICS) as per the NHS Long Term Plan 
launched in January 2019.

5.1.2 Currently, there are seven Primary Care Network’s (PCN’s)7, launched in Barnet.  The 
council has been jointly leading this programme of work with BCCG and has supported the 
first PCN to improve referrals and signposting to council and other universal services. The 

4 A summary of the Actions is provided for each priority. These are RAG rated as followed: Complete or Good progress = GREEN 
(where no Actions RAG rated RED); Satisfactory progress = AMBER (where no more than one Action RAG rated RED) or Poor 
progress = RED (where more than two Actions RAG rated RED) 
5 KPI RAG rating reflects the percentage variance of the result against the target as follows: On target = GREEN (G); Up to 9.9% 
off target = AMBER (A); 10% or more off target = RED (R).  The Direction of Travel (DOT) status shows the percentage variation 
in the result since last year e.g. Improving ( I), Worsening ( W) or Same ( S).  The percentage variation is calculated as 
follows: Q1 19/20 result minus Q1 18/19 result equals difference; then difference divided by Q1 18/19 result multiplied by 100 = 
percentage variation.  Any results not for Q1 19/20 are illustrated by (s) snapshot at end of year or (r) rolling 12 months.
6 The Corporate Risk Register includes strategic risks (strategic and business critical risks) and high (15 to 25) service/joint risks 
(service and contract delivery risks).  All risks are managed in line with the council’s risk management framework. The risk registers 
are live documents and the Q1 19/20 Corporate Risk Register provides a snapshot in time (as at end June 2019).  All risk 
descriptions for the strategic and high (15 to 25) level service/joint risks are available in Appendix A. The risk ratings are: Low = 
1 to 3 (GREEN); Medium/Low = 4 to 6 (YELLOW); Medium/High = 8 to 12 (AMBER); and High = 15 to 25 (RED).
7 Primary Care Networks are groups of GP practices working closely together with other primary and community care staff and 
health and care organisations to provide integrated services to their local populations.

25



Adult Social Care (ASC) Prevention and Wellbeing Team (PWT) have been working 
closely with PCN2, which has a focus on care for those at the end of life and with frailty.  
The team participate in a weekly multi-disciplinary team meeting looking at opportunities 
for improvements across the health and social care system.  Adults and Health are also 
closely involved with PCN5 and the development of an improved model of care and support 
for adults with dementia and their carers.  Each of the seven GP practices within PCN5 
has committed to becoming a dementia friendly practice.  Adults and Health have also 
been central to the development of the borough wide social prescribing offer, both through 
the ASC and Public Health teams.  Workshops are being held to agree the final social 
prescribing approach for PCN’s.  

5.1.3 Work also continues with the Prevention and Wellbeing Co-ordinators working across 
Barnet with individuals and in Wards, co-ordinating local activities, highlighting what works 
well, improving accessibility and increasing what is on offer to support local people. This 
has included a Mental Health support group, carers meetings, a gardening club, walking 
groups, an IT surgery, a Bollywood dancing group, new reading groups, information and 
advice drop-in’s and events.

5.1.4 The adult social care mental health service is fully integrated with the Barnet Enfield and 
Haringey Mental Health Trust (BEHMHT) and continues to deliver services to people closer 
to home, working with people in their own homes, supported living and residential 
placements.  The Intensive Enablement team have been working to improve person-
centred support offered in accommodation based care services. The Care Quality team 
have increased their work and monitoring of mental health supported living providers, 
engaged with providers through a range of forums and events.

5.1.8 The Barnet Integrated Learning Disability Service (BILDS), based in the council and made 
up of social care, community health and mental health trust staff, continues to provide 
multi-disciplinary care and support for people with learning disabilities.  The council’s Joint 
Commissioning team supports BILDS to deliver the national Transforming Care strategy. 

5.1.9 BILDS is also making a number of changes to ensure that it maximises the 'progression' 
of people with learning disabilities to increased independence.  This includes in-depth 
reviews, which identify opportunities to build people's skills and independence, and 
working with care providers to reduce any overprovision of care in the same setting and 
work with clients to help them progress towards their identified goals.  The service is also 
already working with six major care providers to alter the way they are commissioned, 
enabling greater flexibility in supporting progression and changes in people's needs, at a 
lower overall cost. In the remainder of 2019/20 the BILDS will explore greater use of 
general purpose housing for people with Learning Disabilities and deliver intensive reviews 
of out-of-borough residential placements to assess opportunities for progression, 
improving overall quality, and cost.

5.1.10 ASC continues to work closely with the NHS to ensure that people are discharged from 
hospital as soon as possible.  However, in Q1, there has been an increase in delayed 
transfers of care after a prolonged period of target achievement. This has been caused by 
increased demand pressure on hospitals and insufficient supply within the care market for 
complex residential and nursing placements.  An action plan has been put in place to 
improve performance, focusing on work with care providers on capacity and ensuring 
efficient processes are in place: for example, the average time from notification by the 
hospital to discharge a patient to arranging residential placements is 2.5 days while for a 
complex nursing placement it is 9 days. For the Q1 performance, Barnet is ranked 76th out 

26



of all 152 local authorities nationally for delayed transfers of care.  Within North Central 
London (Barnet, Camden, Enfield, Haringey and Islington), Barnet is in 2nd position after 
Enfield.  The combined acute hospital days delayed reported nationally for June 2019, is 
lower than May 2019 and early indications show the downward trend continues for July 
2019. 8

5.2 KPIs
5.2.1 There are 10 KPIs for this priority, which monitor health and social care integration.  Three 

KPIs met the Q1 targets – permanent admissions to residential and nursing care (18-64 
and 65+) and people with Mental Health and Learning Disabilities in settled 
accommodation.  Five KPIs were not reported in Q1.  Two KPIs did not meet the Q1 
targets.  

5.2.2 Reducing Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) has been a priority for Adult Social Care, 
with national targets set for DTOC reduction in July 2017 by the Department of Health & 
Social Care, with the improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) linked to achieving this target.  

 Delayed transfers of care (DTOC) from hospital per day per 100,000 population (aged 
18+) which are attributable to NHS and adult social care (RAG rated RED) – 8.73 
against a target of 6.84.  DTOC targets were set two years ago under the Better Care 
Fund Programme.  It is a joint target between health and social care for Barnet as a health 
and social care system. Performance shown is against the monthly target.
 

In June 2019, the total target for Barnet Health and Social Care System was missed by a 
total of 171 days delayed or 1.86 delays per day per 100,000 population. The NHS was 
responsible for 158 of these 171 days (or 1.72 delays per day per 100,000); social care 
was responsible for 6 of these days (or 0.06 delays per day per 100,000); and joint 
NHS/ASC  delays accounted for 7 of these days (or 0.08 delays per day per 100,000) 

 Delayed transfers of care from hospital per day per 100,000 population which are 
attributable to adult social care only (RAG rated RED) – 2.32 against a target of 2.03.  
See comment above.

Q1 19/20 Q1 
18/19Indicator Polarity 18/19

EOY
19/20
Target Target Result DOT Result

Benchmarking

Permanent 
admissions to 
residential and 
nursing care 
homes, per 
100,000 population 
age 65+

Smaller 
is 

Better
381.4 490 120 76

(G)
 W
-20% 63.5

CIPFA 
Neighbours 

383.4
London 406.2
England 585.6

(NASCIS, 
17/18)9

Permanent 
admissions to 
residential and 
nursing care 
homes, per 
100,000 population 
age 18-64

Smaller 
is 

Better
9.1 12.0 3 1.3

(G)
 W
-9% 1.2

CIPFA 
Neighbours 

8.8
London 9.6

England 14.0
(NASCIS, 

17/18)

8 Data sources: placement arrangement time – Barnet ASC; national and sector rankings – NHSE/NHS Digital
9 2018/19 benchmarking data is due to be released in Q3.

27



Indicator Polarity 18/19
EOY

19/20
Target

Q1 19/20 Q1 
18/19 Benchmarking

Target Result DOT Result
New admissions to 
residential care for 
working age adults, 
per 100,000 
population, MH 
only (Annual)

Smaller 
is 

Better

New 
for 

19/20
7.5 7.5

Due 
Q2 

19/20 

10

New 
for 

19/20

New 
for 

19/20

No benchmark 
available

Adults with mental 
health needs who 
live independently, 
with or without 
support

Bigger 
is 

Better
80.9% 83%11 83%

Due 
Q2 

19/20 

12

Due 
Q2 

19/20
83.8%

CIPFA 
Neighbours 

67.1%
London 61%
England 57%

(NASCIS, 
17/18)

Adults with 
learning disabilities 
who live in their 
own home or with 
their family 

Bigger 
is 

Better
78% 74% 74% 77.5% 

(G)
 I
+3% 75.3%

CIPFA 
Neighbours 

70.9%
London
73.3%

England 
77.2%

(NASCIS, 
17/18)

Delayed transfers 
of care from 
hospital per day 
per 100,000 
population (aged 
18+) which are 
attributable to NHS 
and adult social 
care (s)

Smaller 
is 

Better
9.4513 6.8414 6.84 8.73 

(R)15
 W
+95% 4.47

CIPFA 
Neighbours 

5.61
London 6.17
England 10.9

(Feb 18, 
Department of 

Health)

Delayed transfers 
of care from 
hospital per day 
per 100,000 
population which 
are attributable to 
adult social care 
only (s)

Smaller 
is 

Better
2.0116 2.0317 2.03 2.32 

(R)
 W

+186% 0.81

CIPFA 
Neighbours 

1.77
London 1.93
England 2.92

(Feb 18, 
Department of 

Health)

10 This is a national ASCOF measure for Mental Health data and will be reported in Q2.
11 Data provided by Barnet, Enfield, Haringey Mental Health Trust. NHS England have been working with all Mental Health Trusts 
to improve the quality of this data. As this work continues this may lead to variations in reported performance and the target may 
be revised accordingly. 
12 This is a national ASCOF measure for Mental Health data and will be reported in Q2.
13 The results for the DTOC KPIs are a snapshot of performance in the most recent month for which data is available at the point 
of report production (February 2019) – they do not show data over the preceding year.
14 The DTOC targets are set by NHS England at a national level.
15 The results for the DTOC KPIs are a snapshot of performance in the most recent month for which data is available at the 
point of report production (June 2019)
16 The results for the DTOC KPIs are a snapshot of performance in the most recent month for which data is available at the point 
of report production (February 2019) – they do not show data over the preceding year.
17 The DTOC targets are set by NHS England at a national level.

28



Indicator Polarity 18/19
EOY

19/20
Target

Q1 19/20 Q1 
18/19 Benchmarking

Target Result DOT Result
People who feel in 
control of their own 
lives (Annual – 
reported in Q3) 

Bigger 
is 

Better

75.8%
18

75.8%19 
(within 

confidenc
e 

interval)

75.8%
Due 
Q3 

19/20

Due 
Q3 

19/20

Due 
Q3 

19/20

No benchmark 
available

People signposted 
to information, 
advice and 
guidance

Bigger 
is 

Better

New 
for 

19/20
Monitor Monitor

Due 
Q2 

19/20
20

New 
for 

19/20

New 
for 

19/20

No benchmark 
available

Referrals to 
voluntary sector 
organisations at 
first contact

Bigger 
is 

Better

New 
for 

19/20
Monitor Monitor

Due 
Q2 

19/20
21

New 
for 

19/20

New 
for 

19/20

No benchmark 
available

5.3 Risks
5.3.1 There are three risks to delivery of the actions for this priority22.  These have been assessed 

at a medium/high (8 to 12) level and have controls/mitigations in place to manage the risks.

 AC004 - Surge in demand from NHS (risk score 12).  To manage an unpredictable surge 
in demand for Adult Social Care (ASC) from the NHS, regular meetings are held between 
ASC, BCCG and NHS Provider Trusts to manage pressures in the system and 
management of patients who are delayed in hospital.  In Q1 there were pressures on 
admissions and beds and a higher number of Delayed Transfer of Care (DToC) reported 
for health and social care. ASC has an action plan in place and is working closely with 
providers to ensure capacity and quality of care, and manage expectations from system 
partners about capacity in care provider markets. Home care capacity remains at a 
satisfactory level.  There is continued partnership with CCG on the roll out of the Primary 
Care Networks and exploring ways to reduce admissions into hospitals and support people 
to have community based care and support.   

 AC016 - Strategic prevention and intervention (risk score 8). Funding and 
sustainability challenges facing the voluntary sector could lead to a reduction in capacity 
of preventative services.  ASC continues to focus on prevention and early intervention for 
people with care needs and their carers using the strengths-based approach which 
enables people to focus on their own strengths and assets and recognises what goals they 
want to achieve, and looks at what community resources are available to support them. In 
Q1, the Prevention and Wellbeing Service and commissioned provider for dementia 
community support services launched a Young Onset Dementia group, and the Wellbeing 
Hub opened its monthly Wellbeing Cafe.

18 This survey indicator has a confidence interval of +/-4.2%pts. 
19 All indicators based on the Adults Social Care user survey are set using a ‘confidence interval’ that takes account of the margin 
of error which may result from surveying a small sample of the population. 
20 New reporting mechanisms being developed and KPI will be reported in Q2. 2019/20 will establish a baseline for future targets 
to be set in 2020/21.
21New reporting mechanisms being developed and KPI will be reported in Q2. 2019/20 will establish a baseline for future targets 
to be set in 2020/21.
22 There were three Delivery Plan risks; however, AC018 – Strategic relations with the NHS has been reflected in the new strategic 
risk (STR12 – Relationship with healthcare providers and partner organisations), which has been mapped to the Safeguarding 
priority instead of the Integrating local health and social care priority; and AC020 has been moved to this priority from the 
Supporting older and vulnerable residents priority

29



 AC020 - Lack of practicing Approved Mental Health Professionals (AMHP) (risk 
score 9).  Joint working arrangements are being developed across Barnet, Enfield and 
Haringey councils and regular meetings have taken place to discuss issues impacting on 
the AMHP service such as shortage of hospital beds, length of travel to out-of-borough 
hospital placements, and change of ambulance and transport services. In addition, ASC, 
the CCG and Barnet Enfield and Haringey Mental Health Trust (BEHMHT) are working 
together to review the crisis pathway to aid crisis support in the community.

Q1 
Performance6. Supporting older and vulnerable residents and those with disabilities to 

remain independent Good

6.1 Summary of Actions Good progress
6.1.1 Ansell Court, a dementia friendly extra-care scheme with 53 flats (51 x 1-bedroom flats 

and 2 x 2-bedroom flats), is the first of the council’s three new developments in Barnet. 
Building works were completed in February 2019 and occupation of the flats commenced 
during the first week of April 2019. The first set of residents include a family who were 
eager to step down from residential care where they had been temporarily housed.  As at 
the end of July 2019, 19 flats have been occupied, a further 12 flats have been allocated 
and the registered manager is working with ASC to assess the referrals for the remaining 
flats.

6.1.2 Two additional extra care sites are in development, one is due to commence build early in 
2020 and the other is entering planning stages following the approval of the outline 
business case. 

6.1.3 The Reablement service continues to perform well with 157 individuals supported in Q1 
and only 13 requiring on-going long-term services.   

6.1.4 Care technology and equipment help support individuals to continue to live in their own 
homes or in the community safely and maintain their independence.  The Care Technology 
service continues to grow significantly; now in year three of the contract it is projected there 
will be another 1,440 user installations, which is significantly above the contract target of 
700. The Barnet Community Equipment service is a joint Local Authority and BCCG 
service which offers a range of community equipment like specialist chairs, grab rails and 
hoists and this continues to be offered to residents.  

6.1.5 The dementia support offer continued to grow with the launch of Better Barnet - Dementia 
Club UK at Copthall Leisure Centre and a new Young Onset Dementia Group set up by 
the ASC prevention team.  Additionally, the Dementia Action Alliance led by Public Health 
has been re-launched in Barnet and an action plan is being developed to ensure dementia-
friendly communities are embedded across the borough. 

6.1.6 The ASC Specialist Dementia Support team continued to work with adults with dementia 
and their carers promoting independence and wellbeing.  Training takes place over eight 
weeks and was being delivered to seven carers of adults with dementia in Q1.

6.2 KPIs
6.2.1 There are three KPIs for this priority, which monitor support to older and vulnerable 

residents.  One KPI met the Q1 target.  Three KPIs were not reported in Q1.

30



Q1 19/20 Q1 
18/19Indicator23 Polarity 18/19

EOY
19/20
Target Target Result DOT Result

Benchmarking

Number of Extra 
Care beds in 
Ansell Court which 
are filled (s)

Bigger 
is 

Better

New 
for 

19/20
53 14 19

(G) New
New 
for 

19/20

No benchmark 
available

Proportion of 
people receiving 
reablement who go 
on to require a 
long-term service 
(SALT)

Smaller 
is 

Better

New 
for 

19/20
Monitor Monitor

Due 
Q2 

19/20
24

New 
for 

19/20

New 
for 

19/20

No benchmark 
available

Clients receiving 
preventative 
reablement 
services enabling 
them to live in the 
community for 
longer

Bigger 
is 

Better

New 
for 

19/20
TBC25 TBC26 No27 

result

New 
for 

19/20

New 
for 

19/20

No benchmark 
available

6.3 Risks
6.3.1 There are no risks delivery of the actions for this priority28.  

Q1 
Performance7. Encouraging residents to lead active and healthy lifestyles and maintain 

mental wellbeing Good

7.1 Summary of Actions Good progress
7.1.1 Construction of the New Barnet Leisure Centre and Barnet Copthall Leisure Centre 

continued in Q1 2018-19. The centres opened to the public due for completion on the 30 
August 2019 and 1 September 2019 respectively.  Pre-launch marketing and 
communication has been undertaken by GLL, in partnership with the council.  The 
demolition programme at Barnet Copthall Leisure Centre commenced in September 2019 
and should be completed by March 2020.

7.1.2 In Q1, GLL commenced a programme of capital works at Finchley Lido Leisure Centre, 
totalling £485,000 of investment, which included a refurbishment of the changing village 
area, installation of new technology and environmental improvements such as reducing 
carbon emissions.  In Q1, a planned structural condition survey identified the need for 
essential roof repairs.  In the interests of customer safety, the Council made the decision 
to close public access to the pools in March 2019 and the indoor pools have been closed 
during Q1.  The Council have conducted specialist intrusive investigations during the 

23 KPIs on the proportion of people with a reduction in support needs following telecare and service users receiving ongoing 
services with telecare; taken out.  These have been replaced by a new KPI on clients receiving preventative reablement services 
enabling them to live in the community for longer.  This enablement measure is a good replacement as it shows value added 
services and impact with the number clients supported to live within the community and not requiring more complex social care 
support.
24 New reporting mechanisms being developed and KPI will be reported in Q2. 2019/20 will establish a baseline for future targets 
to be set in 2020/21.
25 New target for 19/20 to be confirmed when baseline established.
26 New target for 19/20 to be confirmed when baseline established.
27 KPI not reported in Q1.
28 There was one Delivery Plan risk (AC020 – Lack of practicing AMHP) but this has been moved to the Integrating local health 
and social care priority.

31



existing closure period, which requires the pools to remain closed to complete the extent 
of the review and repairs as necessary. Unfortunately, it is anticipated that full access to 
the wetside area will not be available until early 2020.  All swimming lesson have been 
transferred to other centres and customers signposted to the council’s other pools. The 
other facilities at the centre have remained open including the outdoor lido.

7.1.3 A review of the Fit and Active Barnet (FAB) Hub was completed with areas identified for 
improvement, building on the success of 20,000 residents receiving a FAB Card (free 
residents card which includes a range of concessionary benefits). 

7.1.4 As part of the council’s leisure management contract with GLL, a range of universal and 
targeted programmes are co-ordinated.  These are delivered by the GLL Physical Activity 
and Health Team.  In Q1, the following targeted interventions were offered: 

 Four adult weight management programmes scheduled across Barnet Copthall, Finchley 
Lido and Burnt Oak Leisure Centres offering 60 places

 Four Xplore Children’s Weight Management programmes were delivered in the summer 
term focusing on 7 to 13 year olds at Brunswick Park School/Church Hill School, Burnt 
Oak, Finchley Lido and Hendon Leisure Centres; and a further programme took place at 
Burnt Oak Leisure Centre focusing on 4 to 6 year olds.  48 referrals were received through 
self-referral, National Child Measurement Programme letter, school nurses, GPs, and 
other

 203 referrals into the Physical Activity Referral Scheme (PARS), 53 of which came through 
the NHS Health Checks pathway. Of the 203 referrals, 62 people started a health 
intervention programme with the team.  23 starters were participants who were referred 
with mental health as a primary or secondary reason, and a further 13 starters were 
participants who were referred with diabetes.

7.1.5 The latest Active Lives dataset published by Sport England (biannually) evidenced a 7.7% 
increase in the number of adults (16 years plus) taking part in 150 minutes or more of 
moderate activity.  This is the Public Health England recommended amount of physical 
activity per week. This result improved the overall ranking of Barnet in the London region 
by six places.  In addition, the survey showed that:

 Barnet is one of only five London Boroughs to be classified as ‘significant improvement’ 
in the ‘Active’ section 

 Barnet is the only Borough to achieve ‘significant improvement’ in the ‘Active’ section 
against the comparators

 Barnet is one out of two London Boroughs to achieve ‘significant decrease’ in the 
‘Inactive’ section.

7.2 KPIs
7.2.1 There are three KPIs for this priority, which monitor active and healthy lifestyles.  Two KPIs 

met the Q1 targets.  One KPI did not meet the Q1 target.

 Participants engaged in targeted programmes (RAG rated RED) - 86 against a target 
of 105. This KPI measures participation in targeted programmes delivered by Barnet's 
operator, Better, which is designed to improve the health and wellbeing of residents.  
Participation was below target due to a decision to delay the start of the programmes for 
Falls and Cancer to avoid clashes with schemes being delivered by Age UK Barnet (Falls) 
and the Tottenham Hotspur Foundation.

32



Q1 19/20 Q1 
18/19Indicator Polarity 18/19

EOY
19/20
Target Target Result DOT Result

Benchmarking

Adults (16+) taking 
part in moderate 
activity at least 150 
minutes per week 
(Bi-annual)29

Bigger 
is 

Better

New 
for 

19/20
60% 60%

64.5%
30

(G)

New 
for 

19/20

New 
for 

19/20

Rank 20 (out 
of 33 London 

Boroughs) 
(2019, Sport 

England)
FAB card holders 
following FAB2 
campaign

Bigger 
is 

Better

New 
for 

19/20
22000 20000 20149 

(G)

New 
for 

19/20

New 
for 

19/20

No benchmark 
available

Participants 
engaged in 
targeted 
programmes

Bigger 
is 

Better

New 
for 

19/20
690 105 86 

(R)

New 
for 

19/20

New 
for 

19/20

No benchmark 
available

7.3 Risks
7.3.1 There are four risks to delivery of the actions for this priority. These have been assessed 

at a low (scoring 1 to 3); medium/high (scoring 8 to 12) and high (scoring 15-25) level and 
have controls/mitigations in place to manage the risks. 

 AC023 - Construction of leisure facilities (risk score 9).  An increase in construction 
costs could place a risk on affordability of the schemes and potential delays to the 
programme.  The project remains within the budget approved by P&R Committee. All 
expenditure is monitored monthly via progress meetings and budget monitoring.  
Compensation events are reviewed by Gardiner and Theobold LLP, who are providing 
independent cost assurance to the development project. The schemes are being funded 
via the Community Infrastructure Levy with £2m external investment from Sport England.

 AC043 - FAB Card registrations (risk score 2).  There is a risk that the second phase of 
the FAB campaign might not result in the level of anticipated FAB Card registrations.  The 
second phase of FAB Card will be implemented alongside the launch of an Active Travel 
digital application.  The FAB Card will continue to be promoted via articles in Barnet First 
and social media.

 AC044 - Leisure operator performance against contract (risk score 16).  If the leisure 
operator fails to deliver against contractual obligations/commitments and KPIs this could 
impact the quality and extent of the service provided.  The leisure contract is monitored on 
a monthly and quarterly basis via an agreed framework of activity to ensure targets are 
met. The unexpected closure of swimming facilities at Finchley Lido Leisure Centre in 
March 2019 has influenced the achievement of performance and financial 
targets/projections.

29 KPI is reported from the Sport England Active Lives Adult Survey, which is undertaken twice a year.  
30 The dataset released in May 2019 (reporting Nov 17/18 data) demonstrates that 64.5% of Barnet’s adult population (16 years 
plus) are active for at least 150 mins per week. Barnet was only one of five boroughs that achieved a statistically significant 
increase of 7.7% since Nov 15/16 (alongside Bexley, Ealing, Islington and Lewisham).  The survey can be found online at: 
https://www.sportengland.org/research/active-lives-survey/

33

https://www.sportengland.org/research/active-lives-survey/


 AC045 - Barnet Disability Sports Network (DSN) (risk score 2). There is a risk the DSN 
fails to identify and collaborate on opportunities to enhance access and experience for 
disabled residents.  The DSN comprises stakeholders within the borough that provide a 
service or have contact with residents with a disability. The DSN meets every six months 
to collaborative on opportunities to maximise Sport and Physical Activity (SPA) access and 
experience for disabled residents. At the May 2019 meeting, support was identified for a 
FAB campaign focused on engaging disabled residents to lead active lifestyles (including 
their carers); and a partnership working opportunity between GLL and Disability Sports 
Coach UK (DSCUK).  DSCUK recently received a corporate grant from the council and 
engagement with the DSN and alignment with FAB was part of the award criteria.

Q1 
Performance8. Safeguarding adults at risk of abuse and neglect

Good

8.1 Summary of Actions Good progress
8.1.1 The Barnet Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) is dedicated to working to embed the ‘Making 

safeguarding personal’ principles across all organisations working to support adults at risk 
of abuse, neglect or exploitation.  The SAB has come to the end of the first year of the 
2018-21 Strategy with the 2018/19 Business Plan ending in March 2019.  The Annual 
Report with progress through 2018/19 and priorities for 2019/20 will also be presented at 
the Committee’s   September meeting and further information about their work is contained 
in that report. 

8.1.2 The Adult Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) was launched on 10 June 2019 with 
the move of adult social care to the council’s new offices in Colindale.  The MASH brings 
together knowledge and expertise from across ASC and key partners and is being 
implemented in phases.  Leads from each team or agency work collaboratively on the 
screening of safeguarding concerns and provide information to support safeguarding 
decisions and enquiries. Further information on the MASH and safeguarding arrangements 
is contained in a separate report to this Committee.

8.2 KPIs
8.2.1 There is one KPI for this priority, which monitors safeguarding.  The conversion rate of 

safeguarding concerns to Section 42 enquiries was 29.8%.  

Q1 19/20 Q1 
18/19Indicator Polarity 18/19

EOY
19/20
Target Target Result DOT Result

Benchmarking

Conversion rate 
safeguarding 
concerns to 
Section 42 
enquiries

Monitor
New 
for 

19/20
Monitor Monitor 29.8%

New 
for 

19/20

New 
for 

19/20

No benchmark 
available

8.3 Risks
8.3.1 There are two risks to delivery of the actions for this priority31. These have been assessed 

at a medium/high (8 to 12) level and have controls/mitigations in place to manage the risks. 

31 There was one Delivery Plan risk for this priority (AC046).  However, STR12 has replaced AC018 (which was mapped to the 
Integrating local health and social care priority) and moved to the Safeguarding priority.

34



 AC046 – Adults Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) (risk score 8).  To manage 
capacity and ensure sufficient resource and subject expertise within the MASH, physical 
and virtual arrangements have been established to ensure the process is effective and 
adults at risk are safeguarded.

 STR12 - Relationship with healthcare providers and partner organisations (risk 
score 12).  Ineffective relationships with healthcare providers and partner organisations 
such as the NHS could lead to an inability to manage demand resulting in failure to meet 
statutory duties and safeguarding of vulnerable residents.  Joint planning and co-ordination 
work takes place through the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and other Health and 
Wellbeing Board work and at North Central London level through the Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan process.  Referral and activity data is actively monitored and any 
concerns are escalated to the Trust.  DTOCs are monitored across Acute, Community and 
Mental Health NHS trusts.

Q1 
Performance9. Efficient delivery of statutory duties

Good

9.1 Summary of Actions Good progress
9.1.1 This element of the Delivery Plan was focused on “deliver[ing] the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy and savings programme” whilst continuing to deliver statutory duties. Progress on 
the MTFS is set out in section 3.1.

9.1.2  

9.2 KPIs
9.2.1 There are no KPIs for this priority.

9.3 Risks
9.3.1 There are two risks to delivery of the actions for this priority. These have been assessed 

at a medium/low (4 to 6) and high (15 to 25) level and have controls/mitigations in place to 
manage the risks.

 AC047 - MTFS Savings Delivery (risk score 4).  A budget monitoring and tracking 
processes is in place to monitor overall spend and savings delivered. This includes 
methods for calculating cost avoidance and demand management savings, both through 
budget monitoring and tracking transformation projects. Best available data and estimates 
have been used to calculate 'baseline' demand and projections, against which avoided 
cost / demand management is measured. 

 AC031 -  Business intelligence and financial reporting (risk score 12). Following the 
move to the new case management system, delays in resolving issues limited the ability 
for the council to produce routine reports. Workarounds have been put in place to provide 
activity and financial forecasts and meeting statutory reporting obligations. Key 
performance reports are being developed phased, based on priority, across the year. 

9.3.2 In addition to the risks in the Annual Delivery Plan, there were two service risks linked to 
this priority that were scored at a high (15 to 25) level in Q1.

 AC001 - Increased overspend to meet statutory duties (risk score 20).  The 
uncertainty of the operating environment could lead to insufficient resources for the service 

35



to meet its statutory duties. The 2019/20 financial year will be difficult with the need to 
deliver substantial savings and increasing demand for service and the cost of care. Monthly 
budget monitoring processes have been strengthened and opportunities to improve 
business processes are being pursued and developed as appropriate. There is an ongoing 
effort to realise income and further opportunities from existing savings initiatives are 
planned.

 AC028 - Lack of fully functioning case management system (risk score 15).  If the 
substantial remedial work required to Mosaic is not implemented in a timely manner, the 
lack of a fully functioning case management system will have an impact on key business 
processes and on data/information. Good progress is being made in programme delivery 
with a major release in April 2019, which saw improvements to the majority of the case 
management workflows and has received positive feedback from staff. 

36



10 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

10.1 These recommendations are to provide the Committee with relevant budget, performance 
and risk information in relation to the corporate and committee priorities in the Corporate 
Plan (Barnet 2024) and A&S Committee Annual Delivery Plan.  This paper enables the 
council to meet the budget agreed by Council in March 2019.

11 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED

11.1 None.

12 POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION

12.1 None.

13 IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION 

13.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance

13.1.1 The report provides an overview of performance for Q1 2019/20, including budget 
forecasts, savings, progress on actions, KPIs and risks to delivering the Annual Delivery 
Plan.

13.1.2 The Q1 2019/20 results for all Corporate Plan and Delivery Plan KPIs are published on 
the Open Barnet portal at https://open.barnet.gov.uk/dataset  

13.1.3 Robust budget, performance and risk monitoring are essential to ensure that there are 
adequate and appropriately directed resources to support delivery and achievement of 
corporate and committee priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan (Barnet 2024) and 
Annual Delivery Plans.

13.1.4 Relevant council strategies and policies include the following:
 Medium Term Financial Strategy
 Corporate Plan (Barnet 2024)
 A&S Committee Annual Delivery Plan
 Performance and Risk Management Frameworks.

13.2 Resources (Finance and Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability)

13.2.1 The budget forecasts are included in the report.  More detailed information on financial 
performance is provided to Financial Performance and Contracts Committee.  

13.3 Social Value 

13.3.1 The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 requires people who commission public 
services to think about how they can also secure wider social, economic and 
environmental benefits.  Before commencing a procurement process, commissioners 
should think about whether the services they are going to buy, or the way they are going 
to buy them, could secure these benefits for their area or stakeholders.  The council’s 
contract management framework oversees that contracts deliver the expected services 
to the expected quality for the agreed cost.  Requirements for a contractor to deliver 

37

https://open.barnet.gov.uk/dataset


activities in line with Social Value will be monitored through this contract management 
process.

13.3 Legal and Constitutional References

13.4.1 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 states that: “without prejudice to section 
111, every local authority shall make arrangements for the proper administration of their 
financial affairs and shall secure that one of their officers has responsibility for the 
administration of those affairs”. Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972, relates 
to the subsidiary powers of local authorities.

13.4.2 Section 28 of the Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) imposes a statutory duty on a 
billing or major precepting authority to monitor, during the financial year, its income and 
expenditure against the budget calculations. If the monitoring establishes that the 
budgetary situation has deteriorated, the authority must take such action as it considers 
necessary to deal with the situation. Definition as to whether there is deterioration in an 
authority’s financial position is set out in section 28(4) of the Act.

13.4.3 The Council’s Constitution (Article 7, Article 7 – Committees, Forums, Working Groups 
and Partnerships) sets out the responsibilities of all council Committees. The 
responsibilities of the Adults and Safeguarding Committee include:

 
(1) Responsibility for all matters relating to vulnerable adults, adult social care and leisure 

services.
(2) Work with partners on the Health and Well Being Board to ensure that social care, 

interventions are effectively and seamlessly joined up with public health and 
healthcare and promote the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and its associated sub 
strategies.

(3) To submit to the Policy and Resources Committee proposals relating to the 
Committee’s budget for the following year in accordance with the budget timetable.

(4) To make recommendations to Policy and Resources Committee on issues relating to 
the budget for the Committee, including virements or underspends and overspends 
on the budget. No decisions which result in amendments to the agreed budget may 
be made by the Committee unless and until the amendment has been agreed by 
Policy and Resources Committee.

(5) To receive reports on relevant performance information and risk on the services 
under the remit of the Committee.

 
13.4.4 The council’s Financial Regulations can be found at:

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s46515/17FinancialRegulations.doc.pdf 

13.5 Risk Management

13.5.1 The council has an established approach to risk management, which is set out in the Risk 
Management Framework.  Risks are reviewed quarterly (as a minimum) and any high 
level (scoring 15+) risks are reported to the relevant Theme Committee and Policy and 
Resources Committee.  In addition, the Annual Delivery Plan risks associated with the 
priorities for this Committee are outlined in the report.

13.6 Equalities and Diversity 

13.6.1 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 sets out the Public Sector Equality Duty which 
requires a public authority (or those exercising public functions) to have due regard to the 

38

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s46515/17FinancialRegulations.doc.pdf


need to:
 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 

prohibited by the Equality Act 2010.
 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not. 
 Fostering of good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not. 

13.6.2 The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate considerations of equality into everyday 
business and keep them under review in decision making, the design of policies and the 
delivery of services. The protected characteristics are: age; disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex and sexual 
orientation. 

13.6.3 In order to assist in meeting the duty the council will: 
 Try to understand the diversity of our customers to improve our services.
 Consider the impact of our decisions on different groups to ensure they are fair.
 Mainstream equalities into business and financial planning and integrating equalities 

into everything we do.
 Learn more about Barnet’s diverse communities by engaging with them.

This is also what we expect of our partners.

13.6.4 This is set out in the council’s Equalities Policy, which can be found on the website at: 
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-performance/equality-and-
diversity

13.7 Corporate Parenting

In line with Children and Social Work Act 2017, the council has a duty to consider 
Corporate Parenting Principles in carrying out any functions that relate to children and 
young people.  There are no implications for Corporate Parenting in relation to this 
report. The services set out in this report are relevant to care leavers  with care and 
support needs including eligible needs under the Care Act 2014. 

13.7.1   

13.8 Consultation and Engagement

13.8.1 Consultation on the new Corporate Plan (Barnet 2024) was carried out in the summer 
2018.  The Corporate Plan was approved by Council in March 2019.

13.9 Insight

13.9.1 The report identifies key budget, performance and risk information in relation to the A&S 
Committee Annual Delivery Plan. 

14 BACKGROUND PAPERS

14.1 Council, 5 March 2019 – approved Corporate Plan (Barnet 2024)
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=9456&Ver=4 

39

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-performance/equality-and-diversity
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-performance/equality-and-diversity
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=9456&Ver=4


14.2 A&S Committee, 18 March 2019 – approved Annual Delivery Plan
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=9475&Ver=4 

40

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=9475&Ver=4


Summary

The Fit & Active Barnet (FAB) Framework (2016 – 2021) approved by the Adults & 
Safeguarding Committee (2017), provides a strategic framework for the co-ordination and 
delivery of sport and physical activity (SPA) across Barnet. This is underpinned by a vision 
to create a ‘more active and healthy borough’. 

The Framework adopts a coordinated approach, working with partners to increase 
participation and maximising opportunities to improve the health and wellbeing of all 
residents. 

This report outlines the progress which has been made to date in delivering the FAB 
Framework and establishing a FAB Partnership Board, with internal and external 
stakeholder representation.  The approach taken by the Council and stakeholders has 
encouraged greater collaboration, driven improvements and achieved efficiencies.

The impact  of the FAB Framework and the FAB Partnership Board is evidenced by the 

Adults & Safeguarding Board

19th September 2019

 

Title Fit and Active Barnet (FAB) Framework Update

Report of  Chairman of the Adults and Safeguarding Committee

Wards All Wards

Status Public

Urgent No

Key No

Enclosures                         None

Officer Contact Details 

Cassie Bridger, Greenspaces & Leisure: Assistant Director 
Cassie.Bridger@barnet.gov.uk  

Courtney Warden, Sport & Physical Activity: Service Manager 
Courtney.Warden@barnet.gov.uk  

41

AGENDA ITEM 9

mailto:Cassie.Bridger@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:Courtney.Warden@barnet.gov.uk


2

improved performance in the Sport England Active Lives Survey (Nov 17/18 dataset). The 
percentage of Barnet’s adults (16+) who are ‘active’ (at least 150 mins per week) has 
increased to 64.5%, a 7.7% increase since Nov 15/16.  

The percentage of ‘inactive’ (less than 30 mins per week) adults (16+) has reduced by 
7.9% since Nov 2016/17. 

Officers Recommendations 
1. That the Adults and Safeguarding Committee note the progress which has 

been made in the implementation of the Fit and Active Barnet Framework. 

2. That the Adults and Safeguarding Committee note the future delivery priorities 
of the Fit and Active Barnet Framework. 

1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED 

1.1 On 6th March 2017, the Adults and Safeguarding Committee approved the Fit & Active 
Barnet (FAB) Framework  (2016 – 2021) following public and stakeholder engagement. 
Physical activity is recognised as an essential component to residents’ physical, 
emotional and social wellbeing. To address inactivity, there is a clear requirement to 
establish an environment that supports our residents to lead ‘more active and healthy 
lifestyles’.

1.2 Setting out a collaborative vision for a ‘more active and healthy borough’; the FAB 
Framework outlines an approach to the development of sport and physical activity (SPA) 
in Barnet. It is a coordinated approach to increasing participation, to address low levels of 
participation identified within the Sport England Active Lives Survey1, combined with 
health inequalities identified within the Barnet Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

1.3 Through alignment with National policy (namely Sport England strategy; Towards an 
Active Nation, 2016) and Council corporate plan priorities, the Framework demonstrates 
the relationship between sport and physical activity and its influence on population 
health. 

1 Active Lives is a survey conducted by Sport England1 to measure physical activity levels amongst adults (16+) 
across local authority areas. Conducted across a random sample of 500 people per local authority area, the survey 
measures participation across a range of activities including; sporting, fitness, dance, cycling and walking (both for 
travel and leisure). Note that insight referenced with the FAB Framework was extracted from the Active People 
dataset. The Active People Survey was superseded by the Active Lives Survey to coincide with a refreshed 
approach outlined within Sport England strategy; Towards an Active Nation (2016). To support consistency of data 
analysis and review of performance against indicators, for the benefit of this report the Active Lives dataset has 
been referenced only

42

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s38352/Appendix%201%20-%20Fit%20Active%20Barnet%20Framework%202016-2021.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s38352/Appendix%201%20-%20Fit%20Active%20Barnet%20Framework%202016-2021.pdf
https://jsna.barnet.gov.uk/
https://www.sportengland.org/media/10629/sport-england-towards-an-active-nation.pdf
https://www.sportengland.org/media/10629/sport-england-towards-an-active-nation.pdf


3

1.4 There are four outcomes identified within the FAB Framework which mirror those 
identified within the Barnet Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2015 – 2020). These 
are;

Outcome 1 Target those who do not traditionally engage, increasing participation 
amongst underrepresented groups e.g.;
- Women and Girls
- Older Adults
- Children & Young People
- Disabled People
- BAME groups

Outcome 2 Facilitate partnerships and develop opportunities that demonstrate a 
commitment to embed an ‘active habit’

Outcome 3 Improve and enhance Barnet leisure facilities, ensuring that 
opportunities are accessible for all residents

Outcome 4 Advocate investment and innovative policies to support the delivery 
of high quality, accessible facilities and delivery of services

1.5 This report provides an update on progress and implementation to date against the four 
strategic outcomes and an overview of future priorities that will continue to achieve a 
‘more active and healthy borough’.

FAB FRAMEWORK IMPLEMENTATION

1.6 In 2017, the FAB Partnership Board was established to provide strategic oversight to 
deliver the Framework. The Board includes a range of stakeholders, including; Better 
Leisure (GLL), Middlesex University, Saracens, Barnet FC, Barnet Homes, Barnet 
Partnership for School Sport (BPSS), Young Barnet Foundation (YBF), Inclusion Barnet, 
Age UK Barnet. Mencap, London Sport and services from across the Council e.g. 
Children’s Services, Public Health, Planning, Adult Social Care, Transport and Parks.

1.7 The management and leadership of the FAB Partnership is led by the Council who 
administrate quarterly meetings and provide relevant thematic agenda items for partner 
discussion. 

PROGRESS AGAINST STRATEGIC (FAB) OUTCOMES

1.8 A key achievement following implementation of the FAB Framework and creation of the 
FAB Partnership Board is evidenced in the borough’s improved performance in the Sport 
England Active Lives Survey. As outlined in the table below, there has been an 
improvement in performance against adult (16+) participation indicators since release of 
the Nov 15/16 dataset to the most recent dataset published (Nov 17/18); 

Indicator Nov 15/16 Nov 16/17 Nov 17/18
Active (at least 
150 mins per 
week)

57.2% 56.8% 64.5%

Fairly Active (30 – 
149 mins per 
week)

16.4% 12.3% 12.5%

Inactive (less than 26.5% 30.9% 23.0%

43

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing/health-and-wellbeing-key-documents/joint-health-and-wellbeing-strategy-2015


4

30 mins per week)

1.9 Barnet is one of five London boroughs alongside Bexley, Ealing, Islington and Lewisham 
that achieved a statistically significant increase in the percentage of active adults (7.7% 
since Nov 15/16), and one of two London boroughs to achieve a statistically significant 
decrease in the number of inactive adults (7.9% since Nov 16/17).
 

1.10 A range of interventions and projects delivered across the borough by the Council and 
the FAB Partnership Board have supported the improvement.

OUTCOME 1 Target those who do not traditionally engage, increasing participation 
amongst under-represented groups

1.11 Positive partnership working in the borough has resulted in the delivery of interventions 
that seek to engage more residents in sport and physical activity by addressing some of 
the barriers to engagement. 

1.12 Examples include: 

 Establishment of two new weekly parkrun events in Friary Park (parkrun juniors) 
and Sunny Hill Park, enhancing provision alongside the longstanding parkrun 
event at Oak Hill Park

 Delivery of the Barnet Health Walks programme (7 weekly walks), with two 
additional walks being offered from Better leisure centres

 Delivery of interventions that target Barnet’s older population including; Silver 
Week and Better’s Club programme (for residents aged 55+)

 Working in partnership with the Lawn Tennis Association (LTA) to deliver Great 
British Tennis Weekend events on tennis courts across the borough located in 
parks, clubs and leisure centres

 Supported Our Parks to deliver outdoor exercise sessions within West Hendon, 
Oak Hill Park and Watling Park

 Working in collaboration with YBF to support the voluntary and community sector 
(VCS) to secure funding for the delivery of 37 Satellite Clubs and 35 Sportivate 
programmes, both of which are Sport England initiatives with funding administered 
via London Sport

 Facilitating a partnership between Better and Disability Sports Coach UK 
(DSCUK) to establish an inclusive ‘Community Club’ in Barnet

 Middlesex University and Inclusion Barnet supported to deliver Sport England 
funded ‘Into Sport’ programme, offering inclusive access to SPA opportunities in 
the borough for disabled people

 1,800 young people engaged in the SHAPE programme, led by the Council’s 
Leisure team. Funded by Sport England and Barnet Public Health, SHAPE offered 
SPA opportunities to young people aged 14 – 19 years in Burnt Oak and 
Colindale. In addition to positive engagement of young people, the programme 
achieved numerous secondary outcomes including gang disengagement, 
supported young people to complete/gain training and employment opportunities 
and improved subjective health and wellbeing. When funding from Sport England 
came to an end, sessions delivered via the programme e.g. Basketball and Street 

44



5

Dance, have been sustained through securing external funding and introduction of 
self-sustaining delivery models. 

 Annual coordination and delivery of London Youth Games. Over 400 young 
people from Barnet represent the borough by competing against other London 
boroughs in a calendar of sports competitions spanning November to July, across 
30 sporting disciplines 

 Working collaboratively with Shaftesbury Barnet Harriers Athletics Club to host 
trials for the selection of young people to represent Barnet at the London Mini 
Marathon (held in April annually).

1.13 The FAB campaign launched on 18th July 2019. The campaign encouraged residents to 
increase their physical activity levels and reap the associated health and social benefits, 
whilst raising awareness of the varied local opportunities available. In creating the 
campaign, workshops were undertaken to develop messaging and imagery that would 
resonate with residents. This included identifying local groups and residents to be part of 
the campaign.

1.14 Adopting behaviour change theory, the #feelfab campaign included a call to action that 
encouraged residents to register for a free FAB Card. The FAB Card offers a range of 
benefits to Barnet residents including free swimming for U8’s*, 8 – 15 year olds swim for 
£1* (*Mon – Sat) and up to 50% discount on activities across Better leisure facilities. In 
addition, the FAB membership card has been extended to provide discounts on Barnet 
Health Walks and free taster sessions / discounted memberships across clubs and 
community based activities throughout the borough. Fully aligning with the Council’s 
commitment to carers and corporate parenting, additional FAB benefits are in place for 
carers (adult, child and foster), care leavers and children in care in the form of free 
swimming across Barnet Leisure Centres (no time restrictions).

1.15 The campaign used a range of promotional methods delivered over a four-week period to 
launch FAB including Barnet First, bus shelter ads, social media posts, digital ads, case 
studies (Be FAB like Kusum, Be FAB like Chundra, Be FAB like Ben; Be FAB like Fiona 
& Judith) and posters within community based settings e.g. GP surgeries and libraries.

1.16 To reflect the diversity of the borough, the campaign included a range of imagery and 
video footage of local groups and individuals participating in physical activity. A number 
of these individuals/groups have since supported and appeared in the Council’s 
corporate Barnet Together and Barnet 2024 campaigns

1.17 To support the journey from FAB Card registration to finding a suitable local activity, a 
FAB Hub was created. Hosted by Better, the FAB Hub is an online website acting as a 
‘one-stop shop’ for sport, physical activity and health related activities including an 
activity finder, physical activity guidelines and signposting to health information

1.18 FAB continues to be a successful campaign with 20,149 residents signed up for a card 
(as of July 2019). 

1.19 Further insight of the FAB Card includes;

 101,646 attendances (July 18 – July 19), plus circa 3,000 health walk attendances
 54.9% female members & 45.1% male members

45

http://digitalissue.co.uk/Publishing/barnetfirst/issue-74/bfiss74.html#p=13
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ynAeHaRCUIQ
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WZekIEUDqR4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tnlJAUAPMZE
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WzN9ErD1-9k
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WzN9ErD1-9k
http://www.better.org.uk/fab-hub


6

 66.4% white members & 33.6% members from BAME communities (with highest 
representation amongst Asian 7.2% and Black 8.2%, Mixed Ethnicity 6.9%)

 46.6% junior members (0 – 15 years) & 53.4% adult memberships (16+)
 3% members have registered a disability with representation broken down as follows; 

learning (32.9%), health (30.3%), physical (18.8%), hearing (8.4%), multiple (5.4%) and 
visual (4.3%).

 Top five represented wards are Colindale (6.5%), East Barnet (6.3%), Mill Hill (6.1%), 
Woodhouse (5.8%) & Burnt Oak (5.8%)

 Lowest five represented wards are Garden Suburb (2.7%), Childs Hill (2.7%), High 
Barnet (2.8%), Underhill 3.3% & Edgware (3.5%)

1.20 The results above demonstrate the impact of the campaign in respect of reaching 
residents, with a spread across underrepresented groups, particularly when mapped 
against available data within the Barnet JSNA.

1.21 In addition to these statistics, the success of the campaign itself can be demonstrated by 
the ‘click through rate’ from advertisements and web banners to the FAB Hub. At a rate 
of 1.45% this exceeds the average rate of 0.1% of similar advertisements, and is one of 
the most successful campaigns delivered by the Council. 

1.22 To maximise impact and reach, future campaigns will also be aligned to national 
awareness dates e.g. International Women’s Day, UK Day for Older People (Silver 
Week), Disability Awareness Week, Carers Week and campaigns e.g. This Girl Can and 
Change 4 Life etc. 

1.23 A successful example of this is demonstrated through the creation of a Disability Sports 
Network (DSN). Co-chaired with Inclusion Barnet, with support from the Council, the DSN 
has been established as an operational sub group of the FAB Partnership, providing a 
forum that brings organisations that offer a service to disabled residents in the borough 
together.

1.24 DSN representation includes; Barnet Mencap, Saracens Sport Foundation, Middlesex 
University, Better, DSCUK, Wingate and Finchley FC, Phoenix Outdoor Centre, YBF, 
Barnet Sense, BPSS, London Sport and representation from services across the local 
authority e.g. Adult Social Care Prevention and Wellbeing team.

1.25 Supported by a diverse and growing membership, the DSN has been established to 
identify opportunities and unlock challenges, ensuring that disabled residents have equal 
access to high quality provision in the borough. Providing a forum that brings like-minded 
organisations together has resulted in numerous positive outcomes including sustainable 
service delivery of interventions post funding terms e.g. elements of the IntoSport 
programme continued to be delivered between Middlesex University and Better, 

OUTCOME 2 Facilitate partnerships and develop opportunities that demonstrate a 
commitment to embed an ‘active habit’

46



7

partnership working between Better and Disability Sports Coach UK to secure funding to 
create an inclusive ‘Community Club’, sharing of training and development opportunities, 
and support for the FAB campaign via Barnet Mencap. 

1.26 The Barnet DSN has been identified as best practice by London Sport and is used as a 
case study within a toolkit being developed to support and encourage more networks to 
be established across London (anticipated mid Sep 2019). 

OUTCOME 3 Improve and enhance Barnet leisure facilities, ensuring that 
opportunities are accessible for all residents

1.27 This outcome has been achieved by these key initiatives:

- The development and procurement of a new leisure management contract, which 
measurably improves the health and wellbeing of residents. 

- The investment in and construction of two new leisure facilities at Barnet Copthall Leisure 
Centre and New Barnet Leisure Centre.  

1.28 In December 2017, the Council awarded a new leisure management contract to GLL 
(Better) following a competitive procurement exercise. The contract effective from 1st 
January 2018 – 31st March 2028 outlines a range of commitments which are linked to the 
Public Health Outcomes Framework. This is in addition to the Council receiving an 
average of £1.5m per annum management fee paid by the operator. 

1.29 In December 2017, the Council commenced construction of the new facilities at Barnet 
Copthall Leisure Centre and New Barnet Leisure Centre. The £44.9m Council investment 
includes a funding award of £2m from Sport England. 

1.30 The facilities opened to the public on the 30th August 2019 (New Barnet) and the 1st 
September 2019 (Barnet Copthall), offering a diverse facility mix to support acting as 
community hubs. 

New Barnet Leisure Centre Barnet Copthall Leisure Centre
Learner Pool Learner Pool
Community Pool (25m, 6 lane) with 
spectator seating

Community Pool (25m, 6 lanes) with 
spectating seating

Café Competition Pool (25m, 6 lanes) with 
viewing gallery

Health & Fitness Suite Café
2 Health Improvement Rooms Sports Hall (5 courts)
2 Floodlit Tennis Courts Health & Fitness Suite
Multi-Use Games Area 3 Health Improvement Rooms
Partnership Library (relocated from East 
Barnet Library)

Community Room

New Play area Studio space
Studio space

1.31 In addition to the above investment, ‘Better’ has invested £1,961,778 into enhancing 
facilities at Burnt Oak Leisure Centre, Hendon Leisure Centre and Finchley Lido Leisure 
Centres. Enhancements include:

47



8

Burnt Oak Leisure Centre
- Introduction of a day nursery and refreshed creche provision, including a new 

commercial kitchen
- Refresh of the health and fitness suite (gym) and upgraded changing facilities
- Resurfacing of the 3G (artificial turf pitch)
- Car park bay marking improvements and traffic calming device introduced

Hendon Leisure Centre
- Upgrade and extension of the health and fitness suite (gym), including inclusion of a 

spinning area
- Upgraded changing facilities
- Replacement and relocation of the climbing wall to the rear of the sports hall

Finchley Lido Leisure Centre
- Upgrade and extension of the health and fitness suite (gym)
- Spend to save project to improve environmental conditions and reduce carbon 

emissions, including; replacement boilers, air handling, LED lighting, main filtration, 
installation of pipe work lagging and an energy response VSD (chemical controller)

- Changing village improvements including replacement of cubicles and lockers, 
additional family cubicles, re-tilling and installation of separate shower cubicles, new 
vanity area and new seating area.

- Introduction of a facial recognition project, enabling member access to the centre 
through facial detection, removing the requirement for membership cards

1.32 Finchley Lido Leisure Centre has been subject to a programme of lifecycle 
maintenance as part of the previous and existing leisure management contract, with 
specific attention relating to asset condition. A routine condition survey in March 2019 
identified the need for essential roof repairs. In the interest of customer safety, the 
Council made the decision to close public access to the pool at Finchley Lido in 
March 2019 to complete these repairs. The Council have conducted specialist 
intrusive investigations, which have shown that the pools must remain closed to 
complete the investigations and repairs. It is anticipated that full access to the wetside 
area will not be available until early 2020. During the closure period, facility 
improvements, as outlined above, have been progressed to create a better 
experience for all customers. All dry side areas of the facility remain open and 
operational, with swimming lessons and courses transferred to the new facilities at 
Barnet Copthall Leisure Centre and New Barnet Leisure Centre. The outdoor pool 
has also been open in the summer months.

1.33 Some of the successes achieved within contract year 1 (1st Jan 2018 – 31st March 2019) 
outline 1,126,646 visits across all 5 Council leisure centres, which includes a total of 
29,509 members (pay and play and pre-paid). Further highlights are provided in the table 
below.

PHOF Priority Contract Year 1 Performance Update 
(1st Jan 18 – 31st March 19)

Improving the wider 
determinants of 

- Staff training in disability, mental health and dementia awareness, with a 
designated Dementia Champion at each facility

48



9

health - Completion of dementia friendly building assessment across all facilities 
- 5 ‘Be Inclusive’ open days delivered in partnership with Inclusion Barnet, 

Barnet Mencap and BPSS, supporting 346 residents
- Maintenance of the Inclusive Fitness Initiative (IFI) accreditation at Burnt 

Oak Leisure Centre (level 2). Finchley Lido Leisure centre to be reassessed 
in 2019

- 1,833 disabled members (all categories including mental health)
- Delivery of two inclusive community based programmes, attracting 23 

participants with 184 attendances. Programme to be expanded in 2019 
working in partnership with DSCUK to create a ‘Community Club’ in the 
borough

- 14 hours of inclusive programming across leisure centres per week 
including; IFI gym sessions, multi-sport, inclusive family swim, dementia 
activities (multi-sport and swimming) and trampolining

- Barnet Copthall, Hendon and Finchley Lido leisure centres partnered with 
the ‘Safe Places Scheme’, providing Safe Place members a private place to 
sit whilst awaiting assistance

- 40 volunteers / ambassadors recruited to support delivery including; Be 
Inclusive open days, older people activities and the Barnet Dementia Club 

- Delivery of pre-and post-natal water workout sessions
- All centres recognised as ‘Breast Feeding Friendly’ centres
- Supported national health campaigns through outreach and delivery of 

activities e.g. Mental Health Awareness Week and Dementia Action Week 
- Adoption of a Mental Health Charter
- 1,113 juniors have a concessionary membership
- 2,018 CYP participated in community and school based sessions targeted 

within most disadvantaged wards in the borough e.g. supporting local events 
e.g. Urban Games, delivery of free and subsidised tennis

- 1,751 CYP participated in holiday camps and activities in leisure centres 
during school holiday periods including; gymnastics, swimming lessons, and 
multi-sports 

- 8,222 U8’s swam for free and 36,046 8 – 15 year olds swam for £1
- Supported Airsports and the Westminster Drugs Project with facility use and 

access to activities
- Programming that targets low participation groups e.g. men and boys 

swimming, women and girls swimming and gym sessions 
- Work experience placements offered to Royal Mencap, InstructAbility, young 

carers and Saracen’s Sports Foundation via their HITZ programme
- On-going commitment to the Two Ticks employment scheme.

Health 
Improvement

- Launch of XPLORE weight management programme for 4-6 and 7-13 year 
olds (referral based)

- 8 courses delivered for 7 – 13-year-olds across schools and leisure centres 
(aligned with the National Child Measurement programme dataset). 98 
referrals, 83 starters and 76% completion rate – signposted to XPLORE 
maintenance clubs

- Courses for 4-6-year-olds delivered from April 19
- Delivery of 8 afterschool clubs for 10 – 11 year olds running simultaneously 

with XPLORE, with 210 pupils engaged
- 6 parent sessions delivered to schools resulting in 89 attendances
- Delivery of 12 whole school challenges engaging 571 pupils from 

Livingstone Primary School

49

https://island.barnet.gov.uk/vdesk/vpn/connect.php3?Z=0%2C4&csrft=XAX8&fromaxinstaller=1
https://www.safeplaces.org.uk/
http://www.breastfeedingtogether.co.uk/breastfeeding-out-and-about/


10

- Delivery of adult weight management courses with 102 referrals, 75 starters 
and 76% completion rate 

- 60 programmes and initiatives delivered within leisure centres encouraging 
greater participation amongst CYP and adults e.g. lessons and courses, 
Club (55+) programme and family sessions

- 24 community satellite sessions launched targeting underrepresented 
groups, engaging 389 participants e.g. older people, carers, early years, 
disabled residents, low participation groups and CYP

- Delivery of 10 family open days attracting 425 participants 
- Delivery of Get Moving Month (March 2019) engaging 850 residents
- Commenced development of a gamification active travel app in partnership 

with Barnet Council and Middlesex University
- 394 referrals to the Physical Activity on Referral (PARS) programme with a 

70% completion rate. 
- 92 residents with a mild to moderate health condition started a PARS or 

weight management intervention
- 77 athletes supported via the GLL Sports Foundation scheme with £42,000 

in cash, training and sports science support (in partnership with Middlesex 
University)

- Hosted the annual primary schools swim gala
- Worked in partnership with BPSS to host and support school competitions 

including; Year 7 and 8 secondary school swim gala, primary school 
basketball tournament, new age kurling, Key Stage 1 summer sports day, 
Boccia, Bronze Ambassadors award, Barnet Bar No-one event, BPSS 
annual School Sports Awards and Barnet Festival of Gymnastics

- 3,660 swim school participants
- Enhanced gymnastics delivery with inclusion of adult sessions, adult 

gymnastics competition, introduction of 2 This Girl Can sessions and 
structured parent and child sessions

- Commitment to the Sugar Smart pledge and Healthy Catering Commitment
- £5,860 funding (cash and in-kind) awarded to three community groups via 

the GLL Community Foundation; Mill Hill East Community Garden, High 
Barnet Family Hub and Clitterhouse Farm café and workshops

Health Care and 
Prevention

- 97 participants with diabetes commenced a PARS or weight management 
intervention 

- 399 ‘Know Your Risk’ checks completed
- Partnership established with the National Diabetes Prevention Programme
- Supported Tottenham Hotspur Foundation in delivery of their Macmillan 

funded cancer referral programme, ‘Move4You’. Contract year 2 will seek to 
expand and sustain delivery targeting 70 residents

- Comprehensive ‘Club’ programme offered to people aged 55+, offering 
physical and social activities. 1,121 Club members with over 11,900 visits. 
Delivery extended to community based settings with 6 sessions across care 
homes, sheltered housing and libraries

- Supported Silver Week with taster sessions, coffee morning and activities 
with over 200 older people engaged

- Better will offer a falls prevention service from contract year 2 (April 2019)
- Enhanced FAB benefits available to carers and the cared for (see 1.17)
- Delivery of interventions for carers and the cared for including; community 

based sessions, work experience placements and the Life Transitions 

50



11

project

OUTCOME 4 Advocate investment and innovative policies to support the delivery of 
high quality, accessible facilities and delivery of services

1.34 The FAB partnership board has also been working to attract and identify investment into 
sports and physical activity in the borough.

 Approx. £450,000 of revenue investment has been directed into the borough to support 
delivery of interventions since implementation of the FAB Framework. Investment 
includes contributions from Sport England, England Athletics and Better. In addition, the 
Council Corporate Grants programme, Chipping Barnet Area Committee and Public 
Health have contributed funding to physical activity across the borough. 

 A total of £370,000 investment committed by Transport for London via the Local 
Implementation Plan (2018/19 and 2019 – 2022) to support delivery of interventions that 
encourage increased levels of active travel in the borough. £100,000 of this funding has 
been directed to development of a digital behaviour change intervention in the form of a 
smart phone/device gamification app to increase active travel in the borough. The 
Council are working in partnership with Better and Middlesex University to develop the 
app, which has been supplemented by an additional £150,000 of additional funding 
from Better.

 A combination of grants from the Greater London Authority, Environment Agency and 
London Marathon Charitable Trust totalling £5.5m has been secured to support the 
improvement of Montrose/Silkstream Parks (due for completion Jan 2020). This scheme 
includes new and enhanced SPA facilities including outdoor gym equipment. tennis 
courts, junior football pitches, Parkour equipment and a skatepark.

 £25,000 contribution from Chipping Barnet Area Committee to install Active Trails 
across parks and open spaces within the constituency. Active Trails (formally known as 
Marked and Measured Routes) offer 1km marked routes for residents to cycle, run, jog 
or walk. Two Active Trails have been installed in Oak Hill Park and Friary Park, with 
plans to install trails in Victoria Recreation Ground, Old Court House Recreation Ground 
and Riverside Walk by 31st March 2020. These trails enhance marked trails already 
available at Barnet Playing Fields, Bethune Park, Clitterhouse Playing Fields, Copthall 
Playing Fields, Edgwarebury Park, Montrose Playing Fields, Scratchwood Open Space, 
Sunny Hill Park and West Hendon Playing Fields. Note existing marked trails are still 
branded as Marked and Measured Routes. There is an intention to re-brand to Active 
Trails subject to available funding,

FAB 2019/20

1.35 FAB delivery during 2019/20 is focussing on the following priorities.

FAB 
Outcome(s) 
Supported

Priority

1 & 4 Continued delivery of the FAB campaign (phase two) 
to achieve a corporate target of 22,000 FAB Card 

51



12

members:
- Using available insight to ensure the ‘inactive’ 

and underrepresented groups are engaged
- Review and enhancement of the FAB Hub, 

providing helpful SPA information and guidance 
to Barnet residents with links to One You (health 
portal commissioned via the Council’s Public 
Health team)

- Extend engagement with the voluntary and 
community sector to increase alignment with FAB 

1 & 4 Raise awareness and importance of active travel:
- Support the design and implementation of a digital 

behaviour change intervention in the form of a 
smartphone / electronic devise gamification app 
that encourages increased active travel (led by 
Better and Middlesex University)

- Review the connectivity of all interventions and 
infrastructure that supports delivery of active travel 
in the borough e.g. Active Trails, Health Walks and 
Heritage Walks

1, 3, & 4 Facilitate a ‘re-focus’ session with the FAB 
Partnership and DSN to ensure continued alignment 
with stakeholder priorities, enabling the shared vision 
of a ‘more active and healthy borough’ to continue to 
be achieved. This exercise will explore the possibility 
of establishing a ‘consortia’ model to advocate future 
investment opportunities and encourage sharing of 
‘open data’ to better understand participation in the 
borough. 

1 & 4 Align with existing networks/forums that support FAB 
engagement with target underrepresented groups to 
fully understand needs and requirements, whilst 
continually assessing the requirement for 
independent operational sub-group networks 

1, 3 & 4 Continue to influence policy ensuring that SPA is an 
integral feature. Examples include the draft Growth 
Strategy, Local Plan) and full synergy with the Health 
& Wellbeing strategy pending renewal

1,2,3 & 4 Opportunities to be considered as part of the 
development of Brent Cross /Cricklewood

1,2,3, & 4 Finchley Lido Leisure Centre Feasibility Study 

2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1The report informs the committee of progress made in delivering its agreed framework for 
sports and physical activity in Barnet.

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED

52



13

3.1 None

4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION

4.1 The Council and FAB Partnership, will continue to implement the FAB Framework (as 
per the priorities identified in 1.50) to create and maintain a ‘more active and healthy 
borough’, reporting future updates to Adults and Safeguarding Committee. 

5. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION 

5.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance

5.1.1 The FAB Framework supports the delivery of Barnet 2024 corporate plan outcomes, 
especially ‘encouraging residents to lead active and healthy lifestyles and maintain their 
mental wellbeing’. However, it also contributes to the following outcomes and their 
associated priorities;

Looking after our parks, 
protecting our green spaces 
and improving air quality 

Outcome 1 A pleasant and well-
maintained borough that we 
protect and invest in

Investing in community 
facilities to support a 
growing population, such as 
schools and leisure centres
Improving services for 
children and young people 
and ensuring the needs of 
children are considered in 
everything we do

Outcome 2 Our residents live happy, 
healthy independent lives 
with the most vulnerable 
protected

Supporting our residents 
who are older, vulnerable or 
who have disabilities, to 
remain independent and 
have a good quality of life

5.1.2 Implementation of the FAB Framework supports delivery of the Barnet Joint Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy (2015 – 2020)

5.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability)

5.2.1 Delivery of the interventions and outcomes demonstrated has been possible as a result 
of council investment, other investment into the borough (capital and revenue) and in-
kind support from partners and stakeholders.  Whilst FAB has no associated delivery 
budget, future implementation of the FAB Framework will continue to maximise 
collaborative working opportunities, to support unlocking of future grant funding and/or 
financial contributions.

5.3 Social Value 

53



14

5.3.1 A social value calculator (created and developed by 4Global, Experian & Sheffield 
Hallam University), is used within the Barnet leisure management contract to measure 
social value based on regular participation within Better leisure centres.  Between April 
18 - March 2019 the leisure management contract indicated a social value estimated at 
£9,729,306 (averaged at £421 per participant). 

5.3.2 This is further broken down as follows;

- Improved Health £1,028,501 (CHD Stroke £288,587, Breast Cancer £24,626, Colon 
Cancer £30,094, Diabetes £108,018, Dementia £402,517, Depression £27,407, 
Reduced GP visits £147,249)

- Improved subjective wellbeing £8,545,460
- Increased educational attainment £149,840
- Reduced crime £5,503

5.4 Legal and Constitutional References

5.4.1 In accordance with the Council Constitution, Article 7, Section 7.5, the Adults & 
Safeguarding Committee;

 Is responsible for all matters relating to vulnerable adults, adult social care and leisure 
services;

 Will work with partners on the Health and Well Being Board to ensure that social care, 
interventions are effectively and seamlessly joined up with public health and healthcare 
and promote the Health and Well Being Strategy and its associated sub strategies; and

 Will receive reports on relevant performance information and risk on the services under 
the remit of the Committee.

5.5 Risk Management

5.5.1 The establishment of the FAB Partnership helps manage and mitigate any risks 
associated with delivery of interventions that support implementation of the Framework 
and meet the four strategic outcomes.

5.5.2 Delivery of any interventions are fully risk assessed and delivered by appropriately 
qualified and experienced personnel.

5.6 Equalities and Diversity 

5.6.1 A full Equalities Impact Assessment was completed to support the FAB Framework. A 
review of equalities is undertaken on design and prior to implementation of interventions 
to facilitate equal access for all residents.

5.7 Corporate Parenting

5.7.1 The FAB Card provides enhanced benefits for looked after children, carer leavers and 
foster carers. The Partnership will continue to support this agenda and identify 

54



15

opportunities that fully endorse the Council’s Corporate Parenting commitment.

5.8 Consultation and Engagement.
5.8.1 The Partnership maximise opportunities to fully engage residents / service users in the 

design and implementation of interventions and policy. Examples include the FAB 
campaign development and the active travel app currently in development in partnership 
with Better and Middlesex University.

5.9 Insight
5.9.1 The priorities and target underrepresented groups within the Framework have been 

closely aligned with insight available via the Barnet JSNA and Sport England dataset. 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS
6.1 Adults and Safeguarding Committee on 6th March 2017 where the FAB Framework was 

approved (item 10); 
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=8676&Ver=4  

55

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=8676&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



Summary
On 18th March 2019, the Adults and Safeguarding Committee authorised the implementation 
of a new delivery model for 3 residential care homes and 2 day care services, via the 
termination of the council’s contract with the Fremantle Trust (TFT) and contract novation to 
Your Choice Barnet (YCB). 

This report provides an update on the implementation of the Committee’s decision, progress 
made in the transfer and next steps.

Officers Recommendations 

Adults and Safeguarding Committee

 19th September 2019

 

Title 
Update report: New Delivery Model for Care 
Home and Day Care Services

Report of Chairman of the Adults and Safeguarding Committee

Wards All

Status Public

Urgent No

Key Yes

Enclosures None

Officer Contact Details

Jess Baines-Holmes, Assistant Director, Adults Joint 
Commissioning
jess.baines-holmes@barnet.gov.uk 
Muyi Adekoya, Head of Commissioning, Older Adults and 
Integrated Care
muyi.adekoya@nhs.net

57

AGENDA ITEM 10

mailto:jess.baines-holmes@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:muyi.adekoya@nhs.net


2

1. That the Committee notes the termination of the council’s residential and day 
care services contract with the Fremantle Trust, with subsequent contract 
novation to Your Choice Barnet and successful mobilisation of residential and 
day care service delivery on the 8th July 2019.

1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED 

1.1. The Adults and Safeguarding Committee has responsibility for all matters relating to adult 
safeguarding and adult social care. Following the Committee’s authorisation on 18th March 
2019, the Committee requested an update report on implementation of the new delivery 
model for care home and day care services at its September meeting. 

1.2. This paper details progress to date on the transfer of care homes service provision from 
the Fremantle Trust (TFT) to Your Choice Barnet (YCB).

2. BACKGROUND

2.1. On 18th March 2019, Adults and Safeguarding Committee received a report detailing the 
contract negotiations between TFT and the council, with respect to 3 care homes and 2 
day care services, which had not resulted in a mutually acceptable resolution.

2.2. Officers recommended the termination of the care contract with TFT and subsequent 
novation to YCB, in order to ensure the delivery of safe, high quality, financially sustainable 
residential and day care services, in alignment with the council’s goals.

2.3. The Adults and Safeguarding Committee approved the implementation of a new delivery 
model for 3 residential care homes and 2 day care services, via the termination of the 
council’s contract with TFT and contract novation to YCB. 

3. UPDATE

3.1. A service transition period commenced on 19th March 2019, and concluded with 
successful transition of service provision at the three residential care homes and two day 
care services on 8th July 2019. The contract with TFT was terminated in early July 2019. 
The council’s care contract with YCB was sealed on 8th July 2019.

3.2. The transition period for transfer to YCB was necessarily brief due to Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) enforcement actions in relation to Apthorp Lodge; therefore, all 
activities occurred concurrently in order to prevent any slippage on the agreed timescale. 

3.3. During the transition period, TFT was required to remain committed to continued delivery 
of service improvement work identified as part of routine contract management, and as 
mandated by the CQC.

58



3

3.4. Fortnightly transition project board meetings commenced on 28th March 2019. The parties 
agreed a joint communications and engagement approach; the board also agreed key 
milestones for transition activities and established weekly operational action group 
meetings to oversee and ensure timely delivery of actions.

3.5. The transition activities undertaken included:

 Stakeholder consultation, communications and engagement
 Tripartite Data Sharing Agreement
 TFT Variation agreement
 Asset Purchase Agreement between YCB and TFT
 TUPE transfer of eligible staff from TFT to YCB
 Execution of a new care contract with YCB 
 Council’s grant of Licences to occupy the Care Homes to YCB, pending the 

completion of the under-leases and finalising the associated schedules of condition. 
 Surrender of under-leases for the premises and subsequent grant of the same to YCB 

with consent of the superior/head Landlord, Catalyst (in progress)

3.6. On 8th July, all services successfully transferred to YCB with no impact on resident services 
or care. Staff remained in post and continued to support individuals and maintain continuity. 

3.7. The Variation Agreement with TFT was signed without prejudice to the outcome of 
negotiations to agree the final financial settlement between TFT and the council. These 
are pending the conclusion of the terminal schedule of dilapidations and the associated 
invoice detailing the monies to be recovered from TFT for repair and maintenance 
obligations under the contract, as well as the reconciliation of outstanding Adult Social 
Care costs. Council officers are progressing all required actions to accomplish this as soon 
as possible.

4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED

4.1.N/A

5. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION

5.1.N/A

6. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION 

6.1. Corporate Priorities and Performance
6.1.1. The council’s strategic priorities articulated within the Corporate Plan, Barnet 2024 include:

 Collaboration with local, regional and national partners to make Barnet the place 
of opportunity and a place where people can improve their quality of life and 
where responsibility is shared fairly

 Helping people to help themselves, recognising that prevention is better than cure

59



4

 Delivering services efficiently to ensure value for money for the taxpayer

6.1.2 The proposed new service delivery model is consistent with the council’s corporate 
priorities and strategic vision, and is aimed at improving service quality, delivering better 
outcomes for service users, and ensuring resources are deployed effectively to achieve 
the optimal benefit.

6.2. Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability)

6.2.1 The table below shows the current annual value of the contract:

HOME Apthorp 
Care Centre

Meadowside 
Lodge

Dell Field 
Court

GRAND TOTAL

Total cost per 
care home PA

£1,700,181 £1,075,752 £586,888 £3,362,821

6.2.2 The costs outlined above will be met from the Adult Social Care budget.

6.2.3 In the medium to long-term (three to five years), it is expected that efficiencies will be 
realised and higher occupancy levels established.

6.3. Social Value 

6.3.1 The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 requires people who commission public 
services to think about how they can also secure wider social, economic and 
environmental benefits. 

6.3.2 Therefore, prior to initiating a procurement process, commissioners should consider 
whether and how the services they procure or the procurement methodology could 
secure additional value and benefits for their area or stakeholders. 

6.4 Legal and Constitutional References

6.4.1 The council and TFT agreed terms to end the contract by mutual agreement. 

6.4.2 Once the council and TFT reached a mutual agreement to terminate the contract, the 
council could award the contract to YCB under Regulation 12 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 (PCR). Regulation 12 of the PCR permits the award of contracts by 
the council to YCB where:

o The council exercises over YCB a control similar to that which it exercises over 
its own departments.

o More than 80% of the activities of YCB are carried out in the performance of 
tasks entrusted to it by the council

60



5

o There is no direct private capital participation in YCB

6.4.3 YCB is a subsidiary of The Barnet Group which is 100% owned and controlled by the 
council so the council can award contacts to YCB without conducting a competitive 
tendering exercise under the PCR.

6.4.4 The Terms of Reference for the Adults and Safeguarding Committee are set out in the 
council’s Constitution (Article 7, Section 7.5 Committees, Forums, Working Groups and 
Partnerships). The Adults and Safeguarding Committee has the following 
responsibilities:

 Responsibility for all matters relating to vulnerable adults, adult social care and 
leisure services.

 To receive reports on relevant performance information and risk on the services 
under the remit of the Committee.

 To recommend for approval fees and charges for those areas under the remit of 
the Committee.

6.4.5 The council has complied with its legal duties under the "Transfer of Undertakings 
(Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006" as amended by the "Collective 
Redundancies and Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014” (TUPE).

6.4.6 Local authorities are given powers under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 
(as amended) to dispose of land held by them in any manner they wish. An underlease 
is a disposal of land. S 123(2) states that, except with the consent of the Secretary of 
State, a council cannot dispose of land, other than for the grant of a term not exceeding 
seven years, for a consideration less than best that can reasonably be obtained. The 
underleases to be granted to YCB are an annual rent of £1 per annum but these are for 
a term of less than 7 years and consequently S123 (2) will not apply to these disposals.

6.4.7 The council’s Constitution, Article 10 - Decision making, Table A sets out the 
authorisation thresholds and delegated powers of officers for land and property 
transactions.  Financial arrangements of up to £181.302 can be approved by an officer 
with the delegated authority as per the council’s scheme of delegations. Unless it is for 
the disposal of land or property for a less than best consideration, in which case it must 
be reported to the Assets, Regeneration and Growth Committee. Although the rental is 
at a pound, this requirement is satisfied as the underleases are linked to the care 
contract.

6.5 Risk Management

6.5.1 As part of the ongoing support offer, the Care Quality Team has provided a high level of 
support to the care homes, particularly to Apthorp Care Centre, in order to drive up 
quality standards. 

6.5.2 The council has also established a weekly recovery group meeting to develop a robust 
contingency plan for the services, with programme management and regular reviews by 
the Joint Commissioning Service and Care Quality Team, through the weekly 

61



6

mobilisation group meetings.  

6.5.3 The council has an established approach to risk management, which is set out in the 
Risk Management Framework. Key corporate risks are assessed regularly and reported 
to the Performance and Contract Management Committee on a quarterly basis. 

6.6 Equalities and Diversity 

6.6.1 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 sets out the public sector equality duty which obliges 
the council to have due regard to the need to: eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment, victimisation; advance equality of opportunity between those covered by 
the Equalities Act and those not covered e.g. between disabled and non-disabled people; 
and foster good relations between these groups. The protected characteristics are age, 
disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; religion or belief; sex; sexual 
orientation.

6.6.2 By section 149(2) of the Equality Act 2010, the duty also applies to ‘a person, who is not 
a public authority but who exercises public functions and therefore must, in the exercise 
of those functions, have due regard to the general equality duty'. This means that the 
council, The Barnet Group LTD, Your Choice (Barnet) Limited and Barnet Homes LTD 
will be required to demonstrate having due regard to the general equality duty.

6.7 Corporate Parenting

6.7.1 In line with Children and Social Work Act 2017, the council has a duty to consider 
Corporate Parenting Principles in decision-making across the council.

6.7.2 There are no implications for Corporate Parenting in relation to this report.

6.8 Consultation and Engagement

6.8.1 YCB and the council has engaged and worked closely with residents and their carers 
and relatives, as well as with staff in order to ensure the safe implementation of the 
proposed delivery model with a view to minimising disruption and risks to residents. 

6.9 Insight

6.9.1 The proposed model of delivery provides an opportunity for the council to develop 
residential and day care services further, in line with its medium to long-term strategic 
objectives, including increasing the supply of nursing beds in line with rising demand.

6.9.2 Furthermore, working with YCB as a strategic partner will enable the council to acquire 
significant in-depth information about the operational aspects of service delivery, which 
would serve to inform any future procurement exercise or contract negotiations.

7 BACKGROUND PAPERS
7.1 Cabinet Resources Committee; 24 June 2013: Catalyst Contract Renegotiation – Future 

Role of The Fremantle Trust in Care Provision 
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s9235/CRC%20Fremantle%20Report.pdf

62

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s9235/CRC%20Fremantle%20Report.pdf


Summary
This report provides an update on the Adults Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 
which was launched on 10 June 2019 and an overview of key activities achieved and 
planned. The Committee is asked to note the report.

Officers Recommendations 

1. The Committee is asked to note this progress update.

Adults and Safeguarding Committee

19 September 2019

 

Title 
Adults Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Hub (MASH) Update

Report of Chairman of Adults and Safeguarding Committee

Wards All

Status Public

Urgent No

Key No

Enclosures                         None

Officer Contact Details 

Monica Przyzycka, Head of Assessment and Prevention
monica.przyzycka@barnet.gov.uk 
Nadine Allen, MASH Project Manager
nadine.allen@barnet.gov.uk 

63

AGENDA ITEM 11

mailto:monica.przyzycka@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:nadine.allen@barnet.gov.uk


2

1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED 

Introduction

1.1. The annual delivery plan sets out the key activities for delivering the Adults and
Safeguarding Committee’s priorities within the Corporate Plan 2019-2024, along with key 
indicators and risks to help monitor and manage performance. The establishment of an 
Adults MASH supports the delivery of the priority ‘Safeguarding adults at risk of abuse 
and neglect’ for 2019/20.

1.2. This report provides an update for the Committee on the establishment and performance 
of the Adults MASH following its initial launch on 10 June 2019. The MASH is being 
launched in phases.

1.3. The initial phase has included:

 Co-location of Adult Social Care Urgent Response Team, Learning Disabilities 
Duty Team, Social Care Direct and a Solace Independent Domestic Violence 
Advisor

 Agreed multi-agency processes and timescales for responding to referrals with 
clear standards for virtual and physical partners

 One single point of access for all safeguarding referrals

 Regular multi-agency care management meetings

1.4. The next phase will see the co-location of the Metropolitan Police and Family Service’s 
MASH.

Aims

1.5. The Adults MASH aims to deliver a better coordinated, responsive multi-agency risk 
assessment approach to safeguard adults at risk in Barnet. The quality and speed of 
decision making in relation to safeguarding concerns will be enhanced through better 
information sharing between agencies with a truly multi-agency focus on better outcomes 
for adults at risk.

The MASH Model - Physical and Virtual Working

1.6. The Adults MASH brings together knowledge and expertise from across Adult Social 
Care and key partner agencies. Leads from each team or agency work collaboratively on 
the screening of safeguarding concerns and provide information to support safeguarding 
decisions and enquiries. The Adults MASH is based in the secure office space in the 
Council’s new Colindale office.

64

http://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/corporate_plan_-_barnet_2024.pdf
http://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/corporate_plan_-_barnet_2024.pdf


3

1.7. Through engagement and the co-design of the MASH model with teams and agencies it 
was established that most partners were unable to commit a physical dedicated resource 
within the MASH. The risks associated with this have been mitigated through the 
identification of safeguarding lead contacts within these agencies (i.e. GP practices) who 
are required to respond to information requests within set timescales.

1.8. Current virtual partners in the MASH are:

 Barnet Metropolitan Police

 Barnet Clinical Commissioning Group

 NHS Community Health/GPs

 NHS Hospital Trusts

 Barnet, Enfield and Haringey Mental Health Trust

 Barnet Mencap

 Barnet Homes

 London Fire Brigade

 London Ambulance

1.9. The Barnet Enfield Haringey Mental Health Trust has agreed to provide a laptop with 
access to their records management system, RIO, to assist with the screening of 
concerns and information gathering within the MASH. This is currently being arranged.

1.10. There is an Independent Domestic Violence Advisor from Solace present in the MASH on 
a weekly basis and there have already been useful case discussions taking place which 
has aided the assessment and triage of cases. The Learning Disabilities Duty team are 
also co-located in the MASH and they bring their specialist expertise and knowledge to 
complex cases.

1.11. Partners are engaged to contribute to multi-agency meetings to discuss cases and share 
their expertise and knowledge to bring about better quality decisions on referrals within 
the MASH. 

1.12. Further links are being established with the Westminster Drug Project, Community 
Rehabilitation Company, Probation Service and voluntary and community sector 
organisations.

1.13. The effectiveness and success of this model will be continually monitored as the MASH 
operates and any issues will be reported through governance channels.

65



4

Governance

1.14. Information sharing across partners within the Adults MASH is supported by the London 
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Policies and Procedures Data Sharing Agreement and a local 
MASH protocol.

1.15. The Adults MASH is also governed by a monthly multi-agency operational group and a 
quarterly steering group and reports to Adult Social Care senior management and the 
Barnet Safeguarding Adults Board.  There is also a Professional lead for Safeguarding 
who escalates complex cases to the DASS. 

1.16. The first Operational Group met in July and was well attended with good representation 
from across the partnership including a GP safeguarding lead. There was positive 
engagement and feedback on the MASH following launch.

1.17. An overview of how adult safeguarding activities are managed and overseen within the 
Adults and Health Directorate has also taken place. The Professional lead for 
Safeguarding working closely with the Principal Social Worker, escalate any concerns 
about the MASH and safeguarding casework to the DASS. There is also a 
comprehensive learning and development programme for safeguarding available to staff 
within the Directorate, and also for key partners and agencies. The safeguarding 
arrangements in the Directorate will shortly be subject to a planned Internal Audit. 

Performance and Staffing

1.18. Anecdotal evidence from other Adult MASHs indicates that an increase in safeguarding 
referrals can occur following the establishment of a MASH. Whilst this has not occurred 
yet, the impact of the MASH will be closely monitored.

1.19. Hence, we will review the staffing of the MASH as the pathways are embedded and 
further tracking of activity is done. For example, the safeguarding referrals from the 
Hospital Trusts are no longer sent to the Hospital Social Work teams and instead are 
referred to the MASH. This will help ensure that we have refocussed resources within the 
Directorate appropriately. 

1.20. There continues to be quality assurance of all safeguarding activities by experienced 
social work managers in the MASH and by the Head of Assessment and Prevention.  
There is additional specialist expert guidance and capacity from the Quality in Practice 
Team with ‘live care work auditing’ to ensure that the good effective safeguarding 
practice, decision making and recording is maintained during this period of development. 

1.21. The adult MASH continues to develop a bespoke performance monitoring tool using 
Mosaic and this is monitored as part of the project plan. 

66



5

Communications

1.22 A series of briefings sessions were delivered and communications circulated to inform 
key stakeholders about the MASH prior to its launch. Further communications activities 
will be undertaken to ensure partners are fully engaged and informed including 
improvements to online information and the finalising of a referral webform.

Further Activities

1.23 There is a project plan in place for the next phase of activities which have been identified 
to strengthen and build upon the initial implementation of the Adults MASH:

 Improve information systems access (i.e. RIO)

 Enhanced performance reporting

 Further communications activities with key partners

 Development of internet and intranet pages and establishment of safeguarding 
referral webform

 Metropolitan Police and Family Service MASH co-location at Colindale when Family 
Services move from the North London Business Park office.

 Expand links with other organisations including the voluntary and community sector 
and establish physical co-location where possible.

1.24 Our aim continues to be to ensure that the Adults MASH is as effective as possible. To   
that end, we will continue to work with partners to increase co-location as much as 
possible and ensure virtual working is continually improved.

2  REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 To ensure the Committee is kept informed and updated on the progress of the Adults 
MASH.

3  ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED

3.1 Not applicable

4 POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION

4.1 Not applicable

67



6

5 IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION 

5.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance

5.1.1 The Adults MASH supports the 2019/20 priority ‘Safeguarding adults at risk of abuse and 
neglect’.

5.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability)

5.2.1 The Adults MASH has been established through the use of existing staff resources within 
Adult Social Care. With the use of enhanced performance monitoring in the MASH, 
safeguarding volumes will be vigorously assessed to identify any issues around resource 
capacity and demand.

5.2.2 These issues will be reported through the established governance channels set out in 
this report.

5.3 Social Value 
 
5.3.1 The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 requires people who commission public 

services to think about how they can also secure wider social, economic and 
environmental benefits.  Before commencing a procurement process, commissioners 
should think about whether the services they are going to buy, or the way they are going 
to buy them, could secure these benefits for their area or stakeholders.  The council’s 
contract management framework oversees that contracts deliver the expected services to 
the expected quality for the agreed cost.  Requirements for a contractor to deliver 
activities in line with Social Value will be monitored through this contract management 
process.

5.4 Legal and Constitutional References

5.4.1 The Care Act 2014 put safeguarding duties onto a statutory footing, and the relevant care 
and support statutory guidance requires local authorities to create strong multi-agency 
partnerships that provide timely and effective prevention of and responses to abuse or 
neglect.

5.4.2 The Council’s Constitution (Article 7, Article 7 – Committees, Forums, Working Groups 
and Partnerships) sets out the responsibilities of all council Committees. The 
responsibilities of the Adults and Safeguarding Committee include:

 
(1) Responsibility for all matters relating to vulnerable adults, adult social care and 

leisure services.
(2) Work with partners on the Health and Well Being Board to ensure that social care, 

interventions are effectively and seamlessly joined up with public health and 
healthcare and promote the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and its associated sub 
strategies.

(3) To submit to the Policy and Resources Committee proposals relating to the 
Committee’s budget for the following year in accordance with the budget timetable.

(4) To make recommendations to Policy and Resources Committee on issues relating 
to the budget for the Committee, including virements or underspends and 

68



7

overspends on the budget. No decisions which result in amendments to the agreed 
budget may be made by the Committee unless and until the amendment has been 
agreed by Policy and Resources Committee.

(5) To receive reports on relevant performance information and risk on the services 
under the remit of the Committee.

 
5.4.3 The council’s Financial Regulations can be found at:

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s46515/17FinancialRegulations.doc.pdf 

5.5 Risk Management

5.5.1 The council has an established approach to risk management, which is set out in the 
Risk Management Framework.  Risks are reviewed quarterly (as a minimum) and any 
high level (scoring 15+) risks are reported to the relevant Theme Committee and Policy 
and Resources Committee.  In addition, the Annual Delivery Plan risks associated with 
the priorities for this Committee are outlined in the report.

5.5.2 Delays to the co-location of the Metropolitan Police and Family Services to the 
MASH. Further delays to the move of these teams to Colindale could impact on the 
quality and speed of decision making within the MASH and delay opportunities for closer 
collaborative working, learning and sharing across teams. This could lead to poorer 
outcomes for adults at risk of abuse, harm or neglect. This will be mitigated through 
strengthened links between teams through regular meetings at both MASH locations and 
ensuring virtual contacts are able to respond rapidly to requests.

5.5.3 Increase in safeguarding referrals. Increase in the volume of safeguarding referrals 
could lead to teams being unable to manage the demand which could impact the speed 
in processing of concerns and the quality of the outcomes for adults at risk. Close 
performance monitoring and demand management will be required to ensure capacity 
within the MASH is sufficient. Any issues will be escalated through governance channels.

5.6 Equalities and Diversity 

5.6.1 Section 49 of the Equalities Act 2010 introduced the Public Sector Equality Duty, which 
requires that a public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to 
the need to:

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under that Act;

(b)  advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.

5.6.2 The protected characteristics under the Equality Act are:

 Age
 Disability

69

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s46515/17FinancialRegulations.doc.pdf


8

 Gender reassignment
 Pregnancy and maternity
 Race
 Religion or belief
 Sex
 Sexual orientation

5.6.3 The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate considerations of equality into
day to day business and to keep them under review in decision making, the
design of policies and the delivery of services.

5.7 Corporate Parenting

5.7.1 In line with the Children and Social Work Act 2017, the council has a duty to consider
Corporate Parenting Principles in decision-making across the council. There are no
implications for Corporate Parenting in relation to this report.

5.8 Consultation and Engagement

5.8.1 The development of the MASH involved the engagement and consultation of Adult Social 
Care’s key agencies and teams to co-design the referral process, thresholds framework 
and operating principles of the MASH.

5.8.2 The establishment of an Adults MASH supports the delivery of the priority ‘Safeguarding 
adults at risk of abuse and neglect’ for 2019/20 as part of the Corporate Plan. 
Consultation on the Corporate Plan was carried out in Summer 2018.

5.9 Insight

5.9.1 Not applicable

6 BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 Adults and Safeguarding Committee Priorities, 2019-2024

6.2 London Multi-Agency Adult Safeguarding policy and procedures – updated April 2019

6.3 Progress Report - Adults Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH), 4 June 2018 (Item 9)

70

http://admin.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/adults_delivery_plan_approved_by_committee.pdf
http://admin.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/adults_delivery_plan_approved_by_committee.pdf
http://admin.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/adults_delivery_plan_approved_by_committee.pdf
http://admin.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/adults_delivery_plan_approved_by_committee.pdf
http://admin.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/adults_delivery_plan_approved_by_committee.pdf
http://admin.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/adults_delivery_plan_approved_by_committee.pdf
http://londonadass.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/2019.04.23-Review-of-the-Multi-Agency-Adult-Safeguarding-policy-and-procedures-2019-final-1-1.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=9472&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=9472&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=9472&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=9472&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=9472&Ver=4


Summary
The Barnet Safeguarding Adults Board (BSAB) is a statutory multi-agency group that meets 
four times a year and reports annually on its work.  The Board was established in 2002 to 
ensure there is a multi-agency approach to safeguarding adults at risk of abuse within Barnet. 
Following the passing of the Care Act 20141, the Barnet Safeguarding Adults Board became 
a statutory body with a number of legally enforceable duties from April 2015.

The Board’s vision is for all adults at risk in Barnet to be safeguarded from abuse and neglect 
in a way that supports them to make choices and have control about how they want to live. 

The Care Act 2014 2 prescribes that ‘For each financial year, the Safeguarding Adults 
Board must publish a strategic plan in accordance with Schedule 2 of the Care Act 2014.  

1 The Care Act 2014 – www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents

2 The Care Act 2014 – Schedule 2 - www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/schedule/2

Adults and Safeguarding Committee 
 19th September 2019

Title Barnet Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults Board Annual 
Report 2018-19

Report of
Fiona Bateman, Independent Chair of the Safeguarding 
Adults Board 

Wards All

Status Public

Urgent No

Key No

Enclosures                         Appendix A: Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-
19

Officer Contact Details 

Emma Coles, Safeguarding Adults Board Business Manager
e-mail: emma.coles@barnet.gov.uk
Tel: 0208-359 5737

71

AGENDA ITEM 12

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents
mailto:emma.coles@barnet.gov.uk


As soon as is feasible after the end of each financial year, an SAB must publish a report 
on—
(a)what it has done during that year to achieve its objective,

(b)what it has done during that year to implement its strategy,

(c)what each member has done during that year to implement the strategy,

(d)the findings of the reviews arranged by it under section 44 (safeguarding adults reviews) 
which have concluded in that year (whether or not they began in that year),

(e)the reviews arranged by it under that section which are ongoing at the end of that year 
(whether or not they began in that year),

(f)what it has done during that year to implement the findings of reviews arranged by it 
under that section, and

(g)where it decides during that year not to implement a finding of a review arranged by it 
under that section, the reasons for its decision.’

The Board’s governance arrangements ensure that the Board reports on its work to the 
Council through the Adults and Safeguarding Committee and, due to the important multi-
agency arrangements and the role of health, the Board’s Annual Report is noted by the 
Health and Wellbeing Board as well as each partners executive Board.  The report 
documents the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board in 2018-19.  It outlines membership 
of the Board, work of the Safeguarding Adults Service User Forum and partner agencies, 
work plan progress and analysis of safeguarding alerts received 2018-19.

Recommendations 
1. That the Adults and Safeguarding Committee comment on the Safeguarding 

Adults Board Annual Report 2018-19.

2. That the Committee note that following the Adults and Safeguarding Committee 
meeting on 19th September 2019, the Annual Report will be published on the 
Council website.

72



1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED 

Background

1.1 The Care Act 2014 (the Act)3 places on a statutory footing some of the 
safeguarding obligations that were previously located in guidance.  The Act 
requires each local authority to establish a Local Safeguarding Adult Board 
(SAB) for their area pursuant to Section 43(1).  The Barnet Safeguarding Board 
was established in 2002 and from 1 April 2015 it adopted the following terms of 
reference.

1.2 The statutory objective of the SAB, prescribed in Section 43(2) of the Act is to 
help and protect adults in its area (whether or not ordinarily resident there) who:

(a) Have needs for care and support (whether or not the local authority is 
meeting any of those needs),

(b) Are experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect, and
(c) As a result of those needs are unable to protect themselves against the 

abuse or neglect or the risk of it. 

1.3 The SAB must achieve this statutory objective by co-ordinating and ensuring 
the effectiveness of what each of its members does.

1.4 The SAB may do anything which appears to it to be necessary or desirable for 
the purpose of achieving this statutory objective.

1.5 The Act prescribes membership of the Board and includes a range of key 
partners including the Local Authority that establishes the Board, the Clinical 
Commissioning Group, the Chief Officer of Police, any such persons prescribed 
in regulations and such other person which the Local Authority considers 
appropriate having consulted Board members.

1.6 For each financial year, the SAB must publish a strategic plan in accordance 
with Schedule 2 of the Act, BSAB refer to the strategic plan as the business 
plan.  

1.7 The SAB has to report on its work, via its annual report, to elected members via 
the Adults and Safeguarding Committee and then to partners and members at 
the Health and Wellbeing Board.  Additionally, each agency represented on the 
Board will present the business plan to their agency executive Board.  

SAB Annual Report 
1.8 The Barnet Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report provides details about 

Safeguarding work carried out by the Board and partners from 1st April 2018 to 
31st March 2019.  The report outlines membership of the Board, analysis of 
safeguarding alerts received 2018-19, work of partner agencies and work plan 
progress. 

3 The Care Act 2014 – www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents

73



1.9 During 2018-19 the BSAB published the outcomes of one case and continued 
to work on a review into another where there were opportunities for learning. 

The findings of the completed review were disseminated across the partnership 
using a 7-minute briefing. In addition, Barnet BSAB continues to work closely 
with safeguarding leads on a national and regional basis to ensure that our 
strategies, policy and practice guidance is modelled on best practice arising 
from all relevant SAR findings and research.

1.10 Below are key highlights from the annual report:

1.11 1,709 Safeguarding Adult concerns were raised in Barnet in 2018/19, an 
increase of 34 (2%) compared to the total recorded in 2017/18 (1,675).  Not all 
concerns indicate a risk of abuse to an adult. They can instead indicate a need 
for increased care and support or other help. However, where abuse is 
suspected, concerns are referred for an investigation according to the London 
multi-agency safeguarding procedures. Of the 1,709 safeguarding concerns in 
2018/19, 722 proceeded to an enquiry. This represents a concern-to-enquiry 
conversion rate of 42%. This compares with a conversion rate of 40% in 
2017/18 and of 28% in 2016/17.

1.12 The highest number of safeguarding concerns were raised from those 
categorised as ‘Agency’ (28% of the total concerns raised) -  this is lower than 
the previous year when they made up for 45% of the total concerns. The term 
‘Agency’ includes organisations such as the NHS, Police and Council adult 
social care. Of the Agency concerns, the majority were raised by the Police 
(17% of the 502 concerns raised by ‘Agency’). Other NHS raised the second 
highest number of concerns (12% of the total concerns raised).  

1.13 Progress against the SAB priorities:
Priority 1: Establish practice across the partnership agencies which reflect the 
Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) principles

1.13.1 We identified within our strategic plan that we would need to evaluate local 
knowledge of, and compliance with, MSP and Care Act safeguarding duties.  
We carried out an audit of adult safeguarding training to seek assurance 
that providers are compliant with the Mental Capacity Act (MCA), 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) and Care Act duties, including 
new types of abuse, as well as assurance that training materials are 
compliant with statutory duties and minimum standards for training.

1.13.2 In December 2018 Barnet hosted a North Central London (NCL) Challenge 
and Support audit event (Barnet, Enfield, Haringey, Islington and Camden). 
37 agencies, including 7 from the Voluntary, Faith and Charity sector 
completed a self-evaluation of their organisation’s ability to recognise and 
respond effectively to safeguarding risks. Findings were collated and 
reported to a joint challenge event across the NCL region which bought 
together all statutory partners to look at the challenges partners face and 
what good practice could be shared to deal with these issues as.  We also 
held discussions on what could be done internally as well as in partnership 

74

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ab_sar_7_min_briefing.pdf


to improve our safeguarding response, considering what the obstacles are 
and the measures we need to consider.  The key themes from NCL partners 
with regards to support they would like to receive from the BSABs were:

 Sharing information and resources – multi-agency website, easily 
accessible resources for staff, learning from SARs, training resources

 Joint working – training initiatives, alignment across 5 boroughs
 Supporting partners in the delivery of MSP
 SARs – identifying gaps, more opportunities for learning

1.13.3 In addition, to this work the Performance and Quality Assurance (PQA) 
group received case audit evaluations and reports from agencies on:  
Mental Capacity Act, repeat safeguarding referrals, modern slavery, 
homelessness strategy and the police safeguarding reporting (MERLIN).

1.13.4 The BSAB partners now routinely record and report data each quarter in line 
with the National Safeguarding Adults Collection and MSP outcomes 
framework for scrutiny by the PQA and onward reporting to the BSAB. This 
ensures that data and qualitative reports reflect feedback provided by adults 
who have been supported in line duties under s42 Care Act. This will 
continue to be reported quarterly to BSAB and it is expected that more 
partners will be able to contribute to this data as MSP becomes more firmly 
embedded across partner agencies. 

1.13.5 Each quarter, designated safeguarding leads from across BSAB’s partner 
agencies come together to review safeguarding practice in Barnet. In 
response to members feedback we have themed meetings to ensure that 
discussions are focused on a specific topic or concern. Each meeting also 
includes opportunities for designated leads to hear directly from adults at 
risk through case studies relevant to the topic under discussion and/or 
questions posed by our service user forum 

Priority 2: Adults at Risk are heard, understood and respected. Their 
experiences and views shape continuous improvement. 

1.13.6 This priority seeks assurance that the Board partners are involving:
 Adults at risk
 Carers
 Family and friends following consultation with the adult
 Advocate/appropriate adults
 Referrers

1.13.7 In addition, new report development has enabled an improved level of 
analysis and review of concluded section 42 enquiries by abuse type, 
source, location and outcome. Furthermore, newly-designed reports have 
enabled more precise monitoring and audit of safeguarding adults’ concerns 
which have resulted in no further action, which are continuously reviewed.

1.13.8 We carried out a dip sample audit of repeat safeguarding referrals to ensure 
that the adults were being appropriately safeguarded.  The findings showed 
that the cases reviewed were from different agencies and related to different 

75



events and only one went on to a Section 42 enquiry.  This now forms part 
of the BSAB work programme and the data is presented quarterly within the 
Integrated Monitoring Report as well as a dip sample audit being carried out 
every 6 months and reported back to the PQA. 

1.13.9 We carried out awareness raising with service users on community safety, 
independent travel, dealing with hate crime on transport, financial abuse and 
how to stay safe on-line.

Priority 3: Advance equality of opportunity, including access to justice for 
‘adults at risk’

1.13.10 The BSAB received bi-annual reports on the Domestic Violence Strategy 
against Girls and Women action plan.

1.13.11 One of the tasks for this year was to engage with GP’s and primary 
health care services to increase uptake of Identification and Referral to 
Improve Safety (IRIS) programme.  The BBSAB worked with the 
Community Safety Partnership, Public Health and CCG and the IRIS 
project team to gain funding to continue the project into year 2. This will 
ensure that GPs are better informed, offering a safe place to someone 
who may be at risk of domestic abuse and providing guidance on how 
they can protect themselves and their families.  The IRIS programme for 
GPs has increased access to legal support for people experiencing 
domestic abuse. 

1.13.12 The Local Authority and CCG commission advocates who can support 
adults and ensure that their voice is heard throughout the safeguarding 
process or other engagement with services, such as Court Processes, if 
they lack capacity to understand and participate in them.

2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 For each financial year, the SAB must publish an annual report in accordance 
with Schedule 2 of the Act.  The plan will be published on the Council’s website.

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED

3.1 The BSAB are required to develop and publish a Strategic Plan as a statutory 
requirement.

4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION

4.1  The Barnet Safeguarding Adults Board Strategic Plan is a public document 
which can be accessed through the Council’s website.  The Board’s Annual Report 
is due to be reported to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 3rd October 2019 for 
noting as well as each partners executive Board.

4.2 Corporate Priorities and Performance

76



4.2.1 The Corporate Plan, Barnet 2024, outlines the Council’s commitment to 
safeguarding which underpins everything we do and aims to protect the most 
vulnerable people, both children and adults, from avoidable harm or abuse.  

4.2.2 The Corporate Plan strategic objectives states that the Council, working with 
local, regional and national partners, will strive to ensure that Barnet is the 
place: -

 Of opportunity, where people can further their quality of life

 Where people are helped to help themselves, recognising that 
prevention is better than cure

 Where responsibility is shared, fairly

 Where services are delivered efficiently to get value for money for the 
tax payer.

5 IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION

5.1.1 The Council’s aim is to work with partners such as the police, the NHS and with 
residents to ensure that Barnet remains a place where people want to live and 
where people feel safe.  

5.2.1 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, 
Property, Sustainability)

5.2.2 There are no additional resource implications arising from the 
recommendations of this report.  The activities listed will be managed within the 
appropriate organisation’s existing budgets.

5.2.3 Safeguarding training is currently provided by the Council’s Adults and 
Communities Delivery Unit and this training is mandatory for all Adults and 
Communities staff.  Safeguarding training is also offered to all care providers 
commissioned through Adults and Communities and the provision is covered 
within the Adults and Communities budgets.

5.2.4 The current annual budget for the BSAB is £89,000, which covers the post of 
Independent Chair and Safeguarding Adults Business Manager as well as the 
delivery of the Board priorities including training and communications. Each 
partner has been asked to provide a contribution towards Board costs; so far 
the following contributions have been agreed:

Table 1: BSAB Partner Financial Contributions 2018/19
Statutory Partner Contribution
London Borough of Barnet £53,500
Barnet Clinical Commissioning Group £20,000
Barnet Enfield Haringey Mental Health 
Trust

£5,000

Metropolitan Police £5,000

77



Central London Community Health £5,000
Non-statutory Partner Contribution
London Fire Brigade £500

5.3 Social Value 
5.3.1 The BSAB supports the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 by ensuring 

that robust safeguarding procedures are in place throughout the borough.  The 
council ensures that care providers commissioned to work with adults 
accessing social care services have the required skills and training to support 
effective safeguarding throughout the borough and the Board aims to publicise 
the key issues surrounding safeguarding within the Borough to strengthen the 
public’s awareness of safeguarding issues. 

5.4 Legal and Constitutional References
5.4.1 The Care Act 2014 (the Act)4 places on a statutory footing some of the 

safeguarding obligations that were previously located in guidance.  The Act 
requires each local authority to establish a Local Safeguarding Adult Board 
(SAB) for their area pursuant to Section 43(1).  

5.4.2 For each financial year, the SAB must publish an annual report in accordance 
with Schedule 2 of the Act.  The plan will be published on the Council’s website.

5.4.3 The responsibilities of the Adults and Safeguarding Committee are contained 
within the Council’s Constitution – Article 7, section 7.5. Specific responsibilities 
of those powers, duties and functions of the Council in relation to adult social 
care include the following specific function:

 Responsibility for all matters relating to vulnerable adults, adult social 
care and leisure services. 

 Working with partners on the Health and Wellbeing Board to ensure that 
social care interventions are effectively and seamlessly joined up with 
public health and healthcare, and promote the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy and its associated sub strategies. 

 Ensuring that the local authority’s safeguarding responsibilities are taken 
into account.

5.5    Risk Management
5.5.3 A failure to keep adults at risk of abuse safe from avoidable harm represents 

not only a significant risk to residents but also to the reputation of the Council.  
Although safeguarding must be the concern of all agencies working with 
vulnerable adults, the Local Authority is the lead agency.  As such, both 
members and senior officers carry a level of accountability for safeguarding 
practice in Barnet.  Governance structures are in place to ensure that other lead 
stakeholders, including the NHS and the police, are represented to ensure that 
practice across the partnership meets safeguarding requirements.  

4 The Care Act 2014 – www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents

78



5.6 Equalities and Diversity 
5.6.3 Equality and diversity issues are a mandatory consideration in decision making 

in the Council pursuant to the Equality Act 2010.  This means the Council and 
all other organisations acting on its behalf must have due regard to the equality 
duties when exercising a public function.  The broad purpose of this duty is to 
integrate considerations of equality and good relations into day to day business 
requiring equality considerations to be reflected into the design of policies and 
the delivery of services and for these to be kept under review.

5.6.4 Section 149 of the Act imposes a duty on ‘public authorities’ and other bodies 
when exercising public functions to have due regard to the need to:

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under the Act

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it 

5.6.5 The annual report provides progress against the business plan 2018-19 which 
was the first year of the 2018-21 Strategic Plan. Our key priorities are: 
• Establish consistent practice across partnership agencies which reflect 

the ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ principles'
• Adults at risk’ are heard and understood and their experiences and views 

shape continuous improvement
• Advance equality of opportunity, including access to justice for ‘Adults at 

Risk’     

5.6.6 The Care Act Guidance identifies discriminatory abuse as a specific form of 
abuse which includes harassment because of race, gender, gender identity, 
age, disability, sexual orientation or religion

5.7 Consultation and Engagement
5.7.1 The report will assist us in identifying any improvements that need to be made 

to our services or, to policy and procedure. This will be done in full consultation 
with relevant groups before any changes are recommended and implemented.

5.7.2 The SAB has to report on its work to elected members via the Adults and 
Safeguarding Committee and then to partners and members at the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  Additionally, each agency represented on the Board will 
present the annual report to their agency executive Board.  

5.8 Insight
5.8.1 The annual report was developed using insight from the Local Authority Mosaic 

system and contributions from the SAB partners.

5.9 Corporate Parenting
5.9.1 No implications applicable in the context of this report. 

79



6    BACKGROUND PAPERS
6.1 Barnet Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2017-18 – Adults and 

Safeguarding Committee 28th November 2018:

6.2 Barnet Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2016-17 – Adults and 
Safeguarding Committee 19th September 2017:
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s42236/Barnet%20Safeguarding%20
Adults%20Board%20Annual%20Report%202016-17.pdf

6.3 Barnet Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2015-16 – Adults and 
Safeguarding Committee 19th September 2016:
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s34547/Barnet%20Multi-
Agency%20Safeguarding%20Adults%20Board%20Annual%20Report%201516
%20Cover%20Report%20v04.pdf

6.4 Barnet Safeguarding Adults Board Business Plan 2016-18 – Adults and 
Safeguarding Committee 16th June 2016 – Item 10 Barnet Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Adults Board Business Plan 2016-18

6.5 Barnet Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2014/15 – Adults and 
Safeguarding Committee 16th September 2015 – Item 7 Barnet Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2014/15 

80

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s49696/Barnet%20Multi-Agency%20Safeguarding%20Adults%20Board%20Annual%20Report%201718%20Cover%20Report%20FINAL.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s49696/Barnet%20Multi-Agency%20Safeguarding%20Adults%20Board%20Annual%20Report%201718%20Cover%20Report%20FINAL.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s42236/Barnet%20Safeguarding%20Adults%20Board%20Annual%20Report%202016-17.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s42236/Barnet%20Safeguarding%20Adults%20Board%20Annual%20Report%202016-17.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s34547/Barnet%20Multi-Agency%20Safeguarding%20Adults%20Board%20Annual%20Report%201516%20Cover%20Report%20v04.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s34547/Barnet%20Multi-Agency%20Safeguarding%20Adults%20Board%20Annual%20Report%201516%20Cover%20Report%20v04.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s34547/Barnet%20Multi-Agency%20Safeguarding%20Adults%20Board%20Annual%20Report%201516%20Cover%20Report%20v04.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=8671&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=8671&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=8671&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=8360&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=8360&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=698&MId=8360&Ver=4


Pa
ge

1

Barnet Safeguarding Adults 
Board Annual Report 2018-19

Say NO to abuse

81



Pa
ge

2

Foreword from the Independent Chair Fiona 
Bateman
I am pleased to introduce the Annual Report for Barnet’s 
Safeguarding Adults Board. The report sets out how the Board, 
collectively and through the work of partner agencies, has 
delivered on our priorities identified following extensive 
consultation in 2018. I am very grateful for the work put in by 
the members of the Board’s sub-groups who have worked 
extremely hard to progress tasks under the 2018-19 BSAB’s 
work plan. This report provides a summary of that work and 
provides a picture of who is safeguarded in Barnet, the risks 
they most commonly face and how successfully partners work 
with adults at risk and their support network to reduce or 
remove risk and empower them to protect themselves and 
report abuse. 
Throughout the year, I have remained impressed by the level 
of commitment of partners to supporting practice 
improvements. As an active member of Health and Wellbeing 
Board, Community Safety Partnership and, in the first quarter 
of 2019 Barnet’s Safeguarding Children Partnership I have had 
the opportunity to explore new opportunities for working more 
collaboratively to those at risk of abuse and neglect in Barnet. 
My focus, as the BSAB Chair, continues to be to develop 
stronger links with organisations and partnerships to widen the 
expertise and reach of the work that the BSAB does. During the 
year we have secured active engagement from social care 
provider chairs into the work of the Board. I have also had the 
opportunity to meet with Barnet’s voluntary, community and 
faith sector, including attending their CEO network meetings 
and was very pleased to report that our revised voluntary sector 
self-audit organisational tool was not only adopted across 
London, but also encourage more than double the number of 

voluntary sector organisations to submit evaluations in time for 
the NCL challenge event in 2018. This gives us assurance that 
adults safeguarding is recognised as core to those agencies 
functions and provides firm foundations to build better 
engagement across this sector. 
As much of my time this year has been spent representing 
Barnet SAB at national and regional safeguarding meetings or 
at partnership meetings in Barnet, I thought it would assist to 
set out some of the key work areas and progress against these, 
particularly on issues of interest to our Board.   
1. Managing provider risk: London SAB is working on 

supporting the development of shared intelligence 
arrangements to understand the care market, facilitating 
commissioners to take a more proactive approach in 
supporting high quality safe care. Currently the professional 
steering group and commissioners are working to identify 
common elements. This should include terms of reference 
for local information sharing panels with a view to including 
these within the revised Pan London policy. 

2. Safeguarding ‘thresholds’: work continues nationally and 
regionally to achieve more consistent approach. The 
national workshops at the end of November were well 
attended and Barnet well represented. There were some 
very useful discussions and presentations. Reassuringly, 
though variation in recording practice was very evident, 
case examples indicated that frontline practice consistently 
ensured risk was reduced before determining no further 
action was required. There is however, must to do to 
improve a shared understanding and consistency across 
areas and disciplines. Learning from this event will need to 
be factored into BSAB’s and our partners’ training offer and 
we should also reflect on what assurance BSABs receive 

82



Pa
ge

3

on cases that don’t meet the threshold for an enquiry and 
pathways for those risks to be assessment and support 
provided. We are proposing to work across the NCL area 
linking this to a preventative work stream. 

3. Safeguarding Adult Reviews-embedding the learning: 
Nationally the focus is on ensuring consistency of standards 
within reports. NICE has provided links to their research 
findings and evidenced based practice standards or 
guidance on a range of safeguarding matters and advised 
BSABs that these should provide useful starting points for 
setting terms of reference for any review. Regionally 
London has now identified the SAR champions, their role 
will be to support SAR authors. 

4. Engagement with adults at risk in custody: The Independent 
Chair’s national network received a very useful report on 
engaging effectively with prisons in respect of safeguarding 
duties. Positive improvements were reported through the 
London SAB in partnerships with prisons, including on early 
identification of adults with care and support needs who 
may be at risk of abuse or neglect on release. This learning 
will prove directly useful to assist NPS and CRC colleagues 
to prevent safeguarding concerns arising. The leads from 
both agencies in Barnet have signalled their strong 
commitment to engaging with the BSAB to find ways to 
improve partnership working within Barnet for this cohort. 

5. Supporting homeless adults at risk. In addition to providing 
feedback for BSAB partners on Barnet’s homelessness 
strategy, I have been fortunate to have been asked to 
contribute to the work of ADASS and the LGA to the 
preparation of briefings to support frontline multi-agency risk 
assessment and protection planning.  This work will 
continue into 2019-20 with the aim of producing toolkits for 

practitioners to enable swifter recognition of risk and 
coordinated responses. 

Finally, I would once again like to play tribute to the hard work 
that takes place every day on the frontline and across the 
partnership. Staff, volunteers and carers should rightly feel 
proud of the contribution you all make. I look forward to working 
with you all in 2019-20. 

Fiona Bateman
Independent Chair of Barnet Safeguarding Adults Board

83



Pa
ge

4

Contents

Foreword from the Independent Chair Fiona 
Bateman.................................................................2

Barnet Safeguarding Adults Board: our vision and 
principles................................................................5

Population profile ...................................................6

Barnet safeguarding adults’ statistics ....................6

Social care provision in Barnet ............................31

Safeguarding Adults Board progress against 
business plan priorities 2018-21 ..........................32

Sub-groups’ of the Barnet BSAB .........................32

The Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards 2005 (MCAC/DoLS)..........................33

What our partners have contributed.....................35

Training ................................................................44

USEFUL CONTACTS ..........................................48

What should I do if I think someone is being 
abused? ...............................................................48

84



Pa
ge

5

Barnet Safeguarding Adults Board (BSAB): our 
vision and principles

Barnet BSAB Constitution 
The BSAB is dedicated to working to embed the ‘Making 
safeguarding personal’ principles across all organisations 
working to support adults at risk of abuse, neglect or 
exploitation. This requires working alongside the person at risk 
to understand how best to promote their well-being, whilst 
remaining mindful of statutory duties to protect the adult and 
the wider public from a perceived risk.

The BSAB Constitution outlines how through our case review 
and quality assurance frameworks, will receive assurance on 
the safeguarding arrangements of and between individual 
agencies, identify good practice and highlight any areas where 
inter-agency practice improvement is required. Where areas of 
improvement are identified, the BSAB will facilitate remedial 
actions and monitor the implementation of action plans to be 
able to demonstrate the impact of this change on the wellbeing 
of adults at risk in Barnet. Where improvement is not made, the 
BSAB will work within the regulatory framework to manage the 
impact to adults at risk of harm and abuse.

Barnet BSAB Strategy 2018-21
The Strategic Plan 2018-21 outlines the work to be 
undertaken by the BSAB. Our key priorities are: 

• Establish consistent practice across partnership 
agencies which reflect the ‘Making Safeguarding 
Personal’ principles'

• Adults at risk’ are heard and understood and their 
experiences and views shape continuous improvement

• Advance equality of opportunity, including access to 
justice for ‘Adults at Risk’     

The Barnet BSAB Strategy is available at:
www.barnet.gov.uk/safeguarding-adults-board

Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs)
Under the Care Act 2014, BSABs are responsible for arranging 
safeguarding adult reviews (SARs).  Each member of the BSAB 
is required to co-operate and contribute to the carrying out of a 
SAR with a view to:

 Identifying the lessons to be learnt from the adult’s 
case, and 

 Applying those lessons to future cases.

Each SAR seeks to determine what relevant agencies and 
individuals involved in the case might have done differently that 
could have prevented harm or death.  
Information is provided from across relevant agencies, but the 
process must also carefully consider how best to involve those 
affected, including family members, so that the BSAB has a full 
picture of events. 

The purpose is not to attribute blame to any individual or 
organisation, but rather understand what, if any, barriers 
prevented effective action from protecting the adult and what 
needs to be done to improve practice to prevent harm to other 
adults at risk of similar abuse, exploitation or neglect.  

85

http://www.barnet.gov.uk/safeguarding-adults-board


Pa
ge

6

A core BSAB responsibility is the promotion of effective 
learning and improvement actions to prevent future deaths or 
serious harm occurring to adults at risk of abuse, neglect or 
exploitation. During 2018-19 the BSAB published the outcomes 
of one case and continued to work on a review into another 
where there were opportunities for learning. 

In addition, Barnet BSAB continues to work closely with 
safeguarding leads on a national and regional basis to ensure 
that our strategies, policy and practice guidance is modelled on 
best practice arising from all relevant SAR findings and 
research. 

The findings of the completed review were disseminated across 
the partnership using a 7-minute briefing.

Population profile
The Barnet Joint Needs Strategic Assessment (JNSA) states 
that in 2019, the population of Barnet is estimated to be 
400,600 which is the largest of all the London boroughs. The 
borough’s overall population is projected to increase by around 
5% by 2030, taking the number of residents to approximately 
419,200.

The number of people aged 65 and over is projected to 
increase by 33% between 2018 and 2030, compared with a 2% 
decrease in the 0-19 age group and a 4% increase for working 
age adults aged 16-64.

Between 2018 and 2030, the greatest increase in the over 65 
population will occur in wards in the west of the borough 

(Colindale 91%; West Hendon 37% and Burnt Oak 33%), which 
are also amongst the most deprived wards.

The borough will become increasingly diverse, driven 
predominantly by growth within the existing population. Meeting 
the diverse needs of these growing communities may be a key 
challenge, as Colindale, Burnt Oak and West Hendon have 
increasingly diverse populations that are more than 50% Black, 
Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME).

With the growth of the older population in Barnet and the 
associated rise in the number of people living with long term 
conditions and living longer with disability, there is likely to be 
ongoing pressure on care provision within the borough.1

Barnet safeguarding adults’ statistics

1 Barnet Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing/health-and-wellbeing-key-
documents/joint-strategic-needs-assessment

86

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ab_sar_7_min_briefing.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing/health-and-wellbeing-key-documents/joint-strategic-needs-assessment
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing/health-and-wellbeing-key-documents/joint-strategic-needs-assessment


Pa
ge

7

Safeguarding is defined as:
‘Protecting an adult’s right to live in safety, free from abuse 

and neglect.’ 2
Adult safeguarding is preventing and responding to concerns 
of abuse, exploitation or neglect of any adult who is 
experiencing or at risk of harm and who is in need of care and 
support, regardless of whether they are receiving statutory 
social care support services. 
Safeguarding is everybody’s responsibility. This means that 
everyone, including members of the public should understand 
how to raise a concern if they are worried about an adult with 
care and support needs who is experiencing or at risk of abuse 
or neglect. 

Professionals working within the BSAB partnership and anyone 
caring for or supporting an adult at risk have additional 
responsibilities, linked to their duty of care and professional 
standards to identify a safeguarding risk and respond 
effectively.  As part of our commitment to embedding the 
making safeguarding personal principles, BSAB partners are 
committed to ensure interventions are shaped by the adult at 
risk, so they are: 

 Safe and able to protect themselves from abuse and 
neglect.

 Treated fairly, with dignity and respect. 
 Protected when they need to be.

2 Care and Support Statutory Guidance 14.7 - https://www.gov.uk/guidance/care-
and-support-statutory-guidance/safeguarding

 Easily able to get the support, protection and services 
they need. 

Adults in need of safeguarding may be:
 An older person.
 A person with a physical disability, a learning disability 

or a sensory impairment.
 Someone with mental health needs, including dementia 

or a personality disorder.
 A person with a long-term health condition.
 Someone who misuses substances or alcohol to the 

extent that it affects their ability to manage day-to-day 
living.

There are various reasons why someone may become at risk 
of abuse or neglect, e.g. those experiencing mental or physical 
health needs may be intentional or unintentionally maltreated. 
Likewise, research by the Home Office identified those who 
become socially isolated, perhaps because of deteriorating 
health conditions or bereavement, find themselves more 
vulnerable to opportunistic criminal activity; the consequence 
of which has been demonstrated to impact directly on their 
longer-term physical health, including shortening their life. 

87



Pa
ge

8

We know, reported within the JNSA, that the highest number of 
referrals into Adults Social Care are from secondary health care 
teams, and that there has been a shift over a number of years 
toward providing adult social care services within the home 
setting. This is in line with improvements to delivering choice 
and control to individuals, but as delivering services in the home 
may compound feeling of isolation, care plans must address 
any safeguarding risk through preventative measures (s2 Care 
Act 2014). In Barnet, isolation is more prominent in elderly 
women who live alone, particularly for those in areas of higher 
affluence and lower population density.  Through work with the 
Community Safety Partnership we identified that this might be 
a core group to seek to protect and we supported the voluntary 
sector agencies to come together to bid for MOPAC funding to 
offer additional services.  Whilst the application was not 
successful, we have as a BSAB recognised the need so 
included actions within our work plan for 2019-20 to take this 
forward.

88



Pa
ge

9

How many safeguarding concerns did we receive? 
1,709 Safeguarding Adult concerns were raised in Barnet in 2018/19, an increase of 34 (2%) compared to the total recorded in 
2017/18 (1,675). 

Figure 1: Number of Safeguarding Concerns referred to Barnet Adult Social Care

612
565

764

1215

1043

1675 1709

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

Number of safeguarding concerns received 2012/13 - 2018/19  

89



Pa
ge

10

Who raised the safeguarding concerns? 
The highest number of safeguarding concerns were raised from those categorised as ‘Agency’ (28% of the total concerns raised) -
this is lower than the previous year when they made up for 45% of the total concerns. The term ‘Agency’ includes organisations 
such as the NHS, Police and Council adult social care. Of the Agency concerns, the majority were raised by the Police (17% of the 
502 concerns raised by ‘Agency’). Other NHS raised the second highest number of concerns (12% of the total concerns raised).  
 

Source of Referral Total %

Agency 472 28%

Anonymous 21 1%

Friend or Relative 118 7%

Other 425 25%

Paid Care Staff 374 22%

Self-Referral 27 2%

Not Known 272 16%

Grand Total 1709 100%

   

90



Pa
ge

11

How many concerns progressed to an enquiry? 

Not all concerns indicate a risk of abuse to an adult. They can instead indicate a need for increased care and support or other help. 
However, where abuse is suspected, concerns are referred for an enquiry according to the London multi-agency safeguarding 
procedures. 

Of the 1,709 safeguarding concerns in 2018/19, 722 proceeded to an enquiry. This represents a concern-to-enquiry conversion rate 
of 42%. This compares with a conversion rate of 40% in 2017/18 and of 28% in 2016/17.

The following table provides a breakdown of the number of concerns and enquiries over the last few years. 

Year

No. of 
safeguarding 
concerns

No. of 
safeguarding 
enquiries

% of concern to enquiry 
conversion

No. of concerns which did 
not progress 

2012/13 612 424 69% 188
2013/14 565 406 72% 159
2014/15 764 487 64% 277
2015/16 1215 481 40% 734
2016/17 1043 295 28% 748
2017/18 1675 667 40% 1008
2018/19 1709 722 42% 987

91



Pa
ge

12

Concerns which did 
not progress to 

Enquiry, 987

Concerns which went 
to Enquiry - Other, 

107

Concerns which went 
to S42 Enquiry, 615

Progression of Safeguarding Concerns 2018-19

Individuals involved in safeguarding concerns 
The 1,709 concerns related to 1,457 individuals. There were 252 clients who had more than one safeguarding referral. These 
cases are now routinely audited to ensure that decision making is in line with statutory guidance and the audit report is provided to 
BSAB’s Performance and Quality Assurance Group every six months. 

92



Pa
ge

13

Safeguarding concerns by gender 
61% of those individuals referred were female and 39% referred were male. This is a similar pattern to last year and is largely in 
line with the most recently available national statistics. In Barnet women were very slightly over-represented by approximately three 
percent. The gender details were missing from 13 records, after checking these records on Mosaic it was found that 4 of the 
records did have a gender recorded on Mosaic. It should be noted that some people may prefer not to have their gender recorded.

Individuals Involved in Safeguarding Concerns by gender

 
Female 
No.

Male 
No. Total

Female 
%

Male 
%

Barnet 2017-
18 902 577 1479 61% 39%
Barnet 2018-
19 881 567 1448* 61% 39%

Individuals Involved in Section 42 enquiries by gender
Barnet 2017-
18 334 224 558 60% 40%
Barnet 2018-
19 301 201 502** 60% 40%

*Please note: recorded entries for gender were missing in 13 cases in 2018-19, it was found on Mosaic that 4 of the clients were 
female so these have been added to the total. 
**Please note: there were four missing genders for S42 enquiries.

93



Pa
ge

14

Safeguarding concerns by age 
2018-19 saw an increase in safeguarding concerns of 34 (1709) compared to 2017/18 (1675). Of these, the biggest increase of 
individuals was in the 18-64s age band which saw a 16% increase. The breakdown by age is shown in the table below. 

Total Individuals involved in Safeguarding Concerns by age band

 
18-
64

65-
74

75-
84 85-94 95+

Not 
Known Total

Barnet 2017-18 419 196 332 423 107 2 1479

Barnet 2018-19 484 186 311 381 83 12 1457
2017/18 - 
2018/19 
Difference (no.) 65 -10 -21 -42 -24 10 -22
2017/18 - 
2018/19 
Difference (%) 16% -5% -6% -10%

-
22% 500% -1%

Proportion of individuals involved in Safeguarding Concerns by age band

 
18-
64

65-
74

75-
84 85-94 95+

Not 
Known Total

Barnet 2018-19 33% 13% 21% 26% 6% 1% 100%
*National 2018-
19 40% 12% 20% 22% 4% 1% 100%

* *National statistic Source: Safeguarding Adults Collection (SAC), Annual Report, England 2017-18 (publication 20.11.18) 

Like last year, there is still a greater proportion of those aged 85-94 years old, who were the subject of a safeguarding concern in 
Barnet (26%), than the national average in 2018-19 (22%). This is also the case for 75-84-year olds (21%) with the national 

94



Pa
ge

15

average being 20%. This difference between local and national data is reflective of the older age profile of Barnet residents, and is 
marginally higher than the proportion of people using adult social care services in the Borough (including the number of care 
homes). 

Safeguarding concerns by ethnic origin 
61% of the people subject to a safeguarding concern in Barnet were described as ‘White’, lower than the national average of 79%. 
The number of people described as Asian/Asian British (10%) was higher than the national average of 3% as was those described 
as being Black/African/Carib/British (6%) with the national average 3%. The rise in concerns relating to residents from Asian and 
British Asian backgrounds suggests that improved links between the BSAB and our voluntary, community and faith sector 
representatives is starting to have an impact. We will continue to closely monitor this indicator and further develop these links 
during the year ahead as it is crucial that we raise awareness of the different types of risks our diverse communities may face to 
better enable adults to protect themselves and seek support when they are at risk or have experienced abuse or neglect. 

Total individuals Involved in Safeguarding Concerns by ethnic origin

 A
si

an
 / 

A
si

an
 

B
rit

is
h

B
la

ck
 / 

A
fri

ca
n 

/ 
C

ar
ib

 / 
B

rit
is

h

M
ix

ed
 / 

M
ul

tip
le

O
th

er

R
ef

us
ed

N
ot

 K
no

w
n 

W
hi

te

G
ra

nd
 T

ot
al

Barnet 2017-18 116 101 26 59 0 125 1052 1479

Barnet 2018-19 148 88 30 61 0 234* 896 1457

Proportion of individuals involved in Safeguarding Concerns by ethnic origin

Barnet 2018-19 10% 6% 2% 4% 0% 16% 61% 100%
*National 2018-19 3% 3% 1% 1% 1% 12% 79% 100%

* *National statistic Source: Safeguarding Adults Collection (SAC), Annual Report, England 2017-18 (publication 20.11.18)
*Not Known = 234 (211 Not Known, 23 Not Stated)

95



Pa
ge

16

Please note: Examples of the ‘Other’ ethic category may include the following groups: Afghan, Arab Other, Egyptian, 
Filipino, Iranian, Iraqi, Japanese, Korean, Kurdish, Latin/ South/ Central American, Any Other Ethnic Group, Lebanese, 
Libyan, Malay, Any Other Ethnic, Moroccan, Polynesian, Thai, Vietnamese, Yemeni.

Safeguarding concerns by primary support reason 
The table below provides a breakdown of the safeguarding concerns by reported primary care need. As in previous years, most 
concerns we receive relate to adults with needs for physical support. 

There was a slight increase in the number of safeguarding concerns where working age adults with needs for mental health support 
was the primary support reason. There was a reduction in physical support as the primary support reason (-150). 

Total Individuals involved in safeguarding concerns by Primary Support Reason 

 

Learning 
Disability 
Support

Mental 
Health 
Support 

No 
Support 
Reason

Not 
Known

Physical 
Support

Sensory 
Support

Social 
Support

Support 
with 
Memory 
and 
Cognition

Grand 
Total

Barnet 
2017-18 158 229 0 80 823 39 53 97 1479
Barnet 
2018-19 135 231 0 268 673 33 52 65 1457
2017/18 - 
2018/19 
Difference 
(no.) -23 2 0 188 -150 -6 -1 -32 -22

Proportion of individuals involved in safeguarding concerns by Primary Support Reason
Barnet 
2018-19 9% 16% 0% 18% 46% 2% 4% 4% 100%
*National 
2017-18 10% 11% 18% 9% 37% 1% 5% 8% 100%

96



Pa
ge

17

*National statistic Source: Safeguarding Adults Collection (SAC), Annual Report, England 2017-18 (publication 20.11.18)
There were no records where the PSR was listed as No Support Reason, 268 of the records were recorded as Not Known. 

Concerns by type of abuse 
The largest number of safeguarding concerns by abuse type in 2018/19 was ‘neglect and acts of omission’ (29% of the total). 
‘Physical’ abuse was the second highest at 17%. ‘Financial or material’ abuse represented 12% of concerns and ‘self-neglect’ 9% 
of all safeguarding concerns. 14% of all Safeguarding Concerns had no type of abuse recorded. 
 

97



Pa
ge

18

Safeguarding concerns by source of risk (person or organisation) 
The below graphic illustrates the relationship between the organisation or person who was alleged to have caused the harm and 
the adult, over a three-year period.  There was a small increase in the proportion attributed to ‘Unknown to individual/unrecorded to 
30% in 2018/19 from 27% in 2017/18.  The ‘Known to individual’ risk also saw an increase to 42% in 2018/19 from 36% in 2017/18.  
There was a decrease in the proportion attributable to ‘Service Provider’ to 28% in 2018/19 from 37% in 2017/18. 

Percentage of All Safeguarding Concerns by Source of Risk, 2016/17 – 2018-19

401

619

475

481

604

722

161

452

512

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Service Provider Known to individual Unknown to individual / unrecorded

Percentage of all Safeguarding Concerns by Source of Risk

List of Risk Sources 
The following table shows the classifications required for the Safeguarding Adults Collection (SAC) and which sub-classes could be 
included in each. 

Service provider  Public sector Service Provider 
Private sector Service Provider 
Voluntary (voluntary /community organisations, charities etc.) 
Service Provider 

Other – Known to individual Relative / family / carer 
Individual known but not related 

98



Pa
ge

19

Primary health care 
Secondary health care 
Community health care 
Social care staff – care management and assessment Police 
Regulator Other public sector Other private sector Other 
voluntary 

Other – Unknown to individual Individual – unknown / stranger 
Primary health care Secondary health care 
Community health care 
Social care staff – care management and assessment Police 
Regulator Other public sector Other private sector Other 
voluntary  

99



Pa
ge

20

Number & Percentage of Concluded Section 42 enquiries by Source of Risk, 2018/19 
The proportions attributable to agencies change at the enquiry stage, as illustrated in the Pie chart below. For example, 49% of 
concluded Section 42 enquiries were attributable to service providers (28% at the Concern stage).

100



Pa
ge

21

The person who caused the alleged abuse
Family/Friends were the largest group reported (29%), followed by Paid/Care staff (28%). The table below shows the total number 
of concerns and who the person who allegedly caused the harm.

Relationship to 
Adult at Risk

Number % of 
Total

Agency 24 1%
Friend or Relative 495 29%
Not Known 176 10%
Other 209 12%
Paid/Care Staff 486 28%
Unrecorded 319 19%
Total 1709 100%

In Social Work practice there are 2 types of carers.  One is called informal carer and the other formal carer they are defined as:

1) Informal carer is deemed to be a person providing care and support to an adult without a financial incentive/pay. This can be a 
relative, friend, neighbour, and/or volunteer etc. 

2) Formal carer is deemed to be a person procured to provide a service to the adult to meet their care and support needs with a 
financial incentive/pay. 
When agency term is used it means formal carers- we tend to procure care staff from agencies. 
Under formal carers there are types of care staff:
Agency – a CQC registered care agency 
Paid -  could be paid via direct payments (adult social care provides funding) or paid privately by the adult.
Care staff could be the same as agency or care staff within a residential/nursing home or day care. 

101



Pa
ge

22

Where did the abuse occur? 
In 2018/19, 51% of cases subject to a concluded Section 42 enquiry took place in the adult at risk’s own home. 37% of cases took 
place in a residential and nursing home setting (25% + 12% in the table below).  

Location of Abuse
LB Barnet 
average 
2017/18

LB 
Barnet 
average 
2018/19

England 
average 
17/18

Care Home - Nursing 19% 25% 11%
Care Home - 
Residential 18% 12% 24%

Hospital - Acute 3% 1% 3%

Hospital - Community 0% 1% 1%
Hospital - Mental 
Health 0% 0% 2%
In a community 
service 17% 4% 4%
In the community 
(excluding community 
services) 3% 4% 4%

Other 7% 2% 7%

Own Home 32% 51% 43%

Unknown/unrecorded 1% 0% 0%

Total 100% 100% 100%

The most recently available national benchmark information from the Safeguarding Adults, England, 2017-18 [PAS] shows that a 
lower proportion of cases nationally occurred in the home (43%).  It also shows that a higher proportion of cases nationally 
occurred in Residential care homes. 

102



Pa
ge

23

  

There was a higher proportion of enquires relating to nursing homes in Barnet (25%), compared to the 2018/19 England average 
(11%) for concluded Section 42 enquiries.  As with the higher proportion of concerns in residential care, it is necessary to take into 
account the high number of residential and nursing home beds in Barnet by comparison to National and statistical neighbours. 
Barnet has 1104 beds in 19 nursing homes, placing Barnet within the top 5 highest population receiving this level of support within 
London. It should also be noted that ambiguity within regulations had led CQC to identify variations in practice even within their own 
inspection teams, meaning that staff within these facilities will refer even minor medication errors as safeguarding concerns to the 
local authority. Whilst this may seem alarming when reported within data, it affords practitioners from across the multi-agency 
partners opportunities to review each case carefully and also gather a picture over time so that, even if concerns are not 

103



Pa
ge

24

substantiated as neglect / abuse, patterns or practice concerns can be quickly identified and referred to the Quality Assurance 
teams working in the CCG, Local Authority and CQC to ensure staff get the right support to improve practice. 

There was also a higher proportion of enquiries relating to people in their own home in Barnet, compared to the 2018/19 England 
average for concluded Section 42 enquiries.  This could be because of the older age profile of Barnet residents and people are 
being supported to stay in their own homes for longer, as well as living for longer.

104



Pa
ge

25

Proportion of Concluded Section 42 Enquiries by Risk Outcomes 

2017/18 2018/19

Concluded Section 42s - Risk Assessment Outcomes

Barnet 
2017/18 
Number

Barnet 
2017/18 
Percentage

Barnet 
2018/19 
Number

Barnet 2018/19 
Percentage

National 
2017/18 
Percentage

Enquiry ceased at individual's request and no action taken 29 7% 19 6% 4%

No risk identified and action taken 22 5% 10 3% 7%

No risk identified and no action taken 41 10% 15 5% 8%

Assessment inconclusive and action taken 23 5% 17 6% 6%

Assessment inconclusive and no action taken 9 2% 5 2% 3%

Risk identified and action taken 286 68% 227 77% 69%

Risk identified and no action taken 9 2% 2 1% 4%

Unknown 3 1% 0 0% 0%

Grand Total 422 100% 295 100% 100%

105



Pa
ge

26

*Please note: in 66 instances where the outcome was not determined, these were removed from the Concluded Section 42 eligible 
total for Barnet in 2018/19, for equivalent comparison with national statistics.

106



Pa
ge

27
107



Pa
ge

28

In 2018/19, there were a higher proportion of Concluded Section 42 enquiries for which the risk was reduced where the source of 
risk was a service provider (72%) than the national average (61%).  

Barnet had a higher proportion of enquiries for risk reduced (66%) than the 2017/18 national average (64%) where the source of 
risk was ‘Other – known to the individual’.

Barnet had a higher proportion of enquiries for risk reduced (73%) than the 2017/18 national average (61%) where the source of 
risk was ‘Other – Unknown to the individual’.

The number of cases where the risk was identified and action taken has increased by 9% from 2017/18.  

Within the data report there is still a few key indicators recorded as ‘not known’ indicating continued issues with data recording. It is 
understood that during 2017/18 there were significant challenges with a new IT system (Mosaic) being introduced. The refresh of 
Mosaic processes included mandatory training for all staff which highlighted the key changes; this included two forms for adult 
assessment that had been merged together and focussed on strength based practice, mandatory reporting information, keeping the 
person at the centre of practice.  It is expected therefore that this, together with the introduction of a Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Hub to coordinate all safeguarding enquiries relating to adults at risk, should see improvements to the recording of key data. Safe, 
effective recording leads to more informed, better decision making both at an operational and strategic level and it is for this reason 
that BSAB will continue closely monitor key indicators during the coming year to ensure our picture of risk is as robust as it needs to 
be. 

108



Pa
ge

29

Mental Capacity & Advocacy for Concluded Section 42 Enquiries 
Where people lack capacity to understand the risks, we ensure they have an advocate to support them.

Age band 18-64 65-74 75-84 85-94 95+ Not 
Known

Grand 
Total

Barnet 2016-17: Advocate/Family/Friend 35 0 5 10 0 0 50

Barnet 2016-17: Assessed as lacking Capacity 55 5 10 1 0 0 80
2016/17

Barnet 2016-17: Percentage Advocacy 64% 0% 50% 100% n/a n/a 63%

Barnet 2017-18: Advocate/Family/Friend 31 2 11 17 0 0 61

Barnet 2017-18: Assessed as lacking Capacity 37 2 11 17 2 0 692017/18

Barnet 2017-18: Percentage Advocacy 76% 100% 91% 94% 0% n/a 88%

Barnet 2018-19: Advocate/Family/Friend 26 7 39 45 10 0 127

Barnet 2018-19: Assessed as lacking Capacity 40 12 44 47 10 0 153
2018/19

Barnet 2018-19: Percentage Advocacy 62% 58% 89% 96% 100% n/a 82%

*National 2017-18: Percentage Advocacy 74% 75% 80% 83% 80% n/a 79%

*National statistic Source: Safeguarding Adults, England, 2017-18 [PAS] Publication date: 20 Nov 2018 

109



Pa
ge

30

In 82% of recorded cases where a Person lacked capacity to make decisions about the risks, the adult was supported by an 
advocate, family member or friend.  This compares favourably to the national average recorded in 2017/18 of 79%. However, it 
should be noted that it is a statutory duty (under s68 Care Act 2014) to ensure that anyone who may have substantial difficulty 
being involved in a safeguarding process should be supported by either friends/ family or an independent advocate. During this 
period BSAB asked and received assurances that cases where it appeared adults did not have this support and may have required 
it were audited. We received a report confirming that these were recording issues rather than a failure to meet the statutory duty. 
Our Performance and Quality Assurance sub-group will continue to monitor this data carefully and request regular audit reports so 
that the good practice occurring for those aged 95+ is replicated for all age groups.  

Expressed Desired Outcome 
Making Safeguarding Personal is an approach to develop an outcomes focus to safeguarding work, and a range of responses to 
support people to improve or resolve their circumstances. It is about engaging with people about the outcomes they want at the 
beginning and middle of working with them, and then ascertaining the extent to which those outcomes were realised at the end.

MSP seeks to achieve:
 A personalised approach that enables safeguarding to be done with, not to, people
 Practice that focuses on achieving meaningful improvement to people's circumstances rather than just on ‘investigation' and 

‘conclusion'
 An approach that utilises social work skills rather than just ‘putting people through a process'
 An approach that enables practitioners, families, teams and SABs to know what difference has been made

Practitioners are encouraged to see and treat people as experts in their own lives and work alongside them to identify the best way 
to safeguard them from harm.  The outcomes framework collects information about the extent to which this shift has a positive 
impact on people’s lives.  

The information below identifies what happened where we have asked people about their desired outcomes and whether they were 
achieved. Where they have indicated that it was partially achieved, this indicates that some things were met but not others.

In 118 concluded Section 42 enquiries, the individual was asked what they wanted to happen (i.e. to express a desired outcome).  
72 adults expressed an outcome and 46 people were asked but did not express an outcome.  In a further 51 cases the individual 
was not asked and in 31 cases this information was recorded as ‘not known’.  There were 94 cases where the answer to this 
question was ‘blank’.  Whilst these figures are low, compared to the number of enquiries undertaken, it should be noted that it is not 

110



Pa
ge

31

currently a national mandatory reporting requirement. However, BSAB have committed to embedding the ‘making safeguarding 
personal’ approach across the partnership as a key priority. Improvements to the way in which this will be recorded, following a 
redesign of the recording process on Mosaic making this a mandatory field from April 2019, should ensure that over the coming 
year we are able to demonstrate improved practice which better reflects the impact of safeguarding enquiries and how these meet 
adults’ desired outcomes.  This will be reflected in the data for 2019/20. The chart below shows outcomes achieved broken down 
by age band.

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP): Desired Outcome Achieved

111



Pa
ge

32

In 57 of the 72 cases for which a desired outcome was expressed, the outcome was either fully or partially achieved (79%).  

112



Pa
ge

33

Social care provision in Barnet

Barnet had 166 social care providers registered with the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) at the time of writing this report. 69 
of which primarily provide domiciliary care, 76 care home 
services without nursing, 19 with nursing and 15 supported 
living providers. There are approximately 1009 nursing home 
beds, and 1423 residential care beds.

At the time of writing 1 organisation were rated as Outstanding 
by CQC, 120 as Good, 24 as Requires Improvement and 1 
service was rated as inadequate. This is a significant 
improvement from last year, when 33 organisations were rated 
as Requires Improvement and 2 as inadequate.

The BSAB’s Performance and Quality Assurance sub-group 
will continue to carefully scrutinise both quantitative and 
qualitative data reports to ensure that staff from across private 
and public bodies are working effectively together to identify 
and respond to safeguarding concerns. 

The Care Quality Team has worked closely with over 70 care 
homes and supported living providers as well as over 25 
homecare providers across Barnet to support the improvement 
of quality and assure that residents are safe and receiving a 
quality service. An on-going relationship with providers is 
managed through the work of the Team’s Contract Monitoring 
Officers and Reviewing Officers who regularly visit these 
services and lead on the provider concerns process to ensure 
successful outcomes are achieved. 

The Team also includes Quality in Care Advisors who work with 
providers to support best practice.  Work with individual homes 
may result from a referral, a poor inspection report, or a request 
for support from the care home manager. 

The team has supported several underperforming care homes 
to improve their practice, reduce the number of safeguarding 
concerns and improve the quality of life for people in these 
homes. 

The Team also offers a variety of engagement events for 
providers, including practice forums and workshops, and is 
currently delivering ‘Significant 7’ training to care homes across 
Barnet. This training helps care workers to spot the earliest 
signs of deterioration and respond to them quicker, reducing 
escalation of issues and improving quality of care for residents. 
The 7 areas the training focusses on are identifying signs of 
confusion, mood, pain, hydration, skin, breathing and personal 
care.

113



Pa
ge

34

Safeguarding Adults Board progress against 
business plan priorities 2018-21
The BSAB has come to the end of the first year of the 2018-21 
Strategy with the 2018-19 Business Plan ending in March 2019. 
The Independent Chair and Chairs of the BSAB sub-groups 
reviewed the business plan, what had been completed, and 
those actions that the BSAB would continue to focus on in 
2019-20.

Priority 1: Establish practice across the partnership 
agencies which reflect the Making Safeguarding Personal 
(MSP) principles

We identified within our strategic plan that we would need to 
evaluate local knowledge of, and compliance with, MSP and 
Care Act safeguarding duties.  We carried out an audit of adult 
safeguarding training to seek assurance that providers are 
compliant with the Mental Capacity Act (MCA), Deprivation of 
Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) and Care Act duties, including new 
types of abuse as well as assurance that training materials are 
compliant with statutory duties and minimum standards for 
training.

In December 2018 Barnet hosted a North Central London 
(NCL) Challenge and Support audit event (Barnet, Enfield, 
Haringey, Islington and Camden). 37 agencies, including 7 
from the Voluntary, Faith and Charity sector completed a self-
evaluation of their organisation’s ability to recognise and 
respond effectively to safeguarding risks. Findings were 
collated and reported to a joint challenge event across the NCL 

region which bought together all statutory partners to look at 
the challenges partners face and what good practice could be 
shared to deal with these issues as.  We also held discussions 
on what could be done internally as well as in partnership to 
improve our safeguarding response, considering what the 
obstacles are and the measures we need to consider.  The key 
themes from NCL partners with regards to support they would 
like to receive from the BSABs were:
1. Sharing information and resources – multi-agency website, 
easily accessible resources for staff, learning from SARs, 
training resources
2. Joint working – training initiatives, alignment across 5 
boroughs
3. Supporting partners in the delivery of MSP
4. SARs – identifying gaps, more opportunities for learning

In addition, to this work the Performance and Quality 
Assurance (PQA) group received case audit evaluations and 
reports from agencies on:  Mental Capacity Act, repeat 
safeguarding referrals, modern slavery, homelessness strategy 
and the police safeguarding reporting (MERLIN).

The BSAB partners now routinely record and report data each 
quarter in line with the National Safeguarding Adults Collection 
and MSP outcomes framework for scrutiny by the PQA and 
onward reporting to the BSAB. This ensures that data and 
qualitative reports reflect feedback provided by adults who 
have been supported in line duties under s42 Care Act. This 
will continue to be reported quarterly to BSAB and it is expected 
that more partners will be able to contribute to this data as MSP 
becomes more firmly embedded across partner agencies. In 

114



Pa
ge

35

2018-19 we saw that for 90% of service users who expressed 
desired outcomes as part of the safeguarding process, those 
outcomes were fully or partially met. The most recently 
available national statistics for Desired MSP Outcomes, fully or 
partially achieved statistics (SAC 2016/17) show a national 
average of 95% for this measure. However, it should be noted 
that the data is from 2 different sources and is voluntary, and 
voluntarily-submitted statistics are prone to variance. 

Each quarter, designated safeguarding leads from across 
BSAB’s partner agencies come together to review 
safeguarding practice in Barnet. In response to members 
feedback we have themed meetings to ensure that discussions 
are focused on a specific topic or concern. Each meeting also 
includes opportunities for designated leads to hear directly from 
adults at risk through case studies relevant to the topic under 
discussion and/or questions posed by our service user forum.  

The themes covered this year were:
 Safeguarding and carers 

Mike Rich, Chief Executive for Barnet Carers Centre 
attended the BSAB to talk about the issues they face.  
Some of the main issues facing carers are isolation, 
financial issues and a growing risk of homelessness, 
especially for people living in privately rented 
accommodation.  The BSAB agreed to look at how we 
support practitioners who work with carers as well as 
how we assure processes.  

 Safeguarding and Quality in care and support services
Steven McCarthy from Action on Elder Abuse came to 
the BSAB to present the outcomes of the ‘Patchwork of 
Practice’ report and the implications for Barnet 

residents.  From this the BSAB looked to develop an 
evidence base to improve outcomes for older adults, and 
identifying abuse where adults had minimal contact with 
services.  The PQA has started to monitor data on 
concerns of over 85-year olds as a proportion of all 
concerns and going forward into next year will also be 
looking at data on the category of abuse and where the 
abuse occurred. 

 Mental health 
The BSAB considered a report on mechanisms to 
respond to concerns raised by the police ensuring that 
responses are sufficiently robust to manage risks.  We 
also considered recommendations to support those with 
severe or enduring mental illness.  It was agreed that 
this forms part of the Adult MASH process and the BSAB 
would look to them to take this forward.  

 Fire safety for adults at risk living in community settings
This theme relates to a current SAR being carried out by 
the BSAB, the findings of which will be reported next 
year.

These meetings have not only informed practice change within 
the agencies attending the meetings, but have been used to 
inform National and Regional Safeguarding Boards work plans 
and the work of the Community Safety Partnership, BSCP and 
Health and Wellbeing Board in Barnet.   This remains a key 
priority for our workplan in 2019-20, with focus on ensuring that 
our core values are better explained to our communities and 
MSP is understood by all those who may encounter adults at 
risk so that, in protecting them, we are careful too to respect 
fundamental human rights.   

115



Pa
ge

36

Barnet Council have led the development of the Adult MASH to 
develop an approach to improve multiagency risk assessments 
across the partnership to improve the outcomes of adults at 
risk. Further information can be found later (reference). The 
approach also reflected on the key priorities of the BSAB and 
the council coordinated the involvement of safeguarding leads 
across the partnership in the adult MASH. 

Priority 2: Adults at Risk are heard, understood and 
respected. Their experiences and views shape continuous 
improvement. 

This priority seeks assurance that the Board partners are 
involving:
 Adults at risk
 Carers
 Family and friends following consultation with the adult
 Advocate/appropriate adults
 Referrer
Appropriately in the process of safeguarding the adult at risk 
through monitoring appropriate adult provision for vulnerable 
adults in custody and reviewing the contract monitoring reports 
for advocacy services.

In addition, new report development has enabled an improved 
level of analysis and review of concluded section 42 enquiries 
by abuse type, source, location and outcome. Furthermore, 
newly-designed reports have enabled more precise monitoring 
and audit of safeguarding adults’ concerns which have resulted 
in no further action, which are continuously reviewed.
The pathways to multi-agency risk panels were reviewed.

We carried out a dip sample audit of repeat safeguarding 
referrals to ensure that the adults were being appropriately 
safeguarded.  The findings showed that the cases reviewed 
were from different agencies and related to different events and 
only one went on to a Section 42 enquiry.  This now forms part 
of the BSAB work programme and the data is presented 
quarterly within the Integrated Monitoring Report as well as a 
dip sample audit being carried out every 6 months and reported 
back to the PQA.

We carried out awareness raising with service users on 
community safety, independent travel, dealing with hate crime 
on transport, financial abuse and how to stay safe on-line.

The provider concerns process is a partnership between Barnet 
Council, the CCG, CQC and the Care Providers, which 
supports and works with Care Providers to make continuous 
improvements and maintain high quality care. 

Priority 3: Advance equality of opportunity, including 
access to justice for ‘adults at risk’

The BSAB partners have worked with all our partners to secure 
assurance that any redesign in service delivery has at its heart 
a commitment to safeguarding adults from abuse and neglect. 

We received regular reports from the Metropolitan Police 
regarding the move from a Borough based service to the new 
BCU and from the CCG on the changes that the implementation 
of North London’s Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership [‘STP’]. The Local Authority also provided regular 
updates on the delivery of a new Adult Multi-Agency 

116



Pa
ge

37

Safeguarding Hub operational re-design. The Adult Multi 
Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) starts operating in June 
2019. Barnet CCG and health providers are working within the 
MASH model, which includes police review of safeguarding 
concerns. These reports provided assurance that the shared 
responsibility to safeguarding was well understood by our key 
statutory partners and that frontline practitioners from across 
partner agencies understood and were sufficiently resources to 
comply with legal obligations. 

In addition, BSAB continues to develop strong links with other 
partnerships, for example we receive bi-annual reports on the 
Domestic Violence Strategy against Girls and Women action 
plan. 

One of the tasks for this year was to engage with GP’s and 
primary health care services to increase uptake of Identification 
and Referral to Improve Safety (IRIS) programme.  The BSAB 
worked with the Community Safety Partnership, Public Health 
and CCG and the IRIS project team to gain funding to continue 
the project into year 2. This will ensure that GPs are better 
informed, offering a safe place to someone who may be at risk 
of domestic abuse and providing guidance on how they can 
protect themselves and their families.  The IRIS programme for 
GPs has increased access to legal support for people 
experiencing domestic abuse. 

The Local Authority commission advocates who can support 
adults and ensure that their voice is heard throughout the 
safeguarding process or other engagement with services, 
such as Court Processes, if they lack capacity to understand 

and participate in them.

Sub-groups of the Barnet BSAB

Performance and Quality Assurance sub-group (PQA) 
Chaired by Barnet Clinical Commissioning Group

Effective quality assurance drives continuous improvement and 
is recognised as a critical function of the BSAB. The group 
provides assurance that local safeguarding arrangements are 
in place and work effectively, and risks and concerns are 
escalated to the Independent Chair and BSAB.

The PQA recently reviewed the information it received and has 
been working with partners to establish an integrated 
performance report which includes data from health partners, 
social care, commissioners, Public Health, and the 
Metropolitan Police Service. This information is driving a 
targeted evidence based approach to assurance with a focus 
on:

 Understanding whether there are local inequalities in the 
outcomes for adults at risk.

 The protection of vulnerable adults in police custody.
 Assurance of the monitoring of conditions for those 

under deprivation of liberty safeguards.
 Understanding the source of safeguarding concerns and 

conversion to full enquiries.
 Assurance on the decision making for safeguarding 

concerns where no further action is taken.
 Assurance on the delivery of safeguarding training 

across statutory partners

117



Pa
ge

38

 Reviewing the numbers of self-neglect and hoarding 
cases considered by the multi-agency Risk Panel and 
reviewing the themes from provider concerns

 Monitoring against the BSAB Operational Plan

Case Review sub-group (CRG) Chaired by Barnet 
Council’s Community Safety Team

The CRG was established to undertake the statutory duties set 
out under Section 44 of the Care Act, namely to determine 
whether to commission a review into a case if an adult at risk in 
Barnet has suffered serious harm or died as a result of abuse 
or neglect, and there is concern that partner agencies could 
have worked more effectively to protect the adult. 

The CRG also monitors the recommendations and action plans 
of partners where a review has taken place, and co-ordinates 
multi-agency responses. The group considers all referrals to 
assess the opportunity for learning and reports quarterly to the 
BSAB with recommendations on the commissioning of reviews.

Safeguarding Adults Service User Forum (SASUF) Chaired 
by Barnet Council’s Adults and Health directorate

Our service user forum is a well-established group that meets 
quarterly. Over the last year the members have supported the 
BSAB in the development of its strategy and developed easy 
read materials to assist more of our community understand the 
work that we do and why we do it. 

Some of our board partners have attended the forum to present 
safeguarding case studies and information on what 
safeguarding is and how to report it. 

The Police, Mencap, Age UK and CyberCare have facilitated 
workshops on community safety, Hate Crime reporting, 
financial scams and how to stay safe on-line.
If you would like to become involved with the Service User 
Forum please email emma.coles@barnet.gov.uk

Photograph from the Service User Forum

Access to Justice sub-group Chaired by Barnet Mencap

This group has been focusing on securing effective Appropriate 
Adult provision and ensuring Disability Hate Crime has an 
effective response locally.  

The Barnet Appropriate Adult Service has been successfully 
run by volunteers for several years but there was a need to 
increase the number of volunteers.  During 2018 a local 
recruitment campaign was run and the response means that 

118

mailto:emma.coles@barnet.gov.uk


Pa
ge

39

there are now enough volunteer appropriate adults across the 
borough.  

During the year the group has worked with CyberCare to 
develop a training session on how to stay safe on-line for 
service users; reviewed how hate crime reporting sites are 
working, developed a monitoring report to measure against 
objectives; reviewed the use of the autism screening tool by the 
police and how best to support the pathway for adults with 
autism spectrum disorder and began to build a baseline of 
understanding around modern slavery.

The Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards 2005 (MCAC/DoLS)
The Mental Capacity Act 2005 (the MCA) was implemented in 
2007. Its purpose is to make sure that people are empowered 
to make their own decisions whenever they can. A person 
cannot be said to lack capacity until all possible steps to help 
them take their own decision have been taken without success. 
If a person does lack capacity to make an informed decision 
about their care and support the MCA gives protection for them 
whilst ensuring they are at the centre of any decision-making 
process. Any wishes or feelings they either express now or 
have made known in the past must be considered by those 
acting on their behalf. All decisions taken will need to be in the 
person’s best interests. Five principles underpin the MCA: 

 A person must be assumed to have capacity unless it is 
established that he or she lacks capacity.

 A person is not to be treated as unable to make a 
decision unless all practicable steps to help them to do 
so have been taken without success.

 A person is not to be treated as unable to make a 
decision merely because he or she makes an unwise 
decision.

 An act done or decision made, under this Act for or on 
behalf of a person who lacks capacity must be done, or 
made, in his or her best interests.

Partners have agreed that the focus for the BSAB from 2018-
21 will be on evidencing awareness of capacity and consent 
and the Mental Capacity Act duties in partner agencies.  Where 
adults in need of care and support receive protections and any 
support offered actively considers human rights, including 
ensuring the least restrictive options have been fully explored 
as part of any protective plan.       

There is a specialist team in the local authority which provides 
expert consultation for adult social care staff and partners in 
Mental Capacity and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards.  They 
also deliver training to partner agencies which is well attended. 
Our partners continue to support their staff in the understanding 
and practical implementation of the legislation and statutory 
guidance. CLCH are an example of this good practice, setting 
up Safeguarding/MCA surgeries on inpatient bedded units for 
staff to access advice and support following staff consultation.
The CLCH safeguarding team now attend weekly rounds on the 
wards at Edgware Community and Finchley Memorial hospital. 
This promotes discussion around mental capacity and 
identifying any patient who may require a DoLS. Staff are then 
supported to undertake a mental capacity assessment and 
complete the DoLS form 1.  Additional support has been 
provided on the newly opened Adams Ward and continue to do 
so on a weekly basis.

119



Pa
ge

40

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards DoLS
The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards provide protection for 
vulnerable people who are accommodated in hospitals or care 
homes who cannot make their own decision about the care or 
treatment they need, and who are unable to leave because of 
concerns about their safety. This might be due to a dementia or 
learning disability for example.

The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) aims to protect 
such people so any decisions made about their care and 
treatment, are made in their best interests. The care home or 
hospital must notify the local authority when these 
circumstances exist. The local authority then must make sure 
this is the most proportionate and least restrictive way of caring 
for the person, by talking to the person and everyone involved 
including family members. If this is agreed, the local authority 
authorises the arrangements and this can be for a period of up 
to twelve months. This is known as an authorised deprivation 
of liberty.

As the London Borough of Barnet has a large number of care 
homes, we received one of the highest number of applications 
for DoLS in London. In 2018/19, we received 1141 applications 
for a Deprivation of Liberty Safeguard.  
To date 343 applications have been granted, of which 296 have 
conditions. 373 applications were not granted and 92 were 
withdrawn. The remaining number of applications are still being 
processed.

It is important to note that since the last report, the number of 

granted applications received 2017/18 have increased to 594 
and the number of not granted cases also increased to 480. Not 
granted can mean that a standard authorisation is not granted. 
Examples: if a person has capacity, the person falls under the 
Mental Health Act 1983, a person has moved at the time of 
authorisation, the LPA objects. 

In some circumstances, the deprivation of liberty is authorised 
as in the persons best interest, but the adult is objecting to their 
placement.  In these situations, their case is taken to the Court 
of Protection, for them to decide what is in the adult’s best 
interests.  We have had 5 such cases in court at the time of 
writing this report the same as last year. 

What our partners have contributed.

Barnet Council 

The council has duties and responsibilities as the lead for 
safeguarding outlined in the Care Act, and is a lead partner in 
multiagency safeguarding arrangements. 

Between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019, Adult Social Care: 
• Dealt with 52,146 contacts
• Carried out approximately 3,000 new statutory 

care and support assessments 
• Carried out approximately 4,000 reviews;
• Investigated 1,675 safeguarding concerns and 

carried out 667 safeguarding enquiries;
• Provided 35,000 items of equipment 
• Provided approximately 1,740 new telecare 

installations

120



Pa
ge

41

• Supported 1000 adults in residential care; 419 
adults in nursing care; and 420 adults in 
supported living

• Provided enablement to 990 people and 
homecare to 1860 people.

• Supported over 1,000 adults through direct 
payments

•  Provided direct support to 650 family carers.
Provided social work support to approximately 7000 people

Adult Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)

The establishment of the Adults MASH supports the delivery of 
the ‘Safeguarding adults at risk of abuse and neglect’ and is 
one of the Adults and Safeguarding Committee’s priorities 
within the Corporate Plan 2019-2024. 

The Adults MASH aims to deliver a better coordinated, 
responsive multiagency risk assessment approach to 
safeguarding vulnerable adults in Barnet. The quality and 
speed of decision making of safeguarding concerns will be 
enhanced through better information sharing between agencies 
with a focus on better outcomes for adults at risk 
A multiagency project group met regularly to oversee the key 
activities and to improve partnership working. This was chaired 
by the Local Authority with representation from key partners 
(police; Family Services; BEHMT; Safeguarding leads from 
health agencies). Staff will have new operating guidance; local 
information sharing protocol and training sessions with key 
partners and updated performance measures to track activity 
and quality of the MASH interventions. 

The Adult MASH will be in place from June 2019 with a co-
location of Adult social care with the police and Family Services 
when services have moved to the new council officers. Other 
co-located members of the MASH include the voluntary sector 
(e.g. SOLACE; Mencap) with arrangements in place working 
with GP and Nurse safeguarding leads. 

London Metropolitan Police Service: Barnet
 
The Metropolitan Police Service is key member of the 
partnership, working in collaboration towards a shared vision 
and joint objectives, improving outcomes for vulnerable 
members of our community.
 
In November 2018, the police areas of Barnet, Brent and 
Harrow merged to form the North West Basic Command Unit 
(NW BCU) operating a single command structure across the 
three boroughs. There are 12 BCU’s across London, bringing 
together other boroughs to improve service delivery and reduce 
inefficiencies. Within the BCU command structure, there are 
five portfolios – Emergency response, Neighbourhoods, 
Safeguarding, Local Investigations and Head Quarters.

In February 2019, the NW BCU Safeguarding model launched, 
embedding former Child Protection (CAIT) and serious sexual 
offence (Sapphire) teams firmly within NW Safeguarding 
operating model.
The key principle behind this change is, bringing together, 
complex investigations with volume crime to improve outcomes 
and the victim experience. Frequently, domestic abuse 
investigations involving children, or sexual offences, were 
being investigated by two, sometimes three different 

121

http://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/corporate_plan_-_barnet_2024.pdf


Pa
ge

42

investigators. This was inefficient and demoralising for both the 
victim and investigators.

Co-locating investigation teams means one investigating officer 
will lead the investigation throughout its life cycle, without 
diminishing the availability of skilled staff to support other 
crimes and investigation, improving outcomes and satisfaction 
for vulnerable victims.

The NW Safeguarding portfolio has thematic areas, with a Lead 
Responsible Officer for each area. This ensures there is a 
subject matter expert for each theme, responsible for training 
and staff development, supporting partner meetings, quality 
assurance and audit for the NW BCU. 

In respect of adult safeguarding, the MPS has been a key 
partner in the work in setting up the Barnet Adult MASH service 
that compliments the children’s service and will create better 
outcomes for vulnerable people in our communities.

During the BCU transition, three borough based Missing 
Persons Units (MPU) were consolidated into a single larger 
unit, bringing together a range of expertise, located at Colindale 
Police Station, to ensure they are close at hand to offer support 
and advice to control room staff and initial response officers. 
Since go-live in February the overall outstanding cases halved 
due to the new workflow processes and highly skilled officers 
working closely together.

The MPS continues to train all frontline and custody staff to 
better recognise people who are ill or in crisis; signposting them 
to help through the Adult Coming to Notice (ACN) referral 

process, and in custody, calling upon Medical Practitioners and 
Custody Nurses.

Plans for 2019-20
Policing is a lead safeguarding partner, working alongside the 
Local Authority and Clinical Commissioning Group. Police 
officers and staff have a distinct position in the community, 
through their role as first responders at high harm incidents. 
This understanding will improve the multi-agency response to 
adults with care and support needs at risk of abuse or neglect.

During 2019-20 the police will look to focus on the Access to 
Justice

 How to achieve best evidence from adults at risk- 
looking at what steps can be taken to support those with 
cognitive impairments recognise when they are being 
exploited/ abused and gather evidence 

 How we use the multi-agency approach and powers 
across partnership to better support those at risk of 
cuckooing (e.g. use of conditions attached to closure 
notices to prevent anyone other than a resident living or 
using a premises), interfamilial financial abuse

 Role of the safeguarding officers
 Involvement of community support officers/ victim 

support to support adults at risk who are victims of crime. 

122



Pa
ge

43

NHS Barnet – Clinical Commissioning Group

Barnet CCG provides regular safeguarding training to GPs and 
Primary Care Nurses, including advanced sessions for GP 
safeguarding leads. The Barnet 2018 Annual General Meeting 
(AGM) was attended by 150 Barnet GPs and Nurses and 
featured training on the Mental Capacity Act (MCA) and 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS), delivered for GPs by 
a Barnet Local Authority Solicitor.
Safeguarding training was developed and delivered for the 
Continuing Healthcare Team, including training in the Mental 
Capacity Act and the Liberty Protection Safeguards.

Barnet CCG participates in multi-agency panels:
 The Channel Panel which manages cases referred via 

Prevent. 
 The Risk Panel, which supports and oversees work with 

hoarding and self-neglect.
 The Domestic Abuse Multi Agency Risk Assessment 

Conference (MARAC) and the Community Safety 
MARAC.

Barnet CCG contributes to, and is a participant in, 
Safeguarding Adult Reviews and Domestic Homicide Reviews 
and supports and oversees primary care participation in these 
reviews and ongoing monitoring and implementation of action 
plans. 
Barnet CCG safeguarding leads and Continuing Healthcare 
team work closely with the local authority and the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) to safeguard individuals in Barnet nursing 
homes and support the homes to improve the quality of their 
nursing care. 

Barnet CCG is involved in safeguarding enquiries undertaken 
for any Barnet patients in receipt of funded nursing care or 
continuing healthcare. 

Safeguarding adults work planned for 2019 - 20
The delivery of the second year of the IRIS programme will be 
supported and monitored by Barnet CCG along with public 
health and local authority partners.
Barnet CCG will continue to collaborate with other CCGs in 
North Central London to improve consistency with 
safeguarding assurance frameworks and policies. 

Central London Community Healthcare (CLCH) 

CLCH provides services across eleven London Boroughs and the 
county of Hertfordshire.
It has been a positive but challenging year for the CLCH adult 
safeguarding team due to the increasing volume and 
complexity of cases of concern our staff are identifying and 
ensuring they are supported to work in partnership with service 
users and their families to promote independence and positive 
outcomes.
There has been an increase in frontline teams contacting the 
CLCH safeguarding team for safeguarding advice and support 
and reporting appropriately their concerns. We are capturing 
more case stories in our reporting to demonstrate how our 
teams respond appropriately to abusive situations.  
We continue to build relationships across our services and with 
partner agencies to support robust multiagency decision 
making and challenge if needed. 

123



Pa
ge

44

There has been continued investment in adult safeguarding 
within the Trust and we have successfully recruited a dedicated 
MCA Lead who will support the Trust in implementing the new 
MCA/ Liberty Protection Safeguards 
We have undertaken audit into the application of the MCA and 
use of the Pressure Ulcer Protocol (PUP) by our Barnet staff. 
We can evidence that staff have improved knowledge of 
applying the MCA and using the PUP to support decision 
making regarding raising safeguarding alerts in relation to 
pressure ulcers.  

Our second Annual Safeguarding Conference was well 
received. We had a broad range of speakers covering both 
Children’s and Adults Safeguarding and the feedback was 
positive from staff. The conference covered topics such as self-
harm in schools, the Mental Capacity Act 2005, Prevent, and 
Hoarding and Self-neglect, Homelessness, Modern Slavery, a 
legal update and the CLCH Safeguarding Champions 
programme. 

Out training compliance in Barnet at the end of March 2019 was 
above 90% (including Workshop to Raise Awareness of 
Prevent –WRAP training). We have reviewed our training to 
include level 3 MCA and adult safeguarding to comply with the 
RCN Intercollegiate Guidance 2018. 

We are using the 7-minute learning to embed learning across 
our teams and in training.

We continue to support the Barnet SAB in developing and 
achieving the Board priorities

Royal Free London NHS Trust Foundation (RFLHT)

We continue to have a committed safeguarding team who have 
developed and maintain good working relationships with 
partner agencies to support effective safeguarding for Barnet 
residents who use our services. We worked with the national 
crime agency to support a victim of modern slavery.

We completed the NHS Improvement standard data 
benchmarking survey for people with learning disabilities. We 
are using the gap analysis to identify areas where we need to 
provide better support for patients and their families.

We have continued to develop our easy read resources for 
patients with a learning disability.
The Safeguarding Team has developed a ‘Quick Guide’ to 
support clinicians regarding implementation of the MCA and 
assessing capacity.

A full level 3 safeguarding adult training programme has been 
developed and implemented.  Our training compliance for 
PREVENT training reached the 85% requirement.

We have introduced the safeguarding link role to clinical areas 
across the Trust. The safeguarding link staff are supported by 
the safeguarding team to take safeguarding awareness back 
into their clinical areas. This is done in the form of 7-minute 
briefings on a whole range of topics.

We have contributed to safeguarding adult reviews and 
Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) and have 
responded to any actions and implemented the learning.

124



Pa
ge

45

We launched a Trust wide campaign to support staff who are 
affected by domestic abuse. The campaign raised the profile of 
the independent domestic and sexual abuse advisors 
(IDSVA’s) who are based in the hospital. The Trust employs 
over 10,000 staff. The message of the campaign was to ensure 
staff where aware that the IDSVA’s are available to advise our 
staff as well as our patients. It also highlighted to managers the 
policies in place to support staff affected by domestic abuse.
Plans for 2019-20

 Trust wide policy for staff working with patients 
with a learning disability

 Increase our use of accessible information for 
patients who use our services

 Further develop the role and number of the 
safeguarding link staff

 Further development of the safeguarding level 3 
training and use of 7-minute briefings to reach 
frontline staff

 Prepare for the introduction and implementation 
of the Liberty protection safeguards across the 
Trust.

The London Fire Brigade (LFB) 

The LFB has been working to identify vulnerable adults 
especially those at risk of neglect, hoarding and fire. We are 
actively highlighting these individuals to the local authority for 
assistance. 
There has been localised learning disability (LD) awareness 
training to increase awareness of mental health issues and how 

to work with people with learning disabilities in collaboration 
with Barnet Mencap.

The Barnet LFB exceeded the 10% target of time spent on 
Community Safety by 3.3%, undertaking 3277 Home Safety 
Visits (HFSV) in the borough, 109 more visits than target. LFB 
has been working hard to identify high priority/at risk people for 
HFSV’S achieving 82.2% for these, 2.2% more than target.
There has been an active involvement from all staff in the 
borough to engage with vulnerable people through involvement 
in the Community Safety MARAC, Domestic Violence MARAC 
and the Hoarding and Neglect Panel.

We have been promoting the outcomes of the review that is 
underway related to fire to raise the awareness of fire safety in 
the home amongst Barnet key workers.

We have carried out vulnerable adult’s presentations to the 
local authority housing provider and their contractors.

Plans for 2019-20:
 Continued collaboration with the Domestic Violence and 

Community Safety MARAC’s. 
 Looking to progress work further through the hoarding 

and neglect panel and trying to promote tackling the root 
causes of Hoarding.

 Continued work to identify vulnerable people across the 
borough to give them tailored home fire safety advice.

125



Pa
ge

46

Barnet, Enfield and Haringey Mental Health NHS Trust 
(BEHMHT)

Barnet, Enfield and Haringey Mental Health NHS Trust remains 
committed to safeguarding all our service users, their families 
and carers.  We recognise that effective safeguarding is a 
shared responsibility which relies on strong partnership and 
multi-agency working.   Over the last 12 months we have 
continued to ensure a robust and proactive commitment to 
working in partnership with the Safeguarding Adult Board. 
Our aim is to ensure there is a whole organisational approach 
to safeguarding patients and service users, their families and 
carers.  To do this, we have developed an Integrated 
Safeguarding Committee (ISC).  The ISC is chaired by the 
Executive Director of Nursing, Quality and Governance and 
provides strategic leadership and oversight.  The work of the 
ISC is informed by our Safeguarding Strategy and overarching 
work plan.  The ISC meets each quarter and is accountable to 
the Trust Quality and Safety Committee.  The Executive 
Director of Nursing, Quality and Governance is the Executive 
lead for safeguarding and provides bi-monthly safeguarding 
updates to the Trust Quality and Safety Committee. In addition, 
an annual safeguarding report is provided to the Trust Board. 
Safeguarding is a standing item for each on the Borough 
Clinical Governance meetings.

Safeguarding adults work undertaken and key achievements in 
2018 -19

 Implementation of our three-year integrated 
safeguarding strategy has been successful and we have 
seen continued improvements in our response to the 
safeguarding agenda.

 We have developed supportive information leaflets 
regarding domestic abuse for our service users.

 We have improved and updated our safeguarding 
intranet site so that staff can easily access information 
they need to safeguard patients and service users.

 We have developed the role of our safeguarding 
champions across the trust.

 We continue to ensure appropriate staff receive level 3 
safeguarding adult training

 We have consistently maintained Level 1 and 2 
safeguarding adult training at the trust target of 90% 

 We have worked to increase staff awareness of under 
reported categories of abuse such as modern slavery 
and human trafficking.

 We have reviewed and updated our domestic abuse 
policy.

 In conjunction with the Pathfinder Project we have set 
up a domestic abuse steering group and continue to 
champion the need for Independent Domestic Violence 
Advisors in mental health settings

 We have improved the way we triangulate information 
relating to safeguarding alerts, complaints and incident 
reports.

 We continue to raise the profile of the “Think Family” 
approach across all services

 We have raised the profile of safeguarding across our 
adult community health services.

 We have worked to ensure consistent practice which 
reflect the principles of “Making Safeguarding Personal”

 The development and embedding of our Safeguarding 

126



Pa
ge

47

Strategy has ensured that safeguarding is “everyone’s 
business”.

Safeguarding adults work planned for 2019 - 20
 Develop an integrated safeguarding supervision 

strategy
 Ensure we are responsive to the growing agenda of 

Human Trafficking
 Promote and develop material to ensure awareness of 

sexual safety on mental health ward

London Ambulance Service (LAS)

The LAS no longer attend the Barnet BSAB but instead 
monitored through the Brent BSAB but their staff are still invited 
to attend multi-agency safeguarding events and training.  They 
will also be a virtual partner in the Adult Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH).

Our priorities in 2018-19
 Secure sufficient resources to develop safeguarding in 

the Trust
 Monitor trust’s safeguarding processes and compliance
 Support Trust with safeguarding practice & requirements
 Assure Trust processes by driving consistency & 

improvement in safeguarding practice
 Forge effective relationships internally and externally

What we did

 Secured funding to increase safeguarding team by 
100% to enable a dedicated safeguarding specialist 
in each area of Trust.

 7% increase in safeguarding concerns and referrals 
to 23,471.

 Introduced 24/7 safeguarding telephone line for staff
 >90% safeguarding training Compliance
 Introduced Quarterly Safeguarding Newsletter
 Produced new safeguarding pocketbook for staff
 Introduced Chaperone and Supervision policies
 Held Safeguarding Conference for over 170 staff and 

partners
 Introduced Learning Disability and Mental Capacity 

Act Strategies.

Our priorities for 2019-20
 To be outstanding in quality standards and drive 

continual improvements
 Excellent Governance and Assurance of Trusts 

safeguarding processes and compliance
 Development of the Safeguarding Team
 Successful delivery of safeguarding training plan, local 

education and supervision
 Safeguarding innovation and review current practices to 

identify cost savings.
 Ensure integration of 111 & IUC
 Forge effective relationships internally and externally to 

safeguarding children and adults

In conclusion the LAS is committed to safeguarding and has 
invested in the safeguarding team to ensure trust is compliant 

127



Pa
ge

48

with standards and provides the highest level of care for its 
most vulnerable patients.

Healthwatch

We helped identify ways to further engage with residents on 
safeguarding, contributing to the BSAB’s discussions in this 
area. We highlighted there was sometimes low levels of 
awareness, particularly around the ‘newer’ forms of 
safeguarding abuse 
We started a review of safeguarding through our Enter and 
View visits to residential care homes. 
We helped the BSAB hear the experiences and views of local 
people on safeguarding. 

Probation - London Community Rehabilitation Company

The London CRC is firmly committed to safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of adults.
The London CRC Safeguarding Policy and Procedures were 
updated in November 2017 in light of the implementation of 
REACTA, our new case recording and assessment tool which 
was rolled out organisation wide in 2018. The Policy and 
Procedures were reviewed further in 2018 following the 
publication of Working Together 2018. These documents are 
available through our intranet (Sharepoint) under our 
‘Interventions and Partnerships’ page which is accessible to all 
staff.
Contracts & Partnerships Managers have prioritised 
engagement with local Safeguarding Adult Boards over the 
past year and have therefore strengthened our visibility across 

the partnership. This is evident in our engagement with local 
multi agency audits and attendance at Board level.
The progress of implementing robust safeguarding procedures 
across the business is also evident through our performance 
framework which is monitored at the Public Protection Board.

Priorities for 2019-20:
Our focus for 2019 is on improving the quality of this work and 
providing further interventions to support in the reintegration 
and rehabilitation of our Service User population.

Hate Crime Reporting Project

Key achievements 2018-19:
Four Disability Hate Crime Training Workshops for 57 disabled 
people resulting in an increase in disability hate crime reports 
to the Police via third party reporting centres;
Two Disability Hate Crime Awareness Raising Workshops for 
15 family carers of disabled people;
Disability hate crime training for frontline care and support staff 
working with people with physical and learning disabilities, 
autism and mental health conditions (four workshops with 77 
staff members);
Recording 11 incidents involving disability hate crime, 
supporting victims to report hate crime to the Police and 
signposting or referring them to appropriate support 
organisations.

Progress against BSAB priorities:
Carrying out research with disabled people’s groups to identify 
why disability hate crimes are not being reported to the Police 

128



Pa
ge

49

and preparing recommendations for the BSAB and Community 
Safety Team.
Working with partner organisations to ensure that all incidents 
involving disability hate crime are being recognised by staff and 
logged accurately whether they are investigated and resolved 
by the organisation, reported to the Police and/or raised as 
safeguarding concerns.

Safeguarding adults work planned 2019-20:
Develop pathways with the Adult MASH so that victims of hate 
crime can access support and where necessary safeguarding 
concerns are raised.
Work with the BSAB to ensure that safeguarding and hate 
crime data is being accurately logged and reported to the 
correct authorities. Develop pathways for referrals and 
signposting to appropriate support organisations.

Training

A core function of the BSAB is to ‘promote multi-agency 
training and consider any specialist training that may be 
required’. To achieve this, we work closely with our partners, 
particularly the three statutory partners, to gain assurance on 
the level and type of safeguarding training offered to staff from 
across partner agencies. Each quarter Barnet Council and the 
CCG report to the PQA sub-group on compliance figures for 
safeguarding training. 

In addition, the Council’s Workforce Development Service 
provides a comprehensive range of multiagency training to 

both internal staff across the Delivery unit and External staff 
from provider/partner agencies.  The Principal Social Work 
role also plays an important role in ensuring that the 
programme improves the quality of safeguarding practice 
across the partnership. 

The programme includes a variety of short courses, briefings 
and forums delivered within the London Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Adults policy and procedures framework, based 
on levels 1-3 and in line with The National Competence 
Framework for Safeguarding Adults. 

There is on line learning for the following two learning modules 
which are accessible to all, following a request we send them a 
link to register: 

Safeguarding Adults - Level 1
Safeguarding Adults - Level 2

Following findings from regional and national safeguarding 
adults reviews and local audits the Council commissioned a 
course to support staff work with ‘Difficult, Dangerous and 
Evasive People’. Safeguarding practitioners also have access 
to all the multi-agency training delivered by BSCP and Barnet 
Council’s Family Services e.g.: Coercive Control, Domestic 
Abuse etc. 

Within the current financial climate, BSAB must be mindful of 
the significant impact on resource (both financial and in terms 
of staff time) especially for those working within the voluntary, 
community and faith sectors. To this end, we have sought to 
utilise any training / workshops/ webinars and training material 
provided by professional bodies such as:  Research in Practice 

129



Pa
ge

50

for Adults (RiPfA), Skills for Care, Social Care Institute for 
Excellence (SCIE) and disseminate this to all our partners 
through established networks.

Within the Council, a formal training programme is 
supplemented by a range of practice forums which provide 
reflective learning opportunities for staff to discuss real cases 
and learn from good practice examples.  Practice forums are 
quarterly and focus on safeguarding, Mental Capacity and the 
role and function of Best Interest Assessors under the 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards. 

Safeguarding Adults Training has also been provided to staff 
from across 25 external providers. Barnet Council reviewed its 
programme during 2017/18 to ensure courses were MSP 
complaint with an emphasis on the development of skills in 
person-centred, outcomes focused working that enables 
people to reach resolution or recovery. The Council has also 
revised and relaunched their supervision policy and provided 
training for managers in effective supervision and reflective 
practice to enable staff to work confidently/competently in 
difficult situations. 

208/19 Safeguarding Courses

Course Duration No. attended 

SA Policy and Procedures for 
Providers

1 Day 3

SA- Policy and Procedures (Internal) 1 Day 45

Prevent Training 1/2 Day 63

Human Trafficking and modern slavery 1/2 Day 16

SA- Conducting enquiries (internal) 2 Days 51

Cuckooing 1/2 Day 8

SA- Managing and chairing 
safeguarding meetings

1 Day 8

Working with Difficult, Dangerous and 
Evasive People 

1 Day 16

Safeguarding Practice Forum 2.5hrs 29

SA- Chairing Meetings 1 day 8

130



Pa
ge

51

Safeguarding Adults Board Attendance 2018/19

Safeguarding Adults Board
BSAB Partners June-18 Sept-19 Dec-19 Mar-19
Barnet CCG    
Local Authority – Adult Social Care    
Local Authority – Public Health
Local Authority – Community Safety
Local Authority – Westminster 
London Metropolitan Police: Barnet    
Barnet Enfield and Haringey NHS 
Mental Health Trust    

Care Quality Commission    
CLCH    
General practitioners    
Healthwatch Barnet    
London Ambulance service    
London fire Brigade    
Probation    
Royal Free London NHS Foundation 
Trust    

The Barnet Group    
Voluntary sector    
Department for Work and Pensions

131



Pa
ge

52

USEFUL CONTACTS

Questions about this report

If you have any questions about this report, please 
contact Emma Coles, Safeguarding Adults Board 
Business Manager

Tel:  020 8359 5737

Email:   emma.coles@barnet.gov.uk 

Safeguarding training

If you would like to access safeguarding training for 
organisations in Barnet, please contact the Barnet 
Adults and Health Workforce Development Team.

Tel:        020 8359 6398

Email:   asc.training@barnet.gov.uk 

What should I do if I think someone is being 
abused?

Everybody can help adults to live free from harm and abuse. 
You play an important part in preventing and identifying neglect 
and abuse.

If you or someone you know is being harmed in any way by 
another person, please do not ignore it. 

Any information you provide to us will be treated in the strictest 
confidence.

Contact Adult MASH 

•Tel: 020 8359 5000 (9am- 5pm, Mon to Fri), or 
020 8359 2000 (out of hours)

•Email: socialcaredirect@barnet.gov.uk  

Or the police on 101. 

If the danger is immediate, 
always call the police on 999.

132

mailto:asc.training@barnet.gov.uk


London Borough of Barnet
Adults and Safeguarding 

Committee Work Programme- 
June 2019-20

Contact: Abigail Lewis abigail.lewis@barnet.gov.uk 020 8359 4369

133

A
G

E
N

D
A

 IT
E

M
 13

mailto:abigail.lewis@barnet.gov.uk


Title of Report Overview of decision Report Of (officer) Issue Type (Non 
key/Key/Urgent)

19th September 2019

Community Support 
update 

Report requested by Committee Executive Director Adults and Health
Director, Adult Social Care 

Non key

Performance Report Q1 
2019/20

Regular performance report Head of Programmes, Performance and 
Risk Growth and Corporate Services.

Non-key
 

FAB Framework 
implementation Update

Annual report to committee Assistant Director Greenspaces and 
Leisure 

Non-key

Update report New 
Delivery Model for Care 
Home and Day Care 
Services 

This report provides an update on the 
implementation of the Committee’s 
decision, progress made in the 
transfer and next steps.

Assistant Director for Adults Joint 
Commissioning

Non Key
 

MASH update Information on MASH implementation Executive Director Adults & Health 
Assistant Director, Intake & Assessment

Non Key

Safeguarding Board 
Annual Report

The Committee to receive an update 
on how the agencies in Barnet whose 
services impact adults in need of care 
and support have cooperated to keep 
the vulnerable safe and promote their 
wellbeing. 

Safeguarding Adults Business Manager Non Key
 

25th November 2019

134



Title of Report Overview of decision Report Of (officer) Issue Type (Non 
key/Key/Urgent)

Annual Complaints 
Report

A report on information contained 
within the statutory Annual 
Complaints Report 2018/19. 

Assistant Director Communities and 
Performance (interim) Adults and Health

Non-Key
 

Performance Report Q2 
2019/20

Regular performance report Head of Programmes, Performance and 
Risk Growth and Corporate Services

Non-key
 

Business Planning 
Report

The report will set out the medium
term financial strategy proposals for
recommendation to Policy and
Resources Committee.

Assistant Director Communities and 
Performance Adults and Health and
Head of Transformation Adults and 
Health 

Key
 

Update on integrated 
care System

The Committee to note the report. Executive Director, Adults and Health TBC

16th March 2020

Performance Report Q3 
2019/20

Regular performance report Head of Programmes, Performance and 
Risk Growth and Corporate Services 

Non-key
 

Healthwatch Barnet 
Enter and View 
Summary Report

A report on the findings of the Enter 
and View visits carried out by 
Healthwatch Barnet during 2017/18 
and what the local authority has done 
as a result.

Assistant Director Communities and 
Performance (interim) Adults and Health
HealthWatch manager 

Non-key
 

Item(s) to be allocated

135



Title of Report Overview of decision Report Of (officer) Issue Type (Non 
key/Key/Urgent)

Market Position 
Statement

Assistant Director for Adults Joint 
Commissioning 

Key
 

Update on the 
implementation of direct 
payments 

Executive Director, Adults and Health TBC

136


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	7 Community Support update
	8 Q1 2019/20 Delivery Plan Performance Report
	9 Fit and Active Barnet (FAB) Framework Update
	10 Update report New Delivery Model for Care Home and Day Care Services
	11 Adults Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) Update
	12 Barnet Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-19
	Appendix A - SAB Annual Report 2018-19

	13 Committee Forward Work Programme

